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UNITED STATLS DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

............................... e
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
-againsi-
H Cr, 16 (05
DUNSTON FGOTE, et al.,
Defendants.
_______________________________ ¥

MEMORANDUM OF LAW RESPONDING TO DEFENDANTS® MOTION

The Gevormment respectfully submiis this Memormdum in Opposition to the pre-
{rial moticen filed by the defendants to suppress “ull evidence derived as a result of the Angust 4,
2010 wirctap authorization and the aulhorizations thereafter, on the pround that the application{s)
failed to || comply with ihe ‘other investigative precedures’ requirement,” {Br, 1), For (he
reasons sel forth below, the defendants” motion fo suppress is merilless and should be denied
without a hearing,

BACKGROUND

A, August 4, 2010 Affidavit

On August 4, 2010, the Government made an application to United States Disiricl
Judge Cathy Seibel for authorization to infercept wire communications occurring vver two
cellular teiephonr;:ls utilized by Dunston Foote ("Target Cellphones 1 and 273, pursuunt to Title
18, United States Code, Scetton 2518, Tn its application, the Government sdentitied its
expectation that the wiretap infercepls would reveal: (i) the nature, exient and methods of

cperation of the known and unknown targets’ narcotics-trafiicking business; (ii) the identitics of




Case 7:11-cr-00016-CS Document 224  Filed 11/30/11 Page 3 of 24

the known and unknown tarpets, thelr accomplices, atders and ahetiors, co-consphiators and
parlicipants it their illepal activities; {iif) the time and place of fhe receipl and distribution of
contraband and moncy involved in those activiiies; (Iv) the locations of items used in furtherance
of those activifies; (v} the existence and locations of records welating to narcotics trafticking; (vi)
the location and source of resources used to finance their illegal aclivities; and (v} the location
and disposilion of the proceeds from thosc activities, (8/4/10 Alcivar Redacted Aff. 9 14
fattached as Exhibit A)Y). In support of its applicalion, the Government submitted a 47-page
alfidavit of Drug LEnforcement Administration (“DEA™) Task Force Qificer (“TFO™) Walter
Alcivar.

In hisabfidavit, TFO Alcivay detailed information that had been pathered about
the navcotics trallicking activity of Footc and his co-consphrators and set forth information
constituting probable cause that V'oofe and his co-conspirators werc: {I) involved in the
disiribulion of multi-kilogram quantities of marijuana and cocaine; and (it) using Target
Cellphones I and 2 in connection with their narcotics trafficking, (i '] 16-45).

In a 31-paragraph section of the affidavil al pages 27-41, 1O Alcivar sei {oth
the basis tor his conclusion that normal investigative procedurcs would be inadequale or unlikely
to achieve the objectives of the investigation, and that clectronic surveillance would be
necessary. 110 Aleivar specifically discussed: (1) the use und limitation of physical surveilfance,
{id. 1§ 57-63); (it} the possibility of arrcsting Foole and his co-canspirators, (/. 1§ 64-66); (iii}

the usc and limitation of confidential informants, (id 1§ 67-73); (iv) the pussibilily of using

* The delendants do not arguc that there was insufficient probable cause to believe
thai Foote and his co-conspirators were using Tarpet Cellphones 1 and 2 to cagagc in narcotics
trafficking.
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undercover officers, (id. 9% 74-75) {v) the use and limitations of pen repister and ielephone toll
records, (i § 70}, {vi) the possibility of interviewing and subpocnaing witnesses, (i 9] 77-78);
and {vit} the possibilily of executing search warrants, {id § 79-81).

The application was pranfed by the Court on Augusl 4, 2010,
B. Septemiber 3, 2010 Affidavit

On September 3, 2610, TFO Alcivar sought austhorization for the continued
interception of communications on Targel Cellphone 2 and authorization for {he original
interception of communicalions un a new cellular tclephene -- Target Celiphone 3. (9/3/10
Alcivar Redacled AfT. 7 2 (attached as Lixhibit B)),

In an approximately | 6-page, 32-paragraph section of the affidavit al puges 35-50,
TFO Alcivar set forth the basis for his conclusion that normal investigative procedures would be
inadequate or unlikely o achieve the objectives of the investigation, and that electronic
surveillance would be necessary. Specifically, TFO Aleivar discussed information learncd
during the initial period of interception and the need {o intercept comnumications on Target
Cellphones 2 andd 3, stafing, among other things, {hal: (i} the interceptions had nol yel identified
all the members of the 'oote organivation, (ke locations of all of the stash houses, the sourecs of
financing and the locations ol proceeds from narcotics trafficking, (7d § 59; (il) pole camera
surveillance did notl reveal the type or quantity of narcotics at the Foote and Seabring Houses, (id
% 66); (it} in person meetings of Foole and his co-conspirators had occurred indoors, {id 5 68);
(iv} the arvest of Foote and/or co-comspirators identified from elecironic surveillance could
jeopardize law enforcement’s abilily to determine thoir suppliers, (7d ¥ 73) (v) the C1 had been

marginalived because officers leamed that the Cl had been engaging in unauthorized, narcotics
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related conununications with Foote, {Exhibit C, § 78 and (vi} while there was information that
would likely allow the DEA {o oblain search warrants for the Foote and Scabring Houscs,
cxceuting search warranls al those locations would alert the Foote organivation {o the exislence
of the investigation prior to the DEA being ablc to determing the Tull scope of the organization’s
activities, {Jd §85).

The application was granted by the Courl on September 3, 2010,
C. October 1, 200 Affidavit

On October &, 20H0, TFQ Alcivar sought authorization Tor the renewed
interception of commmunications on Targed Cellphones 1, 2 and 3 and avthotization for the
criginal interception of communications on a new cclivkar {elephone -- Target Cellphone 4.
(10/1780 Alcivar Redacted AfE. % 2 (attached ag Exhibit DY),

In an approximately 20-page, 34-paragraph scction of the affidavit af pages 55-74,
TFO Adcivar set forth the basis for his conclusion that sormal invesiigative procedures would he
madequate or unlikely 1o achieve the objectives of the investigation, and that clectronie
surveillance would be necessary, Specifically, TRFQ Alcivar discussed information learned
during the two peried of interception and the need (o milercept communications on Target
Cellphones 1-4, stating, among other things, (hai: (1) the intereeptions had wot vet identificd all
the memibers of the Foote organization, the locations of all of the stash houses, the zources of
financing and the locations of proceeds from narcotics trallicking, (id % 80); (i) pole comery
surveillance did not veveal the type or quantity of narcotics that officers helieved were being

carried in large packages into and out of the Foole and Seabring Houses, (id, § 86); (iii) Vootc

: The copy of Agent Alcivar’s September 3, 2010 Affidavit produced in discovery
redacted paragraph 78,
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and his co-conspirators were concemned about and discussing the likelihood that law cnforcement
officers were survetlling thent in person imeetings of l'oote and his co-conspirators had ocewrred
indoors, {id f 89(a}-0); (iv) the arrest of a co-conspirator, as ovcurred in the case of one
individual, would lead to the destruction of evidence and the cessation of oporations al a
particular location, (74 ¥ 94); {I*u} the CT continued to be marginalized becanse officers leamed
that the Cl had cngaged in unawthorized, narcotics refated communications with Foote, (Exhibit
L, 4 101); and (vi) while there was information that would likely allow the DEA to ebtain scarch
warranis for two new additional locations, execuling search warrants at thesc locations would
alert the Foute {.:rrganjzatinn to the existence of the investigation prior to the ]}Eﬁ.a being able to
determine the full scope of the organization’s aclivities. (J4 4% 108-69),

The application was granied by the Court on October 1, 2010.
I Ocetober 29, 2010 Affidavit

On Oclober 29, 2010, Speecial Agent Mtk Kadan sought authorization (or the
continued mierception of communications on Target Celiphones 1-4, {(10426/10 Kadan Redactod
ATT | 2 {attached as Hxchibit F)),

In an approximalely 22-pape, 37-paragraph section of the affidavil at pages 76-97,
Agent Kadan set forth the basis for his conchusion thal normal investigative procedures would be
madequate or uniikely lo achieve the obiectives of the investigation, and thul electronic
surveilfance would be necessary. Spocifically, Agent Kadan discussed information learned
during the prior periods of intoreeption, stating, among other things, that: (i) the intorecplions had

not yei identified all the members of the Foote organization, the locations of all of the stash

3 The copy of Agent Aleivar’s October 1, 2010 Affidavit produced in discovery
redacled paragraph 101,
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houses, the sources of financing and the locations of proceeds from narcotics trafticking, in part
hecause the Foote organization made deliveries inside and near buildings where physical
surveitlanec is challenging and used rental cars to evade surveillance, (3 8 1263 (1) while pole
camera surveillance had identified addilional members of the Foote organization, pole camera '
surveillance did not revea! the lype or quantily of nareotics that officers believed were being
carricd in large packages into and out of the Foote and Scabring Houscs, (id %% 133-34); (it
Foole and his co-conspirators were still very mueh concerned about and discussing the likelihood
{hat law enforcement eﬂic;ars were surveitling them, (3d 7 135{a)-{e)); {iv) the recent arrcst of an
individual in the same duplex as one of the co-conspirators had led to Foote removing
incriminating evidence from one of his phone, {id 9§ 140% (v} the Cl continued to be
marginalized because officers learned that the Cl had cngaged in unauthorized, narcotics related
communicalions with Foote, (Exhibit G, § 148)"; (vi) although an undercover officer (“LiC™) had
purchased murijuana from two strect tovel dealers in the Foote organization, there was no
expectation that the UC would be able (o meet with and purchase marijuana trom Foule's
supplier, (10/2%/10 Kadan Redacied A §] 150-53); and {vii) whilc {here wus information.that
woukd lik{:l}; allow the DFEA lo obtain search warrants for {ive lovations, exeeuting scarch
watrants ai those locations would alert the Foote organizalion to the cxistence of the
investigation prior to the DIA being able to determine the full scope of the organization’s
aclivilies. {/d. %Y 157-58).

‘The application was granted by the Courd on Gotober 29, 2010,

¢ The copy of Agent Kadan's Ocelober 29, 2010 Affidavit produced in discovery
redacled paragraph 148,
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i, November 12, 2010 Affidavit

Cn Nevember 12, 2010, Special Agent Mark Kadan soughl authorization for the
original interception of communications on Target Cellphone 5. {11/12/10 Kadan Redacted AfY
% 7 {attached as Lixhibit HY). In his alfidavi!, Agent Kadan detailed information that had heen
gathered about the narcolics ralficking activity of Rodney Mushingion and his co-conspirators
and set forth mformation conslituling probable causc that Mushingtn.n and iy co-conspirators
were: {1) tnvolved in the distribution of multi-kilogram quunlities of marijuana and cocaine; and
{ii} using Target Cellphone 5 in connection with iheir narcotics trafficking. (/¢ 4y 16-28).

In an approximalely 25-page, 38-paragraph scction of the alfidavit at papes 27-51,
Agent Kadan sct forth the basis for his conclusion that normal investigative procedurcs would he
inadequatc or unlikely to achieve the objcctives of the invesligation, and that clectronic
surveillance would be II'E;EESSEEI'}F. Specifieally, Agent Kudan discussed informafion learned
during the prior periods of intereeption, and slaled, among other things, thal: (1} the jnterceptions
had not yet identified all the members of {he Foote organization, the locations of all of tic stash
houses, {he sources of financing and the locations of proceeds from narcotics trafficking, in part
because the Footce organivation made deliverics inside and near buildings where physical
surveitlance is challenging and uscd rental cars (o evade surveillance, (id ' 36); (ii) while pole
camera surveillance had identified an additional member of the Foole organization, pole camera
surveillance did not reveal (he lype or quantity of nareolics {hat officers belicved were being
carried in Jarge packages inte aud out of the Foote and Seabring Houscs, (id 4 44); (i{f) visual
surveillanece had proven ineffective on one occasion while attempting to surveil {he co-
conspirators, {id Y 44{a)}; (iv) Foote and his co-conspirators were still vory much concerned

ahout and discussing the tikelihood that law enforcement officers were surveiling them, (id 4
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45{a)-() {v) lhe recent arrest of an individual in the saime duplex as one of the co-conspirators
had led to Foote removing ineriminating cvidenee from onc of his phone, (i % 51{b}); {v} the {I
continued o be marpinalized becausc officers fearned that the Cl had engaged in unawthorized,
narcotics reiated communications with Foote, (Exhibil T, T 55 n.3Y; {vi) although an undercover
officer ("UC™) had purchased marijuana from two streel level dealers in the Foote organization,
there was no cxpectation thal the UC wouid be able to meet with and purchasc marijuana from
Footc’s suppher, (11/12/10 Kadim Redacted AfE. 4§ § 60-63); and (vii) while there was
information that w.uuid likely allow the DA to obtain scarch warvanls lov approximately six
lucalions, executing scarch warrants at those locations would alert the Foote organization fo the
existence of the investigation prior (o the DEA being able to determine the full scope of the
organization’s aclivilivs, {4 % 67-69).

The application was granted by the Court on November 12, 2010,
T. November 24, 2010 Alfedavii

On November 24, 2010, Speciul Agent Mark Kadan soupht authorization {or (he
coenlinued interception of commumications on Target Cellphone 2. {11/24/10 Kadan Redacled
AL % 2 {attached as Exhibit 1)},

in an approximalely 22-page, 37-paragraph section of the affidavit at papes 27-46,
Agent Kadan set forth the basis for his mnciusiﬁn thal normal investigative procodures would be
inadequate or unlikely to achicve the objectives of the investipation, and that electronic

surveillance would be necessary, Specifically, Agent Kadan discussed information learncd

= ‘The copy of Agenl Kadan’s November 12, 2010 Aflidavil produced in discovery
redacted footnote 3. The page containing the tbolnole is attached as Lixhibit 1, hut s il
redacted in part.
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during the prior pertods of interception, and stated, among other things, that: {i) the interceptions
had not yel Identified all the members of the Foote organization, (he locations of all ol the slash
hueuses, the sources of financing and the locations of proceeds Irom navcotics trafficking, In part
because the I'oote organizaiion made delivenies inside and near buildings wheic physical
surveillance is chailenging and used rental cars to evade surveillance, (id 9% 30-31); (if) while
pole camcra surveillance had identified an additional momber of the Foole organization, pole
camera surveillance did not reveal the type or guantity of navcoites (hat officers believed were
being carried in luvge packages into and out of three different localions, (fd. 97 36-39; (ili) Foote
and his co-conspirators were still very much concerned about and discussing the Hkelihood that
taw enforcement officers were surveliling them, (d 1 40(a)-(b)); {v) arrosts of Foote and
“Frankie” weic nof likely o lead o the individuals who were supplying Foote and “Frankic” with
wholesale amount of nurcoties, {fd ¥ 37); (¥) the Cl continued to be marpinalized because
officers learned that the Clhad cngaped in unauthorived, narcotics related communications with
Foote, {Exhibit K, 1 49 n.3)", {vi} although an undercover officer (“LIC"} had purchased
maiijuana fram two strect love! dealers in the Foote orpanization, there was no expectation that
the UL would be able to meet with and purchase marijuana from Foote’s supplicr, (11/24/10
Kadan Redacted A, § 54); and (vil) while there was information that would likely allow the
DLA to obtain search warrants for six previously mentioned locations and an additional seventh
location, executing search warrants ai those locations would alert the Foole organization to the
existence of the investipation prior {0 {the DEA being able to determine the full scope of the

organization’s activities. {fd T 591

& The copy of Agent Kadan’s November 24, 2010 Affidavil produced in discovery
redacied footnote 3.

16
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The application was granted by the Court on November 24, 2010,
I, December 14, 2810 Affidavit

On December 14, 2010, THO Alcivar sought authortzation for §) the conlinued
mterception of communications on Target Celtphone 5; and (i1} authorization for the original
interecption of communications on Target Cellphones 6-7. (12/14/10 Alcivar Redacted AT, 53
{attached as Fxhibit 1)), In his affidavit, TI*O Alcivar detailed information that hud been
galhered about Lhe narcotics trafficking activity of Rodney Mushingion, Steven Richard and their
co-conspirators and sct forth information conglituling probable cause that Mushington, Richard
and their co-conspirators were: (1) involved in the distvibution of large quantitics of narcotics;
and {31} using Target Celiphones 5-7 in comaection with their narcotics trafficking, (7 T9 15-64).

In an approximately 29-puge, 54-parapraph scetion of the atfiduvit ot pages 62-90,
TFO Adeivar set {orth the basis for his conchusion that normal investigalive procedures would be
inadequate ot unlikely to achieve the objectives of (he investigation, and that clectronic
surveitlance would be necessary. Specifically, TFO Alcivar discussed information leamed
during the prior periods of inferceplion, and stated, among other things, (hal: (i) the interceptions
had not yet identified all (he members -::.f the Foote organization, the locations of all of the siash
houses, the sources of financing and the locations of proceeds from narcofics traificking, the
souree of fireams for the crpanization, in parl because the Fm:;tc organization made deliveries
inside and near buildings where physical surveillance is challenging and used rental cars to cvade
surveillance, (7d. Y 72-74); (i) while law enforcement had identified an additional tarpet subjoct
- Steven Richard, pole camera and visual surveillance did not reveal the type or guantity of
natcotics that officers believed were being catried in large packages into and out of three

iflerent locations, (7 1§ 77-80); (ii) Mushington, Foole and their co-conspirators were still

it
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very much cencerned about and discussing the ltkelihood that law enforcemeni officers were
surveilling them, fid § 8Hal-(b)); (iv) surveilance of the co-conspirators on the road or through
cell sife and GPS tracking had proven fruitful and useful, but only provided limited information,
(id. % 83-84); (v} law enforcement had searched the trash of thwee [ocations on muliiple
occastons and while ublaining some information, this technique would be limited in its use
beeause of the location of the trash roceptaclos, (. Yy 87-901;(vi) wrrests of conspirators would
nol nevessartly result in the identification of all of the Foote organization’s supplicrs and could
weil lead to the destruction of evidence , (fd. 91 91-95Y; (vii) the C1 continued {0 be marghaiized
because officers learned {hat the €T had engaged in unauthorived, narcotics related
communications wilh Foote, {Exhibit M, ¥ 96 n.8)"; (viii} alihough an undercover officer (*LIC™)
had purchased marijusna from two strect level dealers in the Foote organization, there was no
cxpectation that the UC would be able to meet with und purchase marijnana from Fooie’s
suppher, (12/14/10 Alcivar Rodacted AFT, % 161-02); and (ix) rceent search warrunts had been
executed and law enforcoment would be using inforination obtained from those searches as part
of its mvestipation, bul had learned that often packages were sent using fictitious addeesses, (o
% 110-11).

The apﬁlicatinn was granfed by the Court on December 12, 2010,
£, December 22, 2010 Affidavit

On December 22, 2010, Apent Kadan soughtl authorization for the coninued
interception of communicutions on Larget Celiphone 2, (12/22/10 Redacted AT, 4 2 {attached as

Exhibit NJ).

K The copy of 110 Adeivar’s December 12, 2010 Affidavil produced in discovery
redacied footnote 8.

i2
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In an approximatcly 28-page, 48-paragraph scetion of the affidavit at pages 41-68,
Agent Kadan sct forth the basis for his conclusion thal nermal investigalive procedures would be
inadequate or unitkely 1o achieve the objectives of the Investigalion, und that electronic
surveillance would be necessury., Specibically, Agent Kadan discussed information learned
during ihe prior periods of interception, and stated, among other thinps, that: (i) the interceptions
had nied }rei. wdentified all the members of the Moote orpanization, the locations of all of the siash
houses, the sources of financing and the Jocations of proceeds from narcotics trallicking, the
source of firearms for the orpanization, in par! because the Foole organization made deliveries
inside and ncar butldings where physical surveillance is challenging and used rental cars to evade
surveiliance, (i, B $3-353; (it) while law enforcement had idontificd additiona! targel subjects,
pole camera and visual surveillance did not reveal the type or guantity of navcotics that officers
believed were being carried in larpe packages into and oul of three different locations, (id 1% 59-
02}, (iii) Foete and his co-conspirators were still very much conceined about and discussing {he
likelihood that law enforcoment ofiicers were surveilling them, (id 9 66{a)); (iv) surveillance of
the co-conspirators on the road or rough cell site and GPS tracking had proven fruitful and
useful, but only provided leniled information,(id %% 63-64), 70{a); {v) law enforcement had
scarched the frash of flwee locations on multiple occasions and while obtaining some
information, s technique would be Himited in iis use because of the location of the trash
recepiacles and the noed for real time information, (id §Y 73-76);(vi) arrests o conspirators
would not necessarily resull in (he identification of all of the Foole organization’s supplicrs and
could well lead {o the destruction of evidence , (id %9 77-80; (vii) the CI continued to be

marginalized becayse officers learned that the C! had enguged in unavthorized, narcotics related

I3
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comnniications with Foote, {Hxhibit O3, % 81 n,5); {viii) although sn undereover officer (*UC™)
had purchased martjuang from fwo streed level deaders in the Fovle orguanization, thete was no
expectation thal the UC would be uble o meet with and purchase mariiuana from Foote’s
supplier, {12/14/10 Alcivar Redacted AfE 1 86-87); (ix) recent scarch warrants had been
executed and law enforcement had used information obtained from thosc scarches as pari of its
investigation, {fd §Y 93-96); and {x) prior T-El monitoring has resulted in significunt selvures,
but the organization had continued to change their shipping methods and agents Were still
attempting to identify all the sources of supply, (7d 797}

The application was granied by the Cowt on December 24, 2010,

ARGUMENTY

i The Affidavits Property Set Forth the Inadeguacy of Other Tavestigative
Procedures.

The defondants conlend that the August 4, 2010 Affidavit (and the subsequent
affidavits) failed to cstablish a prerequisite for the issuance of a wirctap ordey, to wit, that other
investigative pracedures had been tried and failed or appeared too dangevous or unlikely to
suceeed, See 18 U.S.C. Section 2518(1)}c). Specifically, the defendints assert, in large part, that
becanse the CT “had already joincd and peneirated the inner ciicle of the *lFoote Organization,™
the Government failed to make the requisite stalutory showing that it exhausted other

investigative procedures, Their arpument is meritless.

e The copy of Agent Kadan’s December 24, 2010 Affidavit produced in discovery
redacted fooinote 5,

i4
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A, Applicable Law

1. The Wiretap Staiute’s Requirements

‘Title Hi of the Omanibus Crime Conlrol and Sale Sireels Act of 1968, 18 U.S.C.
§8§ 2510-2522 (hereinalter “Title 1) “permils courds (o authorize electronic surveiliance by
Government officers in specified situations.” Dafig v. United States, 441 U.S. 238, 240 {1979},
Before authonzing a wireiap under Title 1T, a judicial efficer must find that “noimal
investigative procedures have been tried and have failed or reasonably appear to be unlikely to
succeed if tried or to be too dangerous.™ 18 UL8.C, § 2518(3)<c); see afso 18 ULS.C. § 2518(1c)
{requiring an application for a wirclap to include “a {ull and complete statement as to whether or
not other investigative procedures have been {ried and fuiled or why they rcasonably appear to be
undikely to succeed if (vied or 1o be loo dangerous™).

-A court must take a “common sense approach™ to this requirement. United States
v. Concepeion, 379 F.3d 214, 218 (2d Cir, 20609), Thus, although “generalized and conclusory
statements that other investigative procedures would prove unsnceessful” do nof sulfice, “the
Government is not required {o exhaust all conceivable investigative technigues belore resorting
to clectronic surveillance.” Jd. (internal quotation marks omitled). “‘{Tthe statute only requires
that the agents infonn the authorizing pudicial officer of the nature and progress of the
investigation and of the difficultics inheren! in (he use of normal law enforcement methods.™ I,
(yuoting United States v. Digz, 176 F.3d 52, 111 {2d Cir. 1999)).

“I'Tihere is no requirement that any particular investigation procedures he
exhausted before & wirelap may be authorized.” Unifed Stetes v. Young, 822 1.2d 1234, 1237 (24
Cir. 1987}, “Merely because a normal investipative lechnique is theoretically possible, # does not

follow that it is Hkely. What the provision envisions 15 that the showing be tested in a practical

15
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and common sense fashion™ 8, Rep, No, 1097, 90h Cong., 2d Sess,, reprinfed in 1908
U.S.C.C AN 2190 (citations omitled); see alve United States v. Ruggiers, 726 F2d 913,924
(2d Cir, 1984} (affidavils in suppori of wireiap applications are viewed in a conumon sense and
reahistic {ashion).

2. Standard OFf Review For Wirctap Authorizations

A revicwing counrf should nof lightly substitute ils judgment for that of the
authorizing fudpe, as il must grant “considerable deference™ to the district court judge who
authorized the wirelap, United Siates v. Concepeion, 579 13d at 217 & ﬁ.i; aceord United
Mafes v, Yannoiti, 541 F.3d 112, 124 (2d Cir. 2008); United Stafes v, Digz, 176 F3d at 110;
[laited States v, Solomonyan, 452 1. Supp. 2d at 334, 344 (S D.NY. 2006} (“{Tlhe issuing
cout!’s determination of probable canse is entitled 10 "substantial deference’ . .. .). The proper
frcus of the inquiry is on whether the “issuing judicial olicer had a substantial basis for the
linding of probable cause.” Uwited States v. Concepeion, 579 ¥3d at 217 n.1,

The reviewing court’s roie is to “decide if the facts set foeth in the application
were mintmally adequate to support the determination thal wus made.” Id at 217; United Stajes
v. Yanmodii, 541 F.3d at 124; see afso United States v. Miller, 116 1.3d 641, 663 (2d Cir. 1597).
*{{In determining the sufficiency of the application a revicwing court must {est it in a practical
and commonscnse manner,”™ United Stafes v. Torves, FJ'{];E F2d 2:{].‘3, 231 (2d Cir. 1990} {quoting
authority omitted), “JAlny doubt about the cxistence of probuble cause must be resolved in favor
of upholding the issuing court’s arder.” Unifed Staies v. Selomonyan, 452 U, Supp, 24 at 344,

In reviewing alleged omissions and false statements reparding allemative
investigative teclmiques in a wirctap application, the reviewing court applies Franks, evaluating

whether the movant carried its burden of showing that a technigne was deliberately omitted or

16
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misstated and material to the statwtory necessity finding, {mited Stares v, Biunco, 998 F.2d at
1132, 1127 (2d Cir, 1993); see alve United States v, Carfagena, 593 F.3d 104, 10-11 {1st Cir,
2010).°
R. Discussion
1. Mushington’s Allegation That The Affidavit Contains False
Stateanents About the CI°s Knowledge of the Foote Organization is
Unfounded
The fallacy of Mushington's altcrnative investigative technigues argument is
demonstrated by a review of the allidavils. Tn challenging the affidavits® description of the usc of
a confidential informant, Mushington argues {on behalf of himsclf and the other defendants) that
the “successtul indilivation of the ‘Foote Crganization” by the Task Foree hefore the application
for wirelap authorization clearly demonstrates that aliernative technigues were suceessful . . .
ibecause] the confidential informant had distributed bollh marijuana and cocaine himself, and had
pariicipated in consensual menitered conversations with core members of the conspiracy.” {Br.
12-13).
Missing from Mushington’s argument arc "T1F0) Alcivar's stalements that
“li]ntercepted calls are likely to be useful in identifying co-conspirators who are unknown fo the

CF o, fand] at this time thete is no known conlidential source that can provide information about

wll of {he Foote Organization’s soutces of supply and their locations,” {Hxh, A, 1§ 67, 70

? Although the defendunts contend that the “Augnst 4, 2610 aifidavit and other
declarations fincluding an AUSA affirmation) submiited 1o support the wirctaps wore
disingenuous, mislcading and False because they failed to |satisfy (he necessity requirement],”
{Br. 8), the defendants do not rely on franks v, Delaware, 438 TLS. 154 (1978). In essence,
defendants arguc that the alfidavits ave false becausc they disagree with TFG Alcivar and Agent
Kadan’s conclusion with regard to other investigative procedures. Indecd, the defendant’s brief
and counsel’s declaration rely exclusively on the facts sot forth in {he affidavits.

17
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{cmphasis added)). indecd, Mushington - a core member of the conspiracy — is not identified at
all in the nifial alfidavil,

Here, in a marijuana conspiracy involving the.dis’rrihutinn of thousands of pounds
of marijuana by more than two dozen charged defendants from multiple locations, the Ci had: (i)
putchased only one pound of marifuana from Foote, (fd 4 32-37), al the CI's restdence prior lo
the alfidavil; and (11} advised law cnforecment that the Foote residence was being used l{;‘r
conduct narcotics activitics.

Contrary to the defendants” argument that the CT had thoroughly penctrated the
Footc organization, the affidavils and the Tndictment make clear that clectronic surveillance was
neeessaty and inslrumental in identifying: (1} the nultiple locations and numerous members of
the Foole organization unknown to law enforcement in earty August 2010, (compare Lixh. A 9
3, 79 (listing nine tarpet subjeets and the Feote residence) with Bxh N 1§ 3, 92 {listing over §0
larget subjects and multiple locations); and (ii) the scope of the orpanization’s aclivilies — which
according fo the Cl were many muliiples of the one pound he purchased in July 2010."" (See Exh.
A, % 20 "According to the CI, Foote received between one to eight packuges [containing
approximaiely 30 10 60 pounds] of martiuana cach week."; see, e.g., United States v. Serrano,
450 F, Supp. 2d 227, 240 (S.D.N.Y. 2006) (rejeciting defendant’s claims that pre-wiretap
technigues were successful in collecling evidence against him when measured ugainst the

chjectives of the criminal investigation).

o While stating that TFO Alcivar's statement that the CI has not participated in the
day 10 day business of the Foote orpanization is “not true,” {Ricco Deel, at 13), the defendants
fhil to meet their burden thut TFO Alcivar's statcmoent constituted an “intentional or reckless
miiterial misrepresentationf | Jor| omissionf} i the wiretap application]].” Franks v. Delmeare,
438 U.S. at 155-56; United States v. Bianco, Y98 F.2d 1112, 1125 (2d Cir. 1993).

L
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Turther, as the affidavits subsequent to the Avgust 4, 2010 affidavit make ciear,
the Cf’s role in the investipaiion was marginalized beeause {aw cnforcement fearned throuph the
wirctap on Target Coliphone 2 thaf the CI had engaged in unauthorived, narcotics-retuted
communicalions with Foole, (See Fxhs, CE78, EN101; G148, 19550 K145 0.3, M 4§56
n.3; O 87 n.5) As aresulf, the CT's unauthorized actions, in part, necessitated continued
wirgfaps,

2. TFO Aleivar Did Not Mislead The Court About The ¥act That Other

Alternative Investigafive Procedures Had Been Tried Or Appeared
Unlikely to Succeed if Tricd

In a lengthy twenty-{ive page porlion of the August 4, 2010 affidavit, 110 Adeivar
detatied the investigative steps that bad been undertaken or contemplated during the investigation
of the Foote organization,

First, he discussed the usc of surveillance through the pole camera and physical
survelllance of the Feote residence, (Exh, A, 9% 58,60), and explained why physical surveillance
would be a limited invesligative tool. (f4 §61). Second, TFO Alcivar discusscd why aliempling
to arrest members ol the Foote organization likely would not be a produciive investigative step.
{fd 9| 64-66). Third, TFO Alcivar sct forth why information from the €I and another individual
would not reveal all of the sources of supply of the Foole organization or all aspects of its iiogal
activities. (/d. ¥y 67-73). Fourth, Alcivar discussed why there was no realistic possibility that an
undercover agent would be able fo gain aceess to Foote’s source of supply, (74 §75). Fifih, TFC
Alcivar discusscd that phone records had been used in the investigalion but why phone records —
dhac to the inabilily to identily with certainty the individuals having the conversation or the
substance of the conversation — would not roveal the siruclure of the Foote orpanization. (fdf q

76). Sixth, TRQ Alcivar discussed why grand jury subpoenaes and witness inferview would

i9
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rrovide insufiicent information in identifying the members of the Foote oreanization and their
respective involvement in the narcotics trafficling activitics. (/g Y 77-78). Vinally, 110
Aleivar explained why, even though the invesiigation had revealed information that would likely
enzable agenis {0 obtain a search warrani {or the Foole residence, execulhng o sewrch warrant
would arm the investigation. (4 1§ 79-81).

Unlike Unifed States v. Lilfa, 699 1.2d 99 (2d Cir. 1983), where the officer’s
affidavit failed to “reveal what, if any, investigative techmigues were allempled prior to (he
wiretap request . . . fand] |instead . |, merely asserled that ‘oo other investipative method exists
to determine the identily of individuals who might have been involved with [the defendant,” id
- at 104, TFO Alclvar's discussed numerous conventional investipative moethods and whether those
techniques had been tried and failed, or were otherwise unlikely to succecd. There is no

aad

requitement for law enforcement to “‘run ovtlandish risks ov Lo exhaust every conceivable
alternative before secking a wiretap,”™ United Siaies v. Cartfagena, 593 [.3d at 111, As the Court
of Appeals stated in Digz:

The purpose of the statutory requirements of § 2518 is not o

nrechide the government’s resorl (o wiretapping “‘until after all

other possible means of investigation have been exhausied by

investigative agenls; rather, [the statute] only require]s| that the

agents inform the authorizing judicial oficer of the nature and

frogress of the investigation and of the difficul{ies inherent in the

usc of norma! law enfvrcemeni methods.’™
United States v. Diaz, 176 F.3d al 111 {quoting United States v. Torres, 901 F.2d ol 231); see
also Unifed States v, Deas, No. 3:07c73 (CFD), 2008 WL 4642636, at *4-5 (Ocl. 21, 2008)
(finding thal necessily requirement had been satisficd, in parl, where agent expluined that pen

repisters were of limited utility and physical surveillance cannot exlend into a drug dealer’s

home),

26
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Giiven that “{he sufficlency of a wirctap application mmust be roviewed in a
practical and common sense manner and need be only minimally adequale to support the issuing
judpe’s determination of necessily,” United Stases v. Trippe, 171 F. Supp. 2d 230, 236 (SDN.Y.
2001 Onternal guolation marks and citations omitted), the defendanis’ arpuments regarding the
inifial affidavit provide no basis for suppression

3. The Agents Updnted The Necessity Scotion Of Their Affidavits In The
Successive Applications As The Facts Changed

Oddly, throughout their analysis of both the initial alTidavit and laler affidavits,
the defendants fail to note that ail of the information upon which they rely comes from the
affidavits, { c. it was diselosed to the authorizing judge. Their claim that Iaw enforcement misked
the authorizing judpe is baseless because in the defendants’ view, disaprecing with the agents’
coneiusions cquates to misleading the Cowt —a unique but entircly incotrect premise expecially
when all the facts that finm the basis for their claim were presented o the Cowt at the time the
Cowrd made Us determination as to whether the Governmeni had satisfied the nccessity
Teguirenent.

Rather than analyzing each affidavit individually, counsel’s decluvalion often
discusscs multiple allidavils at the same time — presumably 1o show that an investigative method
which had not been utilized earlicr was later employed and achieved some success, see e g, use
of undercover officers and scarch warranis, (See Ricco Decl. 20-22). Firsi, o the extent, that Jaw
enforcement continuied to try new methods, # belies the defondants” argument that Jaw
enforcement was “rcfusiing] to use altemative investipative techniques.” (Br, 18). Second, as set
forth  further detail in cach of the aifidavits, simply because a fechnigue was later productive

for law enfercoment, fe., search wavrants, cell site location or GPS tvacking, dees not mean that

21
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{he lechnigue alone or in combination wilh moiher methods was able (o revead the {ul] scope of
{he organization’s narcotics activities.

For the reasons discussed above, TFC Alcivar’s cxpianations — in the initial
aflidavit — a5 to whether other investigative techniques had been tried and failed or why they
reasonably appeared to be unlikely to suceced if tried in the successive applications were
reazonablc. See United States v. Terry, TO2 F,24 299, 310 (24 Civ, 1983) (holding {hat where “lhe
factual justification {or the [wirelap] order had nol changed at the lime when an extension was
soughi, it was utmecessary o vary the specific facts . . . in the rencwal application™).

Mﬂl‘ﬂﬂver; the agents updated the availability of other investipative lechnigues in
subsequent wirctap applications as deveiopmenis occurted. (See Exh. B % 66 (discovery of
Seabring Housc), 4 78 (C] engaging in unaulhorived, nareotics related communications); ixh, D.
¥ B9 (Footc and his co-conspiralors were concerned about law cnforcement surveillance), § 94
{arrcst of a co-conspirator); 97 108-09 {two new additicnal locations where narcotics aclivities
wore believed 1o be ocourring);, Exh. F 9 133-34 {pole camora survetilance identified addilional
members of ihe Foote organization),§% 135 (conspiralors’ concem aboul surveillance); 4 140
{removal of incruminating cvidence by Foole), ] 150-53 {use of an undercover officer), 4% 157-
38 (additional focations where narcodics aclivities were belicved to be occurring); Rxh, I 44
{poic camera survelibimee identified additional member of ihe Foole organization),t 44(a)
{inahilily to surveil conspirators), 14 67-69 (rdditional location where nascotics activities were
belteved Lo be occurring); Uxh. J 4% 36-39 (pole camera surveillance identified additional
membrer of the I'oote organization), § 40 (conspivators concern about surveillance); 1 59
{additional location where narcolies activilies were oceurring); Lxh, L %% 77-80 (identification of

Steven Richard}, Y 81 {conspirators’ concern shout surveillance), 99 83-84 (use of cell site and
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OI'S tracking); %Y 87-90 (trash scarches), 1% 110-11 {execution of search warrants); Lxh. N %%
63-64 {usc of ccll site and GPS {tracking); 7 66{x) {conspirators’ concern shout surveillance), § 96
{phonc calls occwring afler execution of scarch warrants), Y 97 (organization’s plan to change
shipping methods}. These updates arc plainly inconsisient with any desire to misrepresent facts
rogarding necessity fo the issuing judge.
CONCLUSION
Yor the reasons discossed sbove, the defendants’ motion fo suppress should be

dented. without a hearing.

Diated: White Plains, New York
November 36, 2011

Respectfully Submitied,

PREET BHARARA
United States Attorney

CoH® Sy
By: — —
.]-‘1::+h=_r1~P-"’#i.nihmr Ir.

Assistant United Stales Allorney

(914} 993-1919
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AFFIRMATION OF SERYICE

JOFIN P, COLLINGS, IR, pursuand fo Title 28, United States Code, Section 1746,
hereby declares under the peralty of perjury:

Thal Tam an Assistant United States Adforney in the Gffice of the United States
Aftorney for the Southem District of New York.

Thal on November 30, 2011, | caused onc copy of the within Mcemorandum of
Law Reaponding o Defendants” Motion to be filed electronically and thus served on al counsel

by ECF.

I declave under penaliy of perjury under the laws of the United Slates of America -
that the forcpoing is true and correct. '

Dated: While Plains, New York
MNovember 30, 2011

ﬁ P, Colins, v,
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EXHIBIT A
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DHNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

IN THE MATTER COF THE APPLICATION AFFIDAVIT IN

OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA SUPPORT

FOR AUTHORIZATION TO INTERCEPT WIRE OF APPLICATION FOR
COMMUNICATIONS OCCURRING OVER THE AUTHORIZATION TO
CELLULAR TELEPHONE ASSIGNED CALL NUMBER INTERCEPT WIRE

{646} £33-3108, WITH INTERNATIONAL MORILE COMMUNICATIONE
SUBSCRIDBER IDENTITY NUMEER
310260724255672 (“TARGET CELLPHONE 1)
AND THE CELLULAR TELEFHONE ASSIGNED CALL
NUMBER (845} 746-0831 AND DIRECT CONNECT
NUMEER 173%345%3170, WITH INTERNATICNAL
MORILE SURSCRIEBER IDENTITY NUMBER
316010168541855 {“TARGET CELLPHONE 2
{collectively, the “TARGET CELLPHONESY)

STATE OF NEW YORK ' )
COUNTY OF WESTCHESTER ) a8,
SOUTHERN DISTRICT QF NEW YOREK )
Walter Alcivar, a Task Force Officer with the
Weatchegter County Drug Enforcement Task Forge, being duly sworn,

depoges and states:

INTRODUCTION

1. I aman “investigative or law enforcement officer
of the United States” within the meaning of Section 2516 (7) Df.
Title 18, United States Code, that ig, an officer of the Tnited
Etatep who iz empowered by law to conduct investigations of and
ta make arrests for offenses enumerated in Section 2516,

Title 18, United Btateg Code, I hava hsan a Task Foroe Officer
since November 2008 and am currently assigned to the Westchester
‘County Prug Enforcement Task Force (the “Task Force”), which is

comprizsaed of gpecial agents £rom the Drug Enforcement
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Administration {*DEA*} and police officers from local police
departments. Since becoming a member of the Task Force, I have
conducted numerous investigations of uniawful drug trafficking in
vioslation of 21 U.8.0. 85 B41, 841{a){%), B43{h), and 846, and
have conducted or participated in wire and phyelcal survelllancs,
gurveillance of undercovar tranéactions, the introduction of
undercover agents, the execution of geaxych warvanitis, debriefings
of informants and reviews of taped conversations and drug
records., I have also participated in inveetigations that have
included the interception of wire communications, and I have
reviewed taped conversations and drug records relating to
narcotlicg trafficking. Through my training, education and
experience, I have become familiar with the manner in which
illegal drugs are transported, stored, and digtributed and the
methods of payment for such drugﬁ.

z, T submit this affidavit in support of an
apﬁlicatioﬂ for an order puradant to Seétien 2518 of Title 18,
imited Statees Code, authorizing the interception and recording of
wire communications concerning offenses emumerated in Section
2516 of Title 18, United States Code -- bhat ls, offenses
involving the distribution of, and posseasion with.intent to
diatribute,-controlled gubgtances, the use of wire facililities to
facilitate the game, conspiracy to do the same and attempts to do

the same, in violation of 21 U.8.C. EE 841 (a) {1}, 843(k), and 844
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(the “TERGET OFFENSES").!

3, For the reasons set out in this affidavii, I
hbelieve that there is probable cause to believe that the TARGET
DFFENSES have heen EGmﬁitted, are belng committed, and will
continue to be committed by one or more of the fcllowing
individualsg: DUNSTCH FOOTE, a/fk/a “Kilia,” CLOVAL TAYLOR, afk/a
“Clove,” DWIGHT MORGAN, FRU LU, a/k/a sprankie,” FNU L&U, a/k/a
“Sreve, " FRU LNU, a/k/a *Dirty,” FNU LNU “Chris,” ALLAND ZLMOR,
TOREY EANEZ, a/k/fa “Mello,” afk/a "Mellow,” CONRQOY BROWN, and
others as yet unknown (the “TARGET SUBJECTSY), and that
particular communications concerning the TARGET OFFENSES will be
obtained through interception of the TARGET CELLPHONES (defined
in paragraph 7 below). Authorization is gought herein to
intercept wire communicatbions of the TARGET SUBSECTS, to and from
the TARGET CELLPHONES, which are curréntly utilized by DUNSTON
FOOTE, a/k/a “Eilla.”

4, The reguested Order is scught for a period of time
until the interceptién fuliy reveals the manner in which the
TARGET SUBJECTS participate in the TARGET OFFENSES, or for a
pexiod of thirty {30} dayse, whichever occurs first, pursuart to

Title 18, United States Code, Section 2518(5}. Puxrspuant to

* Although not a predicate offense upder 18 U.5.0. & 25186,
there ip probable cause to believe that the TARGET SUBJECTS (as
gubseguently defined herein} have aided and abetted and are
aiding amnd abetting those substantive cffenses, in viclation of
18 0.8.8. § 2.
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Section 253i8{5) of Title 18, United Statea Code, it iz furthexr
reguesated that the 30-day period be measured fxom the earlier of
the date on which investigaktive or law enforcement officers begin
to conduct intercepticon pursuant to this Court’s Crder or Len
dayz from the date of this Court’s Order.

5, Thig case is being investigated by the DBEA, the
Taszk Foree, the S8pring Valley Police Department, the Ramapo
Bollce Department, Suffern Police Department, Immigrabtion and
Customs Foforcement {*ICE*), and the Unlted States Poatal Servee
[*118p8%). T make this affidavit based on my peresonal
participation in this investigation and based on reports made to
te by other law enforcament officers, ag well as information
provided by the cooperating individuals discussed below. Except
where otherwise noted, the information set forth in this
affidavit hap bheen provided to me by other law enforcement
cfficers who have assipted 1n the investigation. Unless
otherwise noted, wherever in this affidavit I assert that a
statement was made, the statement was made by another law
enforcement officer (who may have had alther direct or hearsay
knowledgs of that statement}! to whom I or other law enforcement
offlcers have spoken or whose reportd T have read and reviewed.
Juch ztatemenis are reported in substance and in part, unless
ctherwlige indicated. Likewise, information resulting from

surveillance setz forth either my personal chaervations or
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informakion provided directly or indirectly through other law
enforcement officers who conducted such survelllance,

G. Becauze thie affidavit iz being submitted for the
limited purpose of securing an order authorizing the interception
of wire communicaticns, I have not included detallg of every
aspect of this investigation te date. Facts not set forth herein
are not being reliad on in reaching my conclusion that orders
should be issued. Nor do I request that this Court rely on any
facts not set forth herein in reviewing thim application for an
arder authorizing the interception of wire csmmunicaticns..

THE DESIGNATED TELEPHONES

7. There is probable cause to believe that DUNSTON
ﬁOGTE, af/k/a "Killa,* is uveging, and will in the future use, in
order to accomplish, to discuss and te commit the TARGET
QOFFENSES, the followling cellular telephones: (1] the cellular
teléphone aggigned ¢all number (646} 633-3108, with Internaticnal
Mobile Subscriber Tdentity {“IM3I¥) Number 310260724255672, with
prepaid gervice provided by IDT and network service provided by
T-Mobile (“TARGET CELLPFHONE 173° and (2) the cellular telephomne
aggigned call number {845} 746-063%1 and direct connect number.
173+%345%8170, with IMSTI Number 3160101685418%5, subsacribed to

“Stave JFzmes? at the suhscriber addregeg P.0, Box 5458848, Irvine,

2 Subscriber infaormation was reguested bub ig not available
for TARGET CELLPHOME 1 because the gervice provider doeg nokb
require subscriber informabtion for prepaid phones, and none wag
provided for TARGEYT CELLPHCHE 1.
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ChA 9261%, with service provided by Sprint-Nextel ({“TARGET
CELLPHORE 27} {collectively, the “TARGET EELLP.HDMES”}.

8. Tn particular, there is probable cause to believe
that FOOTE 1s using the TARGET CELLPHONES to make wire
communicabtionz in furtherance of, 1o connection with, to
facilitate, to accomplish, and to commit the TARGET OFFENSES.

9. It iz reguested that interception be permittad
over thE.TﬁRGET CELLPHONES, and any telephone mambers
subgeqguently assigned to or accegged by or through the game IMST
numbers as the TARGET CELLPHONES, or assigned to the instrument
bearing the game IMSI mumbers as bthe TARGET éELLPHDNES, as well
as any IMSI numbers subseqguently assigned to the instrument
bearing the same telephone numbers assigned to the TERGET
CELLPHONES. In addition, it is requested that background
conversations, in the vicinity of the TARGET CELLPHONES while
they are off the hook or otherwlsge in use, aiso he permitted to
be intercepted.

16, I have been informed by other law enforcement
personnel who are fawmiliar with the applicable telephone
technolilogy that a “pcrtab;e cellular telephone” {or a “mcbile
telephone*) c¢an be used both within a véhicle and cutside a
vehicle through the use of é poxtable battery pack., The celiular
telephone gyatem dividea metropolitarn areas into many small

coverage areas, which are called “celils.” &g a vehicle in which
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a poritable celiular telephone is located, or the cellular
telephone itself, ip moved from one cell to another, tranamitters
within each cell and a master switching network permit "wire
communications® to bhe completed. Each portable cellular
talephone that doeg not contain party lines bears a unigque IMSE
number and zn assigned telephone number. It 18 reguested that
interception be permitted owver the TARGET CELLPHORES, and any
other telephone numbers and telephones accegsed through the
ahove-1listed IMSY numbers fox the TARGET CELLPHOKES, and any IMST
mumbers, of the eguivalent accessed through the telephone numbers
assigned to the TAREET CELLEHONES.

i1l. Because of the mobility of portable cellular
telephones, pursuant to Title 18§, Unilted States Code, Sectlom
2518({3}, authorization ig requested for interception of wire
communications within the Southern Diptrict of Kew York, and
cuteide that jurisdiction but within the United States in the
cage of a mobile interception device.

12, Tt is anticipated that the TARGET SUBJECTS will
IUSE the TARGET (CELLPHORES to place calls and relay messages to
and from the Scuthern District of Mew York, =28 well ag other
lovations. This belief iE_BpppDrted by the facts described
helow.  Puxsuant to nited States v. Rodriquez, 968 F.24 130 {2d
Cir,} gg;;. denlead, 506 U.2, 847 (1932}, a court in the Southern

District of New York ig empowered to igsue an Crder for the
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inkterception of wire communicatlons over telephones locate& in
other digtriets, as long as the interceptions of these
gommunicabions are firet heard in the Southern Digtrict of New
York.

13. In connection with the telecommunication companies
that provide the gservige for the TARGET CELLPHORES, all
interceptions cover the TARGET CELLPHONES will aubomatlcealliy be
routed Lo white Plaing, New York {Westchegter County), regardlegs
of whare the telephone calls are placed to or from. Accordingly,
all interceptions will first be heaxd in the Southexrn District of
¥ew York, During the requested wire gurveillance, all monitoring
will be performed in White Plaina, New York, by law enforcement
officers authorized under Sectioﬁ 2510{7} of Titie 18, United
States Code, including special agents with the DEA, cfficers with
the Task Force, and law enforcement officers assisting in the
investigation including but not iimited to wmembers of the Spring
Valley Police Department, the Rawmapo Police Department, the
guffarn Police Department, ICE, the USPS and others, and
govermment employees or individuals operating under a conbtract
with the government, who will be acting under the suparviaion of
investigative or law enforcement officers authorized to conduct
the interception.

OBJECTIVES

14, There ig probable cause to believe that the
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interception of wire qommunications, the authorization for which
is gought herein, will help to reveal: {i} Lkhe nature, extent
and methods of eoperation of the TARGET SUBJECTS' narcotics-
trafficking busineses; {ii) the identlitieg of the TARGEYT SUBJECTS,
their accomplices, aiders and abettors, co-consplrators and
participante in their illegal activities; (ili} the time and
place of the recelipt and distribution of ccntrabénd and monsy
invoived in those ackivities; -(iv}) the locatlons of itemp used in
furtherance of those activities; (v} the existence and locations
of records relating to narcotice trafficking; (vi} the location
and source of regources used k¢ finance their illegal activities;
and {vii} the location and disposition cof the proceeds fyxom those
activities. In addition, these wire communications are expected
to cenetitute admissible evidence of the commission of the TARGET
GFFENSES.

PRIOE AFPELICATIONS

15. I have been informed that reviews have been done
of the eslectronic surfeillance filaes of the DEA, ICE; the rfaderal
Burean of Investigation (*FBI?) ., and local law enforcement
agencles.? Based on these reviews, I have been informed that
there have been no prior applications for Couxt authorization to
intercept. wire, oral, or electronic compunications of the TARGET

SUBJRECTS, or ovey the TARGET CELLPHORES.

# I have bean informed that an BELSUR check was completed on or
about Auguat 2, 2010,
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I. THRRE IS8 PROBABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE THAT THE TARGET SUBJECTS
WILL USE THE TARGET CELLPHONES TN FURTHERANCE OF THE TARGET
OFFENSES '

A, Background of Investlgation

156, Beginning in or about June 2010, thke DEA, the
Spring Valley Police Department, the Ramapo Police Department,
the Suffern Police Pepartment, ICE and the USPS initiated an
investigation into a marijuana and cqcaine trafficking
organization (the “Foote Organization”]. The DEA and other law
anforcement officers working on the investigation have obhtazined
information about the Foote Organization through, amoeng other
gources, a confidential informant {(the *“CI*},* recorded telephone
conversations, physical surveillance, and telephone records,

19. Other law enforcement cfficers and I spoke with
the CI on numerocug ogecagiong in or aboul JdJune and July 2010,
- Among other things, the CT kold me the following:

18. From in or about 2004 through in ox aboubl March
2010, the €I freguently {1} cbtained marijuana and cocaine from
DUNSTCN FOOTE, a/k/a “Killa;” {2} coocked cocaine into crack for
FOOTE; and (3) sold mariiuana and crack for FOOTE on Oumerous

occasions, ZAcocording to the €Y, CLOVAL TAYLOR, afk/a “Glove,ﬁ

* On or about REERES BHithae (I was arrasgted 1n Spring
Valley for pogseggion of crack cocaine and was charged with
Criminal Pogsesgsgion of a Controlled Substance in the Third
Degree, in Rorkland County Court., The CT has been providing
information and cooperating with law enforcement iii the hope of
obtaining a more lenient sentence. I found the CI to be credible
and the Information the CI provided to be corroborated.
Pieviously, the CI was convicted twice of state felony narcotics
charges,

LD
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and FNU LNU, ajk/a “Frankie,” alzo received drugs from and scld
drugs for FOOTE during this time and continue Lo do so. The (X
believes that FOOTE receives his supply of marijuana from three
men that the T know as “Steve,” “Chris,” and *Dirxty,” and that
FOOTE receives his supply of cocaine from “Dizty.”

19, During the time period mentioned above, the CI
provided FOOTE with addresses in and around Spring Valley, New
York, to which the marilijuana and cocaine were mailed from FOOTE' s
sources of supply (the *Delivery Locatiens”). The {I wag
responeiblie for picking up the packages cof drugs when they
arrived zt the ﬁelivery Locations and deliverlrg them to FOOTE.
CLOVAL TAYLOR, afk/a “Clove,” told the €Y that since the Cl's

arrest in TAYLOR has been providing FOOTE with the

addreases for the receipt of packages of marijuana, plicking up
the packages, and dellvering them to FQOTE,

20, TFOOTE sometimed told the €I whether the packages
would conkain cocaine cf marliuana, and somebtimes the éf inferred
the contents of the packages bazed on, among other thirngs, the
gize of the packages. According to tha CI, FOOTE received
between one to elght packages of marijuana each week via the mail
at the Delivery Locatlons. The €I esgtimated that sach package of
marijuana contained approximately 30 to 60 pounds of marijuana.

21, wWhen the packages of marijuaﬂa arrived at tha

Delivery Lacatlons, the CI ploked up the packages and met FOOTE

1%
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in person at a pre-arranged Iocation. FOOTE and the ¢TI then
drove together ED a location where FOUTE distxibuted the
marijuana to, among others, the CF, CLOVAL TAYLOR, afk/a “Clove,”
and FNU LNU, a/k/fa “Frankie,” who, in turn, sold the marijuana in
and arcund Rockland County, New York., After the-CI, TAYLOR, and
FRU LN, a/kfa “Frankie,” sold the guantities of mariijuana
provided to them by FOOTE, they returned most of the proceeds
from those sales to FOOTE and aleo kepht dome moﬁey from the druyg
gales For themselves,

22. FOOTE alss.received approximately one to three
kilogramg of cocaine each month via the mail at the belivery
Locakiongs. When the packages of cocaine arrived at the Delivery
Locations, the CI picked up the packages and met FOOTE at the
Cr's Regidence, where the CI cooked the ceocaine into crack for
FOOTE. The CI then distributed goms of the corack to FNU LNU,
a/k/a “Frankie,” and the €I and “Prankis” sold the crack to other
drug dealers in and around Rockland County for FOOTE. The CI and
“Frankie".gave most of the procdeeds from their gales of orack to
FOOTE and also kept some money from the drug sales for
Ehemselvas. |

23, The CI bhelieves that certaln emplovess of the
Uniked States Post Office asslsted FOOTE with the shipment of
packages contalning drugs from the gources of supply to the

Delivery Locations. The CI identified one of the Post Gffice

iz
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employess as an individual the CI knows as CONROY BROWM.® In or
about June 2018, the CI witnegsed a physical altercation bhetween
BEROWE, POOTE, and FNU LNU, a/kfa “"Frankie,” related tc BROWN'= |
girlfriend or wife; since that time BROWH haes not been involved
in the ghipment of drugs for the Foote Organization, According
to the CI, FOOTE told the CI that a female Post Office employee
row aggigte FOOTE and will <ontact FOOTE if law enfcrcement

officers inguire about the contents of any packages,

24. BSince the CI’s arrest in the €I has
not been involved in drug dealing with FOOTE, CLOVAL TAYLOR,
a/kfa “Clove,” and FNU LNU, a‘k/a “Frankie.” However, the CT has
continued to regularly sccialize with thepe individuals. The CI
frequently sees FOOTE, TRYLOR, and “Frankie® together and
ooeagionally alpo sees them with FRY LNUG, a/fk/fa “Chris,® FNU LNU,
afk(a “Steve,” and FNU INU, a/k/a *Birty.” Based on what ﬁhe o
hag ohserved snd heard, th; CI beligvea that FOOTE, TAYLOR,
*Frankie,” “Chrig,” “Steve,” and *Dirty” are continuing to ﬁnrk
together as part of a narcotics distribution organization. As

noted above, TAYLOR teld the I that TAYLOR has been providing

FOOTE with the addreasses for the receipt of packages of drugs,

B Locording bto a Deteckive wikh the Spring vallev Polilce
Department ("SVPD Detective 1%}, an indiwvidual identified as
CONRCY BROWN wmei with another SVPD officer and told that officer
that BROWN wag za pesgtal worker in Soring Vallev, that FOOTE mold
mariijuana, and that BROWN and FOOTE had a dispute regarding
BROWN's wife. BROWN has ncot had any additional meetings with law
enforcement.

13




Case 7:11-cr-00016-CS Document 224-1 Filed 11/30/11 Page 15 of 48

picking up the ﬁackages, and delivering them to FOOTE since the
CI was arrested,

25. The CI believes that FOOTE lives near or around
Suffern, WNew ¥York, and that FOOTE may keep drugs and procesds

from narccties sales at his residence.

B. Viaual Surveillance 0f the Foote Regidence

26. On ﬁr ahout JUné lé; 20310, a Deteétive—ﬂergeant
with the Ramape Police Dspartment {(“RPD Detective 1%} obderved
two velhilcies registered to FOOTE's wife parkea outside a
regidencea in the Village of Hillhurn, which borders Suffern, New
York {the *“Foote Residence”}. The wvehicles included a grey BMW
{*Vehicle 1“i'and a red Honda Accord (“Vehicle 2"}, RED
Detactive 1 and other law enforcement.cfficars had a pole camera
installied on a telepkone pole near the Foote Resldence, with the
camera facing the front entrance to the Foote Regidence, which
bagan operating on or aboub June 28, 2010 ({tha “Pole Camera”) .

27. Aqacrding to BRED Detective 1, RPD Detective 1
reviawed portions of the video obtained from thE. Pole Camera, and
saw FOOTE carrying multiple plastic ghopping bags £rom Vehicle 1
into and cut of the Foote Residence. The plastic shopping bags
appeared to contain sguare cbjecta that, based on RFD Detective
l'g training and experience, were consistent with the appearance

of packages of mariiuana.®

¢  Based on wmy experience, I know that iarger gquantitiea of
mariiuana are often digtributed in brick-shaped packages,

14
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L

., Drug-Relsted Activity Using Fhe TARGET CELLPHOMES

28. According to the CI, FOOTE has usad the TARGET
CELLFPHONES for over a yesay. The CI said that FCOTE gave the CI
the call number for TARGET CELLPHONE 1 and the direct connect
number for TARGET CELLPHONE 2 in ox about the Spring of 20808,

The T showed me the CI's celliphone, and I saw that the éall
number for TARGET CELLDPHONE 1 and the direct connect number for
TARGET CELLPHONE 2 are listed in the COT's cellphone under the
name “Killa.” Based on my experience in mnarccotics
investigations, I know that drug dealers often use wore than one
cellphone in their drug distribution activities.

| 25, The ¢I stated that from in or akoui March 2008
through in or aboub March 2010, the CI called the ecall number for
TARGET CELLPHCNE 1 and the direct connect number fox TARGE?
CELLPHONE 2 and spoke with FOOTE cn the TERQET CELLPHONES on
numerous occasions regarding the receipt and distribution of
drugs. .The CI said that he/she often called FOOTE on the TﬂRdET
CELLPHONES when the CI picked up a package of drugs. The I also
ptated that, on at least one occasion, the I gave FOOTE the
address where the drugs should be ﬁent wia a text message that .
the ¢I sent to TARGET CELLPHONE .

310, The CF stated that the CI has geen and heard FOOTE
use the TARGET CELLPHONES to ozder mariijuvana and cocalne on

muitiple occasions, and that FOCTE places and receives other

15
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drug-related calls. On one occasion in or about June 2010, the
CI heard FCOTE talking to a person that FOOTE called “Chris” on
TARGET CELLPHONE 1. During that call, the CI heard FOOTE say, in
subgtance, that FOOTE was ready and needed a place to “gend to.”
The CI said that FOOTE and ntheré gpoke in code when they
discupged drugé. The ¢I aisc said that the CI apoke to *Dirty,”
in FOOTE's presence, on TARGET CELLPEONE 1 on or about June 19,
2010.

i3, In or about June 2018, the CI, acting under the
superviglon of law enfcrcement, called the TARGET CELLPHONES aud

spoke to FOOTE aboub obtaining marijuana from FOOTE fox the CX

gell.
n. Drug-Deale Arranged Using TARGET CELLPHONE 1
3z. According to a Detective with the Spring Valley
Police Department (“SVPD Detective 1"}, on or about July i, 2018,

the CI called TARGET CELLPHONE 1 in SUﬁD Detective 1's presenca,
but raceived no answer, The CI then eallaed a phone mumber that
the CI sgaid he/she knew tﬁ e bhe cellphone numhef Eor FPNU IHU,
a/k/a *Frankie,* and spoke to "Frankie." The (I asked “Frankle”
1f "Frankie” knew whexre FOOTE was at that time. According to the
CI, "Frankie* told the CI that he would call FOOTE and tell FOOTE
to cail the CI. Shoxrtly thereafter, “Frankie” called the CI an&

gaid that FOOTE had not answered hile phone.

16
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331, ZLess than an hour later, in SVPD Detective 178
presence, the CI placed a consensually monitored and recorded
phone call to TARGET CELLPHORE I and spoke with BUNSTON FOOTE,
a/k/a "Killia,” about purchasing marijuana from FOOTE., Im sum and
gubstance, the CI asked FOOTE 1f FOOTE was around the “crib,” and
FOOTE told the CT he was arcund,_but to give him about an hour.
The I then asked FOOTE to bring “two small boys,” and FOOTE
responded “alright.””

34, According to SVPD Detective 1, aftexr the call, the
0 told SVPD Detactive 1 kEhat “two emall boys” wap code for two
quarter pounds (or eight cunces) of marijuana.

s, éhortly thereafter, the CI, EVPFD Detectlive 1, and.
other law enforcement officerse went to tha (CI'g respidence in
gpring Valley, ¥Wew York {the “CI Residence”). Imside the CI
Residence, 8SVPD Detective 1 sgearched the CI and instalied a video
and recording device on the Ci'es person. SVPD Detective 1 also
gave the CI approximately $600 in U.S. currency te be used to
purchase the marijuana bthat the I had requested from FOOTE.

16, SVPD Detective 1 and other law enforcement
officers then conducted wvigual surveillance outgide of the CI
Reaidence. According to SVPR Detectlve 1, approximately one hour

after the CI's conwversation with FOOTE on TARGET CELLPHONE 1,

7 The call was predominantly in Patois, and the recording of

that call was spubsequently transiated by the €CI. I have reviewed
the recording and i1t coxroborates the Ci’s statements to SVPD
Detegtive 1.

17
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anobther law enforcement officer (*Officer 1%} saw FOOTE arrive at
the CI Residence in Vehicle 1, park in front of the CI Reaidence,
and enter the front door of the I Residence. After a short
period of time, CEfficer 1 saw FOOTE walk out of the CI Reazidence
and over to Vehilele 1, where FOOTE retrieved an object from
inside vehicle 1. OQfficer 1 saw FOOTE walk back inside the CI
Regidence holding an cbject. Soon thereafter, FOOTE left the CI
Resideﬁce and drove away in Vehicle 1.

37. BAccording to SVED Detective 1, sghortly after FOOTE
laft the I Reaiéance; the CI met with SVED Detective 1 at a
prearranged location and the CI handed SVPD Detective 1 a
gubptance that appeared to be marijuana wrapped in pilastic that
the CT said was provided to the CI by FOOTE. The CI told SVPD
Detective 1 that after FOOTE entered the CI Residence, the CI
agked FOOTE for the “stuffY and told FOOTE that the CIfs customer
wag waiting with the money. FOOTE then ﬂalkad out of the front
door and came back inside the CI Residence holding an object
wrapped in plastic. FOOTE handed the CI the object, and the CT
gave FOOTE 5600, ‘T have reviewed the audio and vided recording,
which corroborate the CIL's statements to SVPD Detective 1.

28, 8VPD Detective 1 conducted a field test of the
gubatance that the CI said he/she obtained from FOOTE, and.it
tested positive for the presence of mariiuana and weighed

approximately 7.8 ounces.

13
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38, I have reviewed the telephone toll records for
TARGET CELYLPHOME 3 for July i, 201¢, which show that the
cellphone number used by the CI contacted TARGET CELLPHONE 1 atl
the time that SVED Detective 1 saw the CI place a call to FOOTE,

E. Drug-Pazls Arranged Uging TARGET CELLPHONE 2

40. According to SVED Detective 1, on or aboub July
18, 2010, the CT placed a conpensually menitored and recouded
phone call to the direct connect number for TARGET CELLFHONE 2
and spoke with DUNSTON FOOTE, afkfa "Killa,” about purchasing
marijuana fxrom FODTE. In sum and subsgtance, dﬁring the CI'a
conversation with FOOTE, the CI reguested “two small bhoys* and
told FOOTE that the CT would meet FOOTE at the “down low” spot.®
After the call, the CI told SVED Detective 1 that “down low” 18
code for the CI Repidence,

41. Shortly thereafter, the CI, SVED Detective 1, and
cther law enforcement officers went to the CI Resildence. Inside
the CI Residence, SVED Detective 1 pearched the CI and installed
a video and recording device on the Ci‘s persdn and gave the CI
approximately 3600 in U.8., currency Lo ke used to purchage the
marijuana that the ¢T had requested from FOGTE.

42, SVPD Detective 1 and other law enforcament

officers then conducted visual survelllance oubaide of the €I

8 The call was predominantly in Patois, and the recording of

that call wag subsedquently tranglated by the CI. I have reviewed
the recording and iE corxrcborates the CIi's gtatements to BVPD

Detective 1,

15
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Regidence. According to SVPD Detective 1, Cfficer 1 saw FOOTE
arrive at the CI Residence in Vehicle 1, park in fromnt of the CI
Reaidence, get cut of Vehicle 1 holding an cbieck, and walk
inside the f£ront door of the CI Residence,

43. According to SVPD Detective 1, the O met with
avPD beteactive 1 ab a prearranged location goon after FOOTE
arrived at the CI Residence. Thgre, the T handed SVPD Detective
1 a substance wrapped in plastic that the CI sald was provided to
tha CI by FODTE.® According bo the I, FdDTE had given the CI
the substance after FOOTE entered the CI Regidence, and the QI
gave FOOTE $600.

44 . 8VPD Deteckivs 1, conducted a flaeld teat of Ehe
substance that the ¢ sald he/she had obtained from FOOTE, and it
tested positive for the presence of marijuana and weighed
approximately & ocunces.

45, I have reviewed the telephone tell records fox
TARGET CELLFHONE 2 for July 1%, 20310, which show that the
callphone number used by khe I contacted TAﬁGET CELLPHONE 2 on
the di%ect conntect number at the time that SVPD Detective 1L saw

the CI place a call to FOOTE,

F. Analygis of Telephone Recordy for the TARGET CELLPHONES

? After meeting with SVPD Detective 1, the T returned to the
€I Residence, where FCOTE wasd waiting.

20
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46. I have reviewed telephone toll records for TARGET
CELLPHONE 1 for the time period June 38, 2010 through July 27,
2010 (the “Time Period”}., There were approkimateiy 1231 incoming
and outgoling calls over TARGET CELLPHONE 1 during that 28-day
Time Pericd, to or from approximately 56 different telephone
numbers. OFf those 56 phone numbers, abt least 14 &re cellular
telephone numberes with Hew Yo;k area codes, and 37 are telephone
numbers with Jamaican ares eod&s;m The télephﬁne raecords foxr
TARGET CELLPHONE % show calls te and from, among cther numbears,
the following numbers:

a. A cellular telephone assigned call number

B45-538-5702, with pre-paid service provided by Sprint-Nextel
aince October 4, 2663, with the subgcriber *“Aland Zamor” and the
mogt recent subscriber éddress of 46 Shaxon Drive, Spring Valley,
¥Y 10877 (the *“Zamor Phone”). There was 1 contact hetween the
Zamor Phoﬁe and TARGET CELLPHONE 1 during the Time Period, on or
about July é,-znla. Baged on wmy review of records maintained by
Sprint-Nextel and criwminal history records, I believe the Hamor
Fhone ig used by an individual named ALLAND EZAMOR, who resides in
or around Spring Valley, New York. In January 2005, ALLAND ZAMOR
was convicted of a felony narcoticeg offense in Reckland County
Court, snd, Ffollowing his terw of impriscnment on thatb

gonviction, ZAMOR was released Lrom custedy in Gotobsxr 2007,

1 According te the CI, FOOTE told the CI that he has a brother
living in Jamaica who isg also involved in dealing marijuana.
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Bricr to thal conviction, ZAMOR was alsec arrested in Rockland
County and charged with posgegsion of marijuana iz November 2003.
b. A cellular telephone agsigned call number
917-TE7-8224, @ith pre-pald service provided by AT&T since June
2, 2010, with the subscfiber “Toraey Eanes® and the mogst recent
subpscriber address of 52 Edison Court,-ﬂpartmﬂnt o, Monsey, WY
10552 (the *Eanes Phone”). There were 16 contacts between the
Eanes Phone amd TARGET CELLPHONE 1 duxing the Time Period, with
the most recent contact occurying on or about July 20, 20510,
Baged on my review of records maintained by Sprint-Nextel and
c¢riminal higtory records, I b@lieve the Eaner Phone is used by an
individual named TOREY EANES, a/k/a "Mello,”™ afk!a “Mellow, who
regsides in or around Monsey, New York, in Rockland County. In
January 2002, EANES was cenvicted of criminal sale df marijuana
in Rockland Coﬁnty Court. According to SVPD Detective 1,
information maintained by the Rockland County Police Information
Network (the “RCPIN®} sghowed that TOREY ERNES, a/kfa “Mello,”
a/k/a *Mailow, v waé arregted in 2009 foxr posgession of stolen
property and, at the time of his arrest, EANES provided the
subscriber address above {52 Edison Court, Apartment I, Monsey,
¥Y 10952) as his place of residence. The CI told SVED Detective
1 that a person the CI knows as "Mellow"” used to purchage
marijuana from FOOTE and thab the CI has seen “Mellow” and FOOTE

tﬁgethef on a number of occasionsg., According to SVPD Detective
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1, the allases “Mellow" and “Mellow” are listed in the RCPIN as
aliages used by TOREY ERNES based on information cobtaipred during
FANES’ s previous arrests and other contacts with law enforcement,
SVED Detective 1 viewed a photograph of EANES maintalned by the
svPD and zaid that the CI's description of *Mellow” malched the
physical appearance of EANES. SVPD Detective 1 alsc sald that
BEANES 15 a known drug dealer in Spring Valley.

47. Qther 1éw enforcement officers and I have checked
nunerous datakases in an effort to identify the users of the
telephene numbars that have made contact with TARGET CELLPHONE 1,
Init, other than the telephons numbers used by the CI, ALLARND
YAMOR, and TOREY EANES, no other users have been identified to
date. HMNonetheless, baéed on my experience and wmy participation
in this investigation, T believe that TARGET CELLPHONE 1 is being
nsed by FOOTE for trafficking narcotics hecause:

a. According to the €I, the CI has been with
FOOTE when FOOTE has uged TARGET CELLPHONE 1 for arranging Eox
the shipment or receipt of drugs on numerous occasions over the
past year and has witnessed FOOTE speaking witk other members of
the Foote Organizabtion on TARGET CELLPHONE 1 as recently as late
May or early June 2410;

b, According to SVED Detective 1 and my review
of relevant recordings, the CI spoke with FOOTE on TARGET

CELLPHONE 1 on July 1, 2010 and, during that call, the CI ordered
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a guantity of marijuara from FOOTE, which FOOTE subseguently

delivered to the CI.

48, T have reviewed telephone toll records For TARGET
CELLPHOWE 2 for the Time Period. There were approximately 2579
incoming and outgoing calls over TARGET CELLPHONE 2 during the
Time Periqd, to or from approximately 76 diffexernt telephone
numbers, OFf those 76 phnge numbers, at least 43 are cellular
telephone numbers with New York area codes, amd 5 are telephone
numbers with Jamaican area codes, The telephone reccords for
TARGET CELLPHCNE 2 show calls to and from, amoﬁg other mumbers,
the following:

a, A cellular telegphone assigned call number 347-

235-5855, with pre-paid service provided by Sprint-Nextel since
April 29, 200%, with the subscriber “Joden Thompson® and
subscriber addresg P.O. Box 549646, Irvine, C& 92619, According
to the I, a cellphone with call number 347-235-58585 ig used by
CLOVAL TAYLOR, afk/z “Clove,” a person who Lthe CI knowe deals
druge with FOOTE (the “Taylor Phone”} . There were
approximately 175 contacts between the Tayior FPhone and TARGET
CELLPHCOKE 2 during the Time Periecd, The wmost recent contact was

ol or abouit July 27, 2010.

i The CI showed me the CI'e cellphone, and I saw that the cali
munker for the Tavlor Phone 1g ligted in the CI‘s celliphone under
the namese “Clove.”
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b A cellular telephones asglgned call number
347-892-0442, with pre-paid service provided by Sprint-Naxtel
aince May 12, 2009, with the subgcoriber “Colin Farrow' and
subscriber address P.O. Box 54988, Irvine, CB 9261%. According
to the CI, a cellphone with call number 347-892-0442 ig used by
PN LNU, a/k/a “Frankie,* a person who the CI knows deala drugs
with FOOTE (the *Frankie Phone?} . There ware approximately 63
contacts between. the ¥rankie Phone and TARGET CELLPHONE 2 during
the Time Periocd. The moeet recent contact was on or aboul July
27, 2610,

c, The “Zamor Phone” {described in paragraph
43{a)y. There were 61 coniacts bétween the Zamor Phorne and
TARGET CELLPHONE 2 during the Time Period. The mosi recent
contact was on ox about July 24, 2810.

49, PBased on my experisnce, I bhelieve that there were

- an unusually high mumber of incoming and cutgoing calls on the
TARGET CHELLPHORES during the Time Period and that such call
fraguency is congistent with the use of the TARGET CELLPHONES as
part of a drug distribution organization. In additiom, the
TARGET CELLPHONES both: use prepaid services. Baged on

information T have learned from variocus cellphone gervice

2 The CI showed me the CI’'s cellphone, apd I saw that the
call number for the Frankle Phone ig listed in the ¢I'g celliphone
under the name *Frankie, hocording to SVED Detegtive 1, the CI

has called the Frankie Phone and has epoken with “Frankie”
reagarding the receipt and distribution of narcotics, The CI also
stated that the CI has seen larue guantities of marijuana at a
ragidence where the €I believes “Frankle® lives.
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providers, prepald celliphone service doea net require
verification of khe name or address of the subscriber. In my
egperience, individuals involved in the distributlon of drugs
often use prepaid cellphone services to evade law enforcement by
providing & false name %ndfﬂr address.

5¢. I have conducted an analysisg to find common calls
made by TARGET CELLPHORE 1 and TARGET éELLPHGNE 2. Fzrom thias
analysis, I Eave learnsed that TARGET CELLPHONE 1 and TARGEY
CELLPHONE 2 have both had contacts witk the following eight
telephone numbers during the Time Period:

a. TARGET CELLPHONE 1 had contact with the phone
number 718-600-7252 46 times, and TARGET CELLPHONE 2 had contact
with the samé number 149 times.

b. TARGET CELLPHONE 1 had contact wikh tLhe phone
nugtheyr 845—295~Eﬁiﬁ 10 times, and TARGET CELLPHONE 2 had contact
with the mame number 17 times.

C. TARGET CELLPHOME 1 had contact with the phone
number 545-454-4G?G 4 times, and TARGET CELLDHONE 2 had contact
with the game nunber 304 Cimes,

d. TARGET CELLPHOME 1 had contact with the phone
nmuther 845-521-6498 4 times, and TARCET CELLFHONE 2 had contact
with the sgame number 7 times,

e, TARGET CELLFHdHE 1 had contact with the phone

number 845-538-5702 (the Zamor Phone} 1 bime, and TARGET
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CELLPHONE 2 had contact with the same number 61 times.

E. TARGET CELLPHONE 1 had contact with the phone
numbey £45-608-3911 2 times, and TARGET CELLFHONE 2 had contact
with the same number 152 times.

g. TARGET CELLPHONE 1 had contact with the phﬂné
number 845-764-3555 28 times, and TARGET CELLPHONE 2 had contact
with the same number.l time,

L. TARGET CELLPHONE I had contact with the phone
number 876-382-840¢ 14 times, amd TARGET CELLPHONE 2 had contact
‘with the same number 1 time.

51. Based on the foregoing, I believe that the TARGET
CELLPHONES are being usged by DUNSTON FOOTE, a/k/a “Killa,” to
diptribute narcotics, T believe that FOOTE will conitinue ta use
the TARCET CELLPHONES for these purposes in the future.

TTI. ALTERNATIVE TNVESTIGATIVE PROCEDURES HAVE BEEN TRIED OR
APFEAR UNLIXELY TO SUCCEED IF TRIED; THERE 1§ A NEED FOR THE
INTERCEDPTTON OF WIRE COMMUNICATICNS OVER THE TARGET
CELLPHONES '

52. The principal goale of this investigation are to
identify, locate, and arrest persgons responsible for the
distribution of marijuwana and cocalne in and around Spring
valley, and to gather evidence against those responsible for
running the organization and to identify and locate the sources
that pupply the Foote Organization with large quantities of
parcotics. We are investigating net only the currently

{dentified TARGET SUBJECTS, but also all of the narcotics
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suppliers, other customersg, distributers that work in the Foote
Organization, and assoclates, as well as the locations at which
the TARGET SUBJECTS store narcotles and the wmethods by waich they
operate_their_ﬂarcoticautraffisking businezgs and how they digpose
of the proceeds of that narcotice trafficking.

53. TIntercepting wire communicatlong over the TARGET
CELLPHCHWES will assist law enforcement officers in fulily
revealing the nature and scope of the TARGET SUBJECTS’ narcotics
trafficking activities. Specifically, imterceptions over the
TARGET CELLPHONES may reveail the gource or sources of supply for
the Foote Grganizatian. Such interceptions will enable the DEA
and the other law enforcement groups Wiﬁh which the DEA is
working to gather esvidence that otherwise would not be able to be
gathered by more traditional Investigative technigues.

54. Other investigative technigues, described herein,
have beesn tried, including the purchases of mariljunana, physical
surveillance,'and the use of a confidential informant. While
those efforts have been fruitful, interception over the TARGET
CELLPHONES is reguired hecause other investigative techniquea can
not Fully reveal the nature and scope of the TARGET SUBJECTES
narcotlce traffilcking activity. It is anticipated that
interception over the TARGET CELLPHONES will assist in contimming
to identify the means and methods by which the Foote Orgasnization

cbtains a reguiar supply of marijuwana and ceocaine and the
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individuals who are invelwved in the provision of that supply.

55, It is further anticipated that the interceptions
of wire communicationsg will assist in certinuing €o identify the
iocation of stash houses, the source of financing for the
organization, and the locations and dispositions of the proceeds
from those activities. 1In addition, it is anticipated that new
targets would be identified through intercepted communications
and thege intercepted communications wnuld.provide valuahle
evidence and intelligence about incoming narcotics shipmenta and
on~going marcotics trafficking.

56, As discussed below, several other investigativé
.techniques have been tried, or reasonably appear likely to f£all
if tried, or are likely to jeopardize the investigation 1f tried.
Tt the absence of the reguested authorimation of ﬁire
interceptions occurring over the TARGET CELLPHONES, there are nc
means of determining the internal operations of the Foote
Organization, including when, where, and how the Foote
Organization ohtains its supply of narcotics, the existence and
locatlons of records relating to narcotics txafficking, the
location and source of redources used to flnance the illegal
activities, and the location and disposition of the proceads from
thogse activitles. It is only through the comblmnation of wire
purvelillance, visual surveilllance, and other investigatory tools

that the agents expect to identify fully the nature and scope of
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the crganization. Accordingly, there is a éompelling nead in
this came for wire gurveillance of the TARGET CELLPHONES,
Physlcal Surveillance

57. Law enforcement officers of the DEA, the Task
Force, the Spring Valley Police Department, the Ramapo Pcolice
Department, Suffern Police Department, and cthers haﬁe'ceﬂducted,
and are contimuing to corduct (when appropriate}, physical
survelllance of wmembers of the Foote Organization. Physical
purvelllance, coupled with the information from the CI, has been
productive and has led to the identification of some individuals
assoclated with the Foote Organization, including DUNSTON FOOTE,
a/k/a “"Kiila," CLOVAL TAYLCOR, a/k/a “Clove,” and BWIGHT MORGAN.
However, it ig only through the combination of wire surveillance,
physical gurveillance, and cobher investlgatory toola, however,
that the agents expect, to identify fully the nature and scops of
the organization.

58. TFor example, EPD Detective 1 and ofher law
enfarcement officers have continued to conduct physical
surveillance of the Foote Residence, desgeribed above, through tha
use of a pole camera. The pole camera survelllance of the Foote
Regidence has provided useful information in the investigation,
including evidence of large packages of whal appears Lo be
narcotice being transported into and out of the Foote Residence

by DUNSTON FOOTE, a/k/a “Killa.” Based on the information I have
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reviewed from that survelllance, I believe that the Foote
Crganization stores scme of their supply of marcotics at the
Foote Residence, |

59. Pole camera survelllance alone, however, would not
iikely vield conclusive evidence of the scope of the distribubion
network of the Foote Qrganizabtion, the roles of the co-
coﬁapirators, or the particlpation of members who do not 9o to
the Poote Residence., In addition, while surveillance has
revealed what appears to be narcoticg-related activity at the
Foote Resideﬁce, it has not revealed the type or quantity of
drugs being transported by the Foote Organization for
distribution, and such survelllance has not revealed where
packages brought to the Foote Residence are being obtained.
Physical surveillance of the Foote Residence has been useful to
corroborate information provided by the CI regarding the drug-
related activities of DUNSTON FOOTE, a/k/a *Killa, " but does not
provided the context or substance of the meetimgs between co-
congpirators and does not reveal the mature of théir
communications, and ig thevefore insufficient to meet the goals
of the investigation.

60, In additiomn, aécor&ing o RPD Detective 1, the
Focte Residence ig located on a horaé—shoe shaped road, near =
park, in a remote location outside of Suffern, New York, .Because

of the locaticon, law enforcement oifficers are not able to follow
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FOOTE or any vehicles coming or goiﬂg.frcm the Foote Reszidence
without alerting FOOTE or other TARGET SUBJECTS to thelx
preagence,

61L. EurVEillaﬁce ig also a limited investigative tool
because gome of the TARGET SUBJECTS remaln unideantified and there
ig limited information about the specific locations in which they
operate. Morveover, based on wmy experience amd training, and my
participation in this investigation, narcotica traffickers are
axtremely surveillance-conscious. Accordingly, increased
surveillance couid alert the TARGET SUBJECTS to the exisgtence of
the invegtigation, and cauge them to relocate.or temporarily
ceage thedly illegal sctivities, thereby hind&riﬁg rhe
investigation. - Furthermore, even if auccessaful, purveillance
will provide only limited corrohoration of the illicit narcobics
activities of the TARGET SUBJECTS. -

62. It ip expected that information that can be
obtained from intercepticong over the TARGET CELLPHONES will help
law enforcement agents determine the ldentitiss of the subjects
involved and track their activitlesa, thereby enhancing the
prospects for more fruitful physical surveillance of those
activiﬁies. In addition, with the knowledge provided heforehand
by wire surveillance that a wmeeting is to take place at a given
location, 1t may be possible to establish physical surveiliance

at that iccation in advance, thus minimizing the rigks of
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discovery inherent in following subjects or remaining at targeb
locations for extended pericds of time. ire gurveillance wouid
better enahlie law enforcement to coordinate physical and
electronic surveillance of guch drug transactions, potentially
facilitating the seizure of narcotice and narcotics-related
proceeds, and the arrest of TARGET SUBIECTS.

632. For the reasong described above, Eurveillance.
alone fig insufficient to meet the goazals of the investigation,
accordingly, there ig a compelling need in this case for wire
surveillaﬁae of the TLREET CELLPHONES.

Arvents

64, tbtempting to arrest the TARGET SURJECTS now
would mean that several of the objectives of this investigation
would be unfulfilled. B8pecifically, although gome of the members
of tﬁe Foote Organization have been identified through the CI,
arresting them at this point would almost certainly cause other
members of the Foote Organizatlon, inciuding the sources of
supply and unidentified coconspirators, to temporarily ceass
thelr illegal activities or to change the locations,
instrumentalities, and metheds used to conduct their lliegal
activities.

65. Based on information coktained during the
investigation thus far, I believe that DUNSTON FOOTE, a/k/a

“Killa,* deals with the organization’s suppliliera. Based on my
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training, experience, and participation in the investigation, I
believe that although it is possible that FGDTE_wuuld cooperate
with law enforcement if arrested, it is by no wmeans certain that
he wouid.do g0, Tt is therefore uncertain whether arrests would
lead to the identification of the Foote Organization’s suppliers,
or to evidence ghowing the participation of the puppliers in drug
distribution. =

66. Arresgting the iﬁentified TARGET SUBJECTS and
attempting to obtaln thelr cooperation in invegtigating the
narcetica trafficking of fheir eriminal associates ia an
investigative route that, in my judgment and the judgment of
other law enforcement officers invelved, is not reaponably likely
ro reault in law enforcement learning the identities of the
organization’s suppliexrs, the disposition of its narcotics
proceeds; oxr the identities of the additional co-conspirators.

ﬁﬂe_nf Confidential Informants

€7. This investigation has involved obtaining
information from and the active use of a confidential informant
who previously warkad as a drug dealer in the Foote Urganizatiom,
as descfibed above. Although the CT has provided wvaluable and
corroboraked information, at this time there is no known
confidential source that can provide information about all of the
Fopte Organization’s sources of supply and their locations, ail

of the_linké in the chaln of supply (including FOOTE' =2
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connections at the Post Office}, and all of the Foote
Organization’s workers and customers.

£8. Narcotice organizations are genexally highiy
compartmentalized, and it is usually impossible for an informant
to gain access to all asgpects of an organization’s illegal
activities. Thus, the use of confidentlal informants alone i=s
typlecally inadequate o develop avidence about the TARGET
SUBJECTS’ supplliexs and customners.

62, In addition, basged on my experience as a naraotics
investigator, I 5e1ieve that drug traffickers are unlikely to
Alacuse the full extent of their organlzation’s activities or
membership with any individual, subordinate member of the
organization. Based on wmy experience, I also know that narcotics
organizations are often highly protective of their ascurces of
gupply. |

7. TIntercepting callp over the TARGET CELLPHONES iz
likely to provide information and evidence that the CI cannot
alone provide. .Intercepted calle are likely to be ugeful in
identifying co-conspirators who are unkaown to the CI, and to
provide evidence against the members of the Foote Organizatiom.
Intercepted calls are likely to be ugeful imn identifving
locations where drugs are stoved which are unknown to the CI, and
additionally are 1ikelv to be usgeful in providing evidence

showing where drugs and drug proceeds are located at particular
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inetances, about which the CI's knowledge is necessarily limited.
Intercepted calls are additionally likely to bhe upeful in
corroborating informatlen provided by the CI.

71. Aadditionally, since hisa arrsest in tha

¢TI has not participated in the day-to-day drug businesgs of the
Foote Organization. It appears that DUNSTCN FOOTE, a/k/a
“Killa,” and his co-conspirators have kept the CI from
participating further in their drug distribution organization at
this time,

72, The information provided on one occasion by CONROY
BROWE alao chrcborates the information provided by the CI, but
iz subject to the same limitations discusred above., In addition,
as stated by BROWN and the CI, BROWN is no longer participating
in the drug trafficking conspiracy and weould bhe uniikely to be
able to gain access to information about the Foote Organizatiom's
drug distributions activities, sources of supply, and current
members of the congpiracy.

73, Based on my knowledge of this investigation and ﬁy
experience as a narcobics in%estigatcr, T bhelieve that the
interception of the communications of the TARGET CELLPHONES is
aggential to reveal the identities of co-conspirators and the
structure and operatlon of the Foste Crganization. Without the
evidence cbrtained from court-authorized interceptions, I an

confident that the objectives of thig investigation cannct be
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met.
Tse of Undexcover Agents

74. There is currently no expectation that an
undercover officer would be able to determine the full scope of
the TARGET SUBJECTS' operations, meet and identify all of the
other TARGET SUBJECTS and their co-congplrators, or identify the
TARGET SUBJECTS’ narcotics suppliers and their confederates. I
do not helieve that an undercover officer could infiltrate the
Foote Drganizatién with the agaistance of the CI, because the
menbers of the Foote Organization have distanced themaelvgs from
Fhe OT zince hils arrest. Any effort to de so would likely alert
the TARGET SUBJECTS to the CI's cocperation, compromising the
CI’z safsty and the goals of the investigation.

75, As detailed above, while the €I has been able to
make purchases of drugs from DUNSTON FOOTE, a/k/a "Kilia,” due to
rhe compartmentalized nature of the Foote Organization, there is
no expectation that any undercover agent will be able to deal
directly with FOOTE'a sources of supply to purchase drugs or
infiltrate the inmer workings of the Foote Organization.

Telephone Toll Records

76, Telephone toll records have been and will be usged
in this investigation, but will provide only limited information.
T have obtained and reviewed telephone toll records for the

TARGET CELLPHONES and other cell phones believed to be used by
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DUNSTON FGOTE, a/k/a “Killa,” and other members of the Foote
Organization, Phone records, however, do not enable law
enforcement officers to identify with certainbty the persons
involved in the conversations or the significance of the
communications in the context of ongoing narcotics trafficking.
Among other problems, a telephone number appearing in the records
may noﬁ he listed or subscribhed im the name{g) or address(es) of
the persgon(s) actually using the telephone, Furthermore, the use
of calling cards and telephone accegsd nﬁmhers often hides the
uitimate numbers called, therehy preventing law enforcement from
learning the participants involved in any particular
communication. In addition, the review of telephone records will
not, in itgelf, reveal the Structure.mf the Foote Organization or
its sources of supply.
Faderal Grand Jury

77, The issuance of grand jury subpoenas 18 likely to
be inadequate to obtain eritical information about the timing and
location of narcotics tranmactions. Wltnesses who wmight provide
additicnal relevant evidence to a grand jury have not been
identified or would themselves be participants im the narcotics
trafficking. Because such individuals would face prosecution
themselves, it 1s unlikely that any of them would testify
voluntaxily. Nor would it be desirable at this time to seek

immunity for gpuch individuals and to compel their testimony.:
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Imnunizing them could thwart the publiec policy that they be held
accountable for their crimes. Furthermore, the ilssuance of grand
jury subpoenas to other individuals would risk alerting the
TARGET SUBJECTS to the ongoing investigation before their sources
of supply are identified and located. HMorxeover, not all of the.
TRRGET SUBJECTS have heen identified and, in the absence ef
further evidence identifving co-conspirators and thelry respective
involvement in the Foote Organizatiom, it is diffidcullt to
determine whom to subpoena to the Grand Jury;
Witness Interviews

78. I believe that intexviews of the TARGET SUBJECTS
or their known associates would produce insufficient information
as to the identities of all of the persong involved with the
TARGET SUBJECTS inm narcoticd trafficking, the sources and
locations of the druﬁs, the scurces of financing, the locatlons
of records and proceeds from the distribution of drugs, and other
pertinent infoxmation regaxding the TARGET OFFENSES. I alec
belleve that any responaés to the interviews, particularly
interviews of those who are higher up in the organization, could
contain a gignificant mumber of untruths, diverting the
investigation with false leads or ctherwise frustfating the
investigation. I bellieve that guestioning any of the remaining
co-conspirators would alert the other co-comspirators, and causge

a change in their wmethods of operation and the concealment or
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destruction of evidence before all of the co-conspiratoxs are
identified, thereby compromising the investigation and resulting
ir the possible loss of valuable evidence, and the poesibility of
harm to the ¢I, whose. identity may become known or whose
exigtence may otheriwise be compromiped.
Bearch Warrants

79, The investigation has revealed information that
would likely enable the DEA to obtain and execute a search
warrantd for the Foote Residence, deecribed above. While
executing search warrants abt that location may result in the
seizure of pertinent evidenﬂe; it would also alert the TARGET
SUBJECTS to the existence of the investigation withouwkbt the
likelihood of dekermining the full scope of the organlzabilon's
operationg, particularly the organization’s souxrces of suppl?,
Fhe Ldentities of all of the co-ceongpirators, or other locations
where narcotics are stashed.

a0. Further information is needed to identify the
means and methods by which the Foote Crganization abfains a
supply of narcotiles, and the locations where the drugs and drug-
distribution proceeds are trangported and stored. The execuﬁion
of a search warrant at the Foote Residence i not likely to lead
to the identification of other locations usged by the Foote
Crganization. Mor is it Iikely to lead to the identification of

co-conspirators who participate in obtaining or selling the Foote
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Qrganization’a supply of drugs.

g1. The locations where the TARGET SUBJECTS currently
receive, hide, and distribute their narcotics and narcotics
proceeds have not been fully identified. Moreover, without wire
surveillance, law enforcement will not know when the locations
contain narcctics,_narcotics proceeds, and other evidence of the
TARGET OFFENSES. I believe that wire surveillance will =asasist
law enforcement in contipuing to identify locationsg where
narcotics and narcotics proceeds are currently Etoreﬁ, ard
determine when such contraband ig at such locations, so that
search warrants for such locations may be obtained while
contraband iz still present at the lecationg.

82. Accordingly, and because the above-degeribed
investigative technigues are limited in thelr applications, have
heen unsuccesgful, or are unlikely to be successful,
authorization to intercept wire communlcabions over the TARGET
CELLPHONRS la necesgary to identify and develop evidence against
the TARGET SURBJECTS.

MININIZATION

B3. ALl monitoring of wire communications over the
TARGET CELLPHORES will be minimized ir accordance with Chapterx
115 of Title 18, United States Code,

84, The “investigative or law enforcement officers of

the United States” and translators, if necesgary, who ars to
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carry out the requested interception of wire communications, will
be instructed concerning the steps they should take to avaoid
infringing upon any attorney-client privilege or other recognized
privileges. In addition, all communications Intercepted will he
conducted in such a way a8 to minimize the interception of
communlcabions not obherwise criminal in nature orx subject to
interception under Chapter 119, Titlé 13, United States Cods.

2ll monitoring will cease when it is determined that the
menitored conversation is not criminal in nature, Interceptidn
will be sugpended immediately when it is determined through voice
identification, physical survelllance, or othexwise, that TARGET
SUYRJECTS or any of their confederates, when identified, are not
participants in the conversation, unless it is determined during
the porticn of Ehe convergation already overheard that the
convergation is criminal in pature, If an lnterception is
minimized, monitoring agents shall spot check to insure that the
canversation has not turned to criminal matters.

85. Tt is requested that the order provide that, if
necespary, translators be authorized to assist in conducting this
wire gurveillance and to receive disgclosure of intercepted
cammunications; Certain subiects of this investigation may
compunicate with each other in a Jamaican dialect known as
Patois. It ia therefore necegsary to secure the sgervices of

Patols-speaking agente and officers of the DEA, Task Force, ICE,
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USP3, and the Spring Valley, Ramapo, and Suffern Police
Departments, among other law enforgement agencies, in oxdexr to
asslst the agents in monitoring the wire suxvelllance and
translating the intercepted communications, All such Patois-
gpeaking ocffilcers will ke “ﬁeputizad".as DEL Task Force officexs.
Tt is further reguested, pursuant to Section 25LB{5), Title 18,
United States Code, khat in the event the intarcepted
communications are in ﬁ code or Foreign language or foreign
dialect, and an expert in that code or foreign language or
dialect is not reasonably availlable during the interception
pericd, that minimization may be accomplished as scon as
practicable after such intercepticn.
AUTHORIZATION REQUEHET
86, Based on the foregoing, it is my opinion that the

interception of wire communications occurring over the TARGET
CELLEHONES, as specified above, is essential to uncover the full
scope of the iilegal activity describad.

| 87. TInasmuch as the illegal operation derpcribed herein
is a continuing conspiracy invelving numerous persons as yekb
unidentified and unknown, it i1z reguested that it be ordered, as
more fully stated in the acgompanying application, that
authorization to intercept not terminate when the socught wire
communicationg are f£irst obitained, but continue until

interception fully reveals the cbjectives set forth above, ox for
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a period of thirty {30] days, whichever is earliex. The 30-day
period shall be measured from the earlier of the day on which
investigative or law enforcement officers first begin to conduct
the intexception or 10 days from the date of this Court’'s Order.

88. Pugsunant to the provisions of Title 18, United
States Code, Sections 2518(4}, it is reguested thaﬁ it_be-ordered
that T-Moblle and Sprint-Nexteland any subseguent service
provider which provides service to the TARGET CELLPHONES, Furnish
the technical assistance necegsary to accomplish the interception
unobtrusively and with a minimum of interference with such
gervices as the provider accords the persons whose communiecabions
are to be intercepted, includiné all dial digite {for both
incoming and outgoing calls), pen register information, and audio
interception capability whether the TARGEY CELLPHONES are in
roaming mode or otherwise. It is furthexr requested that the
service providers maintain service to the TARGET CELLPHONES for
the period of interception and any extensions thereto. The
aggistance of the providers is requlired to accomplish the
objectives o the requeatéd interceptions, Reasonable expensges
incurred pursuant te this activity will be processed for payment
by the DEA.

g9. In addition, there iz probable cause Lo believe
that bthe location of the TARGET CELLPHONES at times determined by

iﬁveatigators will constitunte or lead to evidence of the TARGET
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OFFENSES. The ability to determine the logation of DUNSTON
FOOTE, a/fk/a *Killa,” and other co-conapirators will pexmit
membery of the investigative bteam to conduct surveillance of the
TARGET SUBJECTS., Conducting such aurveillancé may enable
investigators to identify additional evidence, co-conspirators,
and locations of contraband.

80, Becauge the zneed for contemporaneous Information
concerning the intercepted communicationsg isg especially important
in the present investigation, i1t is EFurther requested thaf T-
Mobile and Sprint-Nextel be ordered, pursuant teo Federal Rule of
Criminal Procedure 41 and 138 ﬁ.S.C. § 2703, to provide
originating and terminating cell site information for the
intercepted wire communications over the TARGET CELLPHONES, by
permitting access to such information, as well as any available
latibtude/longitude or Global Pogsitloning System (“GRS¥)
information or E-911 Syatem, for the interxcepted wire
comrunlcakions, by permitbing accese to such inforwmatlon, at any
time of day or night, for a period of thirty {30) days. There is
probable cause te believe that the locatlon of the TARGET
CELLPHONES at times determined by investigators will constitute
or lead to evidence of the TARGET OFFEﬁSES.

91i. It is further requested that T-Mobile and Sprint-
Nextel, providers of electronic communications service as defined

in Title 18, United States Code, Section 2510{i5), sghall disclose
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ta bhe United States and the DEA published and non-published
subscriber information and toll records and information relevant
to this imvestigatlon, that is, all such information pertaining
to the telephone numbers asaocclated with telephones, digital
digplay devices, and mobile telephones used, if any, which may he
regquasted in furtherance of the investigation, within 24 houza of
sald request, there being reason to balieve that the contents of
the informaticn sought are relevank to a legitimate law
enforcement inquiry;

92. It ig Further requested that any tracing operstion
and the use of caller ideﬁtificatiqn service for the TARGET

CELLPHONES bhe without geographical limit,
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43, Tt is reguested that this Affidavit, as it reveals
an ongolng inveatigatien; be sealed until Further order pf the
Court in order to avoid premature disclosure of the
investigation, guard against fugitives, and batter ensure the

aafaty of agents and othersg.

i y _
Walter Alcivar }

Task Force Officer
WESTOHESTER COUNTY DRRUG ENFORCEMENT
TASKE FCORCE

Villeg  foet Chaso P2

day of August 2030

(1l Soudie?

UNTTED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

zw rn to bhefore me this
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County Drug Enforcement Task Force {the “Task Force”), which ie
comprigaed of épeciai agents from the Drug Enfercsmaﬁt
adminiptration (“DEA*} and police offlcers from local poliice
dopartments, I am alsc an officer with the Fort Cheatar Pollce
Department. Since becoming a member of the Task Forve, I have
condugted numerous investigations of unlawful drug trafficking in
violation of 21 U.&.C., §§ 841, 221(a) (1), 843(b}, and 84§, and
have conducted or participated in wire and physical surveillance,
gurvelliance of undercover transactions, the intéodﬂﬂtion of
undgaroover agents, the execution of search warrantdg, debriefings
of informants and reviews of taped conversationg and drug
recorde. I have also participated in investlgations that have
inciuded the interception of wire communiecations, and I have
reviewed taped conversations and drug racorde relating to

- narcotics trafficking. Through my training, eduvcation and
experience, I have bhecdome familizar with the manney in which
illegal drugs axe transported;lstored, and distributed and the
methods of payment for such drugs.

2. I submit this affidavit in support of an
application for an order pursuant to fection 2518 of Titls 18,
United States Code, authorizing ths intercaption angd recorxding --
in the case of TARGET CELLPHONE 2, the continued interceptioﬁ and
recording and in the cawe of TARGET CELLPRONE 3 the origimal

interception and recording -- of wire communications concerning
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offenges enumerated in Section 2516 of Title 18, Imited States
Code -- that dle, ofifenses Involving the distribwmtion of, and
possession with intent Lo distribute, controllied subatances, the
use of wire facilltieg to facilitate the same, conspiracy to do
the pame and attempts to do the same, in wvielation of 21 U.8.C.
84 843i{a) {1}, B43{b), and 846 {Lthe "TARZET OFFENSES#)} J’

3. For the reasons set out in thisg affidavit, T
balisve that thers is probable cauge to believ&lthat the TARGET
QFFENSES have been committed, are heing committed, and will
contiaue En be committed by one or wmore of the following
indiwviduals: DUNSTON PFOOTE, afk/a “*Killa,” CLOVAL TAYLOR, a/k/a
"(love,” DWIGHT MORGEN, FNU LEU, a/k/a "Frankie,* PNO LNU, a/kfa
“ELeve, " FRU LMNO, af]-:fa “Dirty," FET LNU “Chris,” ALLAND Z4MOR,
TOREY BANES, a/k/a “Meilo,” afk/a "Hellow,” CONROY BEOWN, KENMAR
CHAMBERS, BATALTE EROWN, a/kfa “Danisha,” RALYMOND DORSEY, afk/a
"Ray," afkfa “Smoksa,” TROY MONTIOMERY, afkfa “Scrapie,” DROMYNEAY
MONTGOMERY, af/k/a *Drammy,” RAYMOND JACKSON, a/k/a “Migiva,¥ amd
others as yvet unﬁnﬂﬁn {the “FARGET BUBJECTS”), and that
particular communications concerning the TARGET OFFENSES will ke
chtained through interception of the TARGET CELLERONES (defined

in paragraph 7 below) Authorization is sought hereln to

. Although not a predicate offense undex 28 U.5.C. § 2516,
there is probable cause to believe that the TARGET SUBJECTS (as
supsequently defined herein} have aided and abstted and are
aiding ard abetting thoss substantive offenses, in vioclation of
18 #.5.C. & Z.
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“h, TARGET ORLLPHONE 2 had contact with' the phone
thmber B45-548-5041 5 times, and TARGET CELLPHORE 3 had contact
with the same number ¢ Cimes.

i, TARGET CELLPHONE Z had contact with the phone
number 347-403-765%2 8 times, and TARGET CELLPHOME 3 had contact
with the game number one time.

I TARGET CELLPHONE 2 had contact with the phons
nunher 843-282-3588 22 Limea, and TARGET CELLPHONE 3 had contact
with the same number 22 times.

6. Based on the Foragoing, T bhslisve that the TARGET
CELLPHONES ars belng used by DUESTON %QOTE, g/k/a "Killa," and
FNU N0, afkfa “Frankie,” Fﬂ digtripbute narcotice, I belleve
that FOOTE and FNU LNU, a/k/a *Frankie, ¥ will gontimne to uss tha

TARGET CELLPHOWES for these purposes in the fubuye.

IT. ALYTERNATIVE TNVESTIGATIVE PROCEDURES HAVE BEFN TRIED O

ADPRAR UNLIKELY Te SUCCEED IF TRIEDR: THERE I8 A NEED IOR 'THE

INTERGEDTION OF WIRE COMMIBNICATIONS OVER THE TARGET
CELLPHONES

57. The pringipal geoals of thip inveatigation are to
Identify, locate, and arrest persong resgponsibie for the
diptribution of marijuana and cocalne in and around Spriné
Valley, and to gather evidence agalngt those responamibis for
running the crxganization and to identify ﬁnd locate the sources
that supply the Foote Organization with laxge guantities of
narcﬂtiﬁa. We are investigating not only ths durtently

identified TARGET HSUBJECTS, but also all of the naycotics

3z
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suppliarz, other customery, diastribubors that work in the Foote
Organizatlion, and agacciates, as well as the 1aeations-at which
the TARGET AUBIELNTY =btore nargebics and bthe methods by which thay
operate thelr narcotics-trafficking business and how they diépuﬁe
of The procgeds of that narcotics trafficking.

58. The intercepiion of wire communications over
TARGET CELLPEONE 1 and TI}RGET CELLPFHGEE 2 pursuant Lo Che August
¢ OUrdetr hag provided valuable evidence against the TARGET
SUBJECTS. ccntinugd interception of wire communications over the
TARGET (ELLPHONE 2 and orlginal interception of wire
communicationy over TARGET CELLPHONE 3 ars requilred, howavar,
becauge the interception of wire communications £o date have not
fully revealed the nature and scope cof the TARGET SUBJECTS
narcotice trafficking aetiﬁity“ -

59, The Interceptions to date have not ildeptified, for
oxampla, the ldentities of all the members of the Foote
Organizatlion. DUNSTON FOOTE, a/kfa “Killa,” and FNU INU, a/k/=
“Frankie,” and others make deliveries inside and near buildings
where physical survelllance le challenging. Whils the
interceptions of wire cﬂmﬁunicatimﬂ over TARGET CELLPHONE 1 and
TARGET CELLPHCNE 2 has provided vaiuable information about the
othey members of the Foote Organization, additional intercapticn
iz nesded to confirm the identify of theme individuals., The

investigation has also not yst identified the suppliers for the

38
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Foote Organization, the locatlons of all the organization‘s ptash
hottgeg, the amources of financing for the organization, and the
lLocations and dispogition of the proceseds f&ﬂm the grganization’s
narcotice trafficking activities, wWhile the wire communication
interceptions and physiéal surveillance, in rombination, have
provided valuable information about pogsible stash houses wused by
the Foobte Organization, further interception ig needed to confirm
that the locations are stash houses and to ldentify other
possible stash houses,

6%, Intercepting wlre communlecations over the TARGET
CELLPHONES will assist law enforcement officersg in fully
ravealing the nature and scope of the TARGET SUBJECTS’ nargotigs
trafficvking adbivities, Specifically, interceptions over thé
TARGEY CEDLPHONES may reveal-the éburce or sourcss of supply fox
the Pocke Organizatlon. Such interceptiona will enable the DEA
and the other law anforcement groups ﬁith whrich the DER lg
worklng to gather evidsnce that otherwise would not be able to ha
gathered by more tyaditlonal investigative ftechniques.

61. ©Other inveatilgative techniques, described hersin
and in the August 4 Affidavit, have been tried, inrluding the
purdhasges of warijuvana, yhysiéal sprvaillanae, and the usa of a
confidentlal informant. While thomse efforts have baen fruitful,
interception over the TARGET CELLPHONES ias required haonusae other

invegtigative techniques .can net fully reveal the nature and

37
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geope of the TARGET SUBJECTS' narcotica traffieking activity. It
is anticipated that interception over ths TARGET CELLPHONES will
assist in continuing to identify the means and methods by which
the Poots Organizaticn obtains a regular supply of marijuana and
ccc#ine and the individuals who are involved in the provision of
that sugply.

62, It ils further anticipated that the interceptions
of wire communlcations willil apsist in continuing o identifg the
location of stash houses, the sourds of financing for the
organization, and the locatlone aud dispositions of the proceeds
from those acéivities. In addition, it ip anticipated that new
targsts wﬁuld be identified through intercepted communleations
and these Intercepted Eommuﬁications would provide valuahle
evidence and intelligence about incoming narcotics shipments and
on-going narceotice trafficking. |

63. Aas discupsed below, several other investigative
technigues have been tried, oy reascnably appear liksly tao Fail
if tried, or are llkely to jeopardiza the investigation if tried.
in the absence of the requedted authorization of wire
interceptions pccourring over the TARGET CELLPHORES, there are no
meang of determining the internal operatlons of the Foote
Organization, ilncluding when, where, angd how the Foote
Crganization obbtalng ite supply of narcotics, the existence and

icdations of records relating to narcotics trafficking, tha
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location and source of regcurces uged to finance the 1llegal
activities, and the locatioh and digpssition of the progesds from
Choge activitiss. It ig only through the combination cf wire
surveillance, visual suyveillance, and other investigatory tools
that the agents expect to identify fully the nature and scope of
Lhe organization. Accordingly, thexe is a compelling neesd in
thig case for wire aurveillance of the ;ﬁRGET CELLPHONES .
Bhysical Hurveillanoe

64. Law enforcement officers of the DBA, the Task
Forge, the Pollce Departments of Spring Valley, Ramapo, Suffern,
Clarketown, and otherxs have conducted, and are continuing to
conduck (when appropriate), phyaicﬁl gurveillance of membexrs of
the Foote Organization. Physical surveillance, <¢ouplad with the
information from the CI, has been productive and has led to ths
iﬂentificatipn of soma individuals agsociated with the Foote
Organization, ineludlng DUNSTON FOOTE, a/k/fa *Killa,” CLOVAL
TAYLOR, afkid "Clove,” DWIGHT MORGAM, NATALIE BROWN, zfk/a
"Danigha, * and RAYMOMD DORSEY, a/ik/a “Ray,” a/k/a “Swmoke,* and
TROY MONTGOMERY, However, It is only through the combinatien of
wire survelllance, physical surveillance, and other investigatory
tools, however. that the agents expedt to ldentify fully the
nature and scope of the organization.

65, TFor example, RPD Detective I and other law

enforcement offilcars have conbinued to conduct physical

ig
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surveillance of the Foote Residence, descriped above, through the
use of a pole camera and have established a pole camera at the
Seabring House on August 26, 2010, The pole camera surveillande
hag provided ugeful information in the lnvestigation, including
egvidence of larde packages of what appears to be narceotics belng
transported lnto and out of the SHEPEGtEd.BtaEh hougses by FOOTE
and ofhers and POOTE' 3 use of multiple callphones and multiple
vehicles,

68, Fole camera survelillance zlone, howewver, would not
likely vield conclusive evidence of the scope of the distrxibution
network of the Foote arganizaﬁicn, tha roles of the co-
congplrators, or the partlcipation of members whe do not go to
the Foote Resldence. In addlition, whlle gurveillance has
revealed what appears Lo be naropbtles-related activiby at the
Foota Residence and Seabring Héuaﬁ, 1t hasg not revealed the type
cr guantity of drugs baing trangpartaﬁ.by the Foote Organization
for divtribution, and such surveiiiznce has not revealad where
packages brought te thogs locations are being obbained, FPhysicrl
surveiliance has been useful te corroborate information provided
by the T régarding Che drug-related activities of the TARGET
SUBJECTS but does nct provided the context or substance of the
neatingsg between co-conspirators and does not reveal the nature
of thelr cowmmunicationa, and is therefore dnsufficisnt to meek

the goals of the investigation.

40
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67. In addition, hecause of the locatbions of the
houees, law enforcement officers are not able to Eollow FOOTE oT
any vehiclies comdng or going from the Foobe Residence or the
Seabring House without alerting FOOTE or other TARGET SUBJECTS to
thelyr preagende, Moredgver, baséﬁ an wmy experience amd training;
and my participation in this investigation, narcofics traffickers
are extremely surveillance-congcious. Accordingly, increased
gurveillance could ailext the TARGET SUBIRITS to the sxistence of
the investigation, and cause them to reloocate or temporarily
wease thelr iilegal activities, thereby hindexing the
investigation.

8, Survelllancs ie also a limited investigativs tool
because some of the TARGET SUBJECTS remain unidentifisd and therse
ir limized information about the specific locations in which thay
operate. In addition, many of the meetings between the TRRGET
SUBJECTS has occurred in gsrages aﬁ{i indoors, where phyaical
survelllance has not bheen posgibles, Thus, even if successful,
surveiilange will provide only limited éorroboratiﬂn of the
illicit narcotics sctivities of the TARGRET SUBJIECTS,

63. It 18 expected that inforpation that can be
obtalned frem interceptions over the TARGET (ELLPHONES will halp
law enforcement agents determine the identitiss of the gubjects
involved and track thelr activitiss. thereby enhancing the

progpacts for wore fruitful physical surveillance of thoge
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activities. In addition, with the knowledge provided heforehand
by wire gurveillance that a meeting iz to take place at a given
lopcation, it way be possible ko establish physical gurvelllance
at that location in advance, thus minimizing tha rigks of
discovery inherent in following aubjects or remaining at targst
locations for extended periods of time.  Wire gurvelllance would
bettar enable law enforcdement to coordinate physical and
electronic surveiliance of such drug-tranaactions, potentialily
facilitating the gelzure of narcotleos and nardobigeg-related
proceeds, and-the arrvest of TARGET ZUBJTEOTS.

70, For the reasong desoribed ahnvé; aurvelllance
alone is insufficient fo méet the goals of the investigation,
Accoxdingly, there is a cnmpelling.need in thig case for wire
gurvelllance ¢f the TARGHT CELLFHONES,

Arresgts

71, Attempting Lo arrest the TARGSET SUBJIECTS now
would mean that saveral of the objectives of this investigation
would be unfulfilied. Mewbers of the Fsote Organization have
been identified through the (T apd other neans. Certain members
of the Foote Crganization were identified after entry of the
Auguet 4 Order, including RAYMOND DORSEY, afk/a “Ray,” ajk/a
“sSmoke, " TROY MONTEOMERY,. a/kx/a “Zcrapie,” DROMIHEHR MORTEOMERY ,
a/k/a “Drammy,” amd RAYMOND JACKSON, afk/a “Migiva,” Arresting

any <f the TARGET SUBJECTH, ingluding those identified after
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entry of the August 4 Order, would almost certainly cause othef
members of the Foote Oéganizaticn, including the sources ofF
supply and unidentified coconspirators, to temporarily cease
their illegal activities or to change the locations,
instrumentalitien, and methods used to conduck their iilegal
activitias,

72, Based on information ohtained du?ing the
investigation thus far, I believe that DUNSTON FﬂéTE, alk/a
“Killa," deals with the organizatien’s supplisrs, Baged on my
training, experience, and participation in thes investigation, T
helieve that although it is possgible that FOOTE would wooparabes
with law enforcement if arrested, it 1a by no means certain that
he would do so, Iﬁ 1e therefore uncertain whethar arresta would
lead to the identificabion of the Foobe Crganization’s suppliers,
or to evidence showing the participation of the euppliers in drug
Algtribubtion,

73. Arresting the identlified TARGET JSUBIROPTS and
attempting to obtain their cooperation in invaﬁtigating the
narﬁctica trafficking of their criminal associabes i1s an
investigative youte that, in my judgwent and the judgment of
other law enforcemeni officers involved, iz not reasonably likely
to resguit in law enforcemént learning the identitias of, the
otrganization’s guppllers, the dispogition of ikg ndrecotics

proceeds, or the identities of the additlonal co-conspirztora.
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Uae of Confidential Informants

¥4, ‘Thig investigation nas inwbivad ehtaining
infoymation from and the active use of a gonfldential informant
whe previously uworked ag a drug dealexr in the Fﬁate Cxganieakion,
ag described above. Altheugh the CI has provided valuwable and
dorrolborated Informaticn, at this time there is no known
contfidential sourde that can provide information about ail of the
Focte Organlzatlon’s sources of asupply and thelr locations, all
of the Iinks in The chain of aupply (including FOOTE's
connections abt the Poph QFffidcel, and all of the Foote
Organization®s workers and cushomers.

75. HNarcotics organizations are generally highily
¢ompartmentalized, and it is usually impasgible for an informant
to gain access tﬂ.all aspéctg of an organization’s illegal
activitiep, Thus, the use of confidential infoarmants alone is
typically inadeguate o develop evidence about the TARGET
SUBRJECTS' suppliera and cugtomers,

76. In additlon, based on my esxperience as a narcotics
investigator, I believe that drug traffickerd ars unlikely to
dipougs the full extent of their organization’s activities ox
wembarahlp with any individual. subozdinate wmenmber of the
organization. PBased om my experience, I Also know that narcotics

organizations axe often highly protective of theiy sonrces of

uppliy.
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77, Inbercepting calls over the TARGSET CELLPHONES ig
likely to provige information and evidence that the CI cannot
alone provide. Intercepted calils are likely to be unasful in
identifying co-conapirators who are unkpown to the €I, and to
provide evidence against tha members of the Foote Organization.
Inteveeptead aalls ave likely to be useful in identifying
locationg whare drugs are stored which are unknowilt to the CT, and
additionally are likely to ha useful in providing evidence
shﬁwing where druge and drug proceeds are locatad at particular
lastances, about which the CT's knowledge is neceasarily limited,
Interuvepted calle are aﬁditionally Iikely to ba ugeful in

corroborating information provided by the cI.

79. Basged on my knowledge of this investigation ang my
experience as a narcotics investigator, I believe that the
interception of the communications of the TARGET.CELLPHOMES is
egsentlal to reveal the identities of co-gongplrators and the
structnre and epération cf the Foote Organizabtion, Without the
evidence ohtained from court-authorized interceptlons, T am

confident that the ohjectives of thie inwvestigatiocm cennot he
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met .
Uge of Undercover Agents

80. There is durrsntly no expeatapicn that an
undercover officer would be able to determine the full ascope of
the TARGET SUBIRCTS’ operations, wmee:t and identify all of the
other TARGET SURTECTS and thelr co-consplrators, or idenkify the
TRARGET BUBJECTS’ narccotics supplisrs and theilr confederates. I
do nobk balieve bhat an undercover officer conld infilbrate the
Foole Organization.

8L, A8 detelied in-tha Zngust 4 Affidavit, while the
CI has bean-able to make purchases of drugs from DUNSTON FOOTE,
a/k/a "Kilia,” due to the compartsentalized nature of the Foote
Organization, there is no expectation thab any undercover agent
will ke able to deal directly with FOUIE’s sources of supply to
purchage drugs or ianfiltrate the imnmer workings of the Foote
Organization. Furthexmore, the reoles of the TARGET SUBJECTS in
the congpiracy are also not cleariy ﬁafined at this time and an
undercover agent is likely to only be permitted acoess to the
lower-leved dealers, as opposed to the larger figures in charge
ci the sources of supply.and distribution.

Telephuna Toll Recorda

82, Telephone toll records have been and will he used

in this investigaticn. but will provids anly:limiteﬁ information,

I have obtained and reviewed telephone toll reserds for the

i&
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TARGET CELLPHONES and cther cell phonesg balievad to he used by
membrers of tha Foote Orxganlzation, Phone records, however, do
not enahle lawy enforcemant officers to identify with certainty
the persons involved in the conversations or the significance of
the communications in the context of ongéing narcotics
trafficking. -ﬁmong othar problems, a telephone nuwber appearing
in-the racords may not be listed or subscribed in the name (8) or
addregs {es} of the person{s} actually using the teiephone.
Furthezrmorsa, the upe of callling cards and telephons access
mmserg oftan hides the ultimate numbere called, thereby
preventing law enforcement from leaxning the participants
involved in any particular commurication, In addition, the
review of telephope recordsg will not, in itself, reveal tﬂa
gtructure of the Foote Organizabion or itg scurces of supply.
Federal frand JFury

83. The issuance of grand jury subpoenas is likesly to
be inadequate bo obbain critical informatleon about the timing and
location of narcotica transactlons. Witnesses who might provide
aﬁﬁition&l relevant avidence te @ grand iury have not besen
identified or would themselves ba parbicipante in the narcotics
traffieking, Becauge puch individuals would fade prosecution
thewselves, it is uniikely that any of them would testify
vdluntarily; Noxr would it be desirable atf thig tlme to seek

immunity for such individualis and to compsl their teastimeony.
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Immunizing them could thwart the publiec poliey that they be helgd
accnunt;hle for their arimes, Furthermorxe, the lssuance of grand
Jury subpoenas Lo other Individuals would risk alexrting the
TARGET SURJECTS to the ongoing Iinvesiigation before their scurces
of supply are identified and located, Morecver, not all of the
TARGET SUBIECTS have besn identified and, in the absencse of
further svidence identifying co-congpirators and their respective
involivewent in the Yoote Organization, it 1s dlfficult to
deteimine whom ©o pubpoena to the Grand Jury.
Wicneaa Intexviews

B-';I. I believe that interviews of the TARGET SUBIECTE
or their known asaociatea_would produos ingufficient informatilon
as to the identities of all of the pergong lnvolved with the
TARGET SUBJECTS in marcobics trafficking, the gounross ang
logationg of the drugd, the sources of Ffinancing, the locationg
pf records and pyocaads from tha digtribution of drugs, and other
pértinent information regayding the TARGET OFFENSES. I alfo
believe that any wesponses Lo the interviews, particularly
interviews of those who are higher up in the organization, could
contain a significant number of untrubhs, diverting the
investigation with falge leadﬁ.ox otherwise fruskrating the
investigation. I believe that questioning any of the remaining
co-congplrators would alext the other co-conspiratord, and cause

a change in thelr methods of operation and the concealiment or
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destyuction of evidence Before all of the co-consplrators are
i&entified, thereby conpromising tha investlgation and resulbing
in the possible lose of valuable evidence, and -the poseibility of
harm to the O, wheose ldentity way hecome known or whoae
axistance may otherwise be compromlsed.
Search Warrants

85. The investigation has revealed information that
would likely enable the DEA to obtain and execute search warrants
for the Fpote Reosgldence and Seabring Houme, described above, In
addition, the invesgtigation has zevealed information that woulsd
likely enable the DEA Lo obtain and éx&ﬂute géarch WErrantE.fﬁr a
location near Clinton Street in Spring vValley, New York that is
uged to gtore narcotics. ﬁhile axesubting search warrants atl
thoga lodations may repult in the seizure of pertinent avidencde,
it would ﬁiao alert the TARGET SUBJECTS to the exlstence of tha
invegtigatlon without the likelihcod of determining the full
Boope of the organization’g operatiocns, particuliariy the
oxvgunization's sources of supply, the identitiez of all of the
ag-condpirators, or other locatlons wheve narcotica are stashed,

86. Further information la needed to identify the
mzang and methods Ly which the Poote Qxganilzation obtaing a
supply of narcotica, aﬁd the locationg where the drugs and drug-
distribution procesds are transported and stored. The execution

.0f a search warrant at the Foote Residencs and/or Seabring House
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iz not likely to lead to the Identificatlon of other locations
used by the Foote Organization., Noxr ls it likely bto lsad to the
identification of co-conspirators who participate in obtailning ox
selling the Foote CGrganization’s supply of drugs.

7. The locations where Lhe TARRGET SUBJECTS currantly
raceive, hide, and distribute their narcotics and narcobics
proceeds have not been fully identified. Moreover, without wlre
purveillance, law enforcewment will nof kgow when the locaticns
conkain narectics, narcotics proceeds, and sther evidence of the
TARGET OFFBMEES. I believe that wire gurveillance will assist
iaw enforgement iln continuing to identify locations where
narcotics and narcotles proceeds aré currently stored, and
determine when such conkraband ig at such locationg, #o bhat
gearch warraniz fox guch locations may be obtalned whils
contraband is still present at the lecétians.

88. Accordingly, and because the abova-deparibed
investigative techniques are limitad in tﬁeir applications, have
been unsuceeggfnl, or are unlikely to be successful,
 authorization to intercept wire communlcations over the TARGRET
CELLPHONES is necessary te identify and develop evidence against

the TARGET SUBJECTS.

MINTMIZATION
8%. All woniterxding of wire comswnicationa over the

TARGET CELLPHONEES will be minimized in accordance with Chapter

1H
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77, Imterceptling calls over the TARUET CELLFHONES isg
likely to provide 1nf§rmatian and syidenge that the CI camot
alone provide. Intercepted calls are likely to be uasful in
identifying co-conspirators who are unknown to the I, and to
provide evidence against the membersa of the Foote Qrganizatlon.
Intercepted ¢alls are likely to be useful in identifyinj
Locations whers drugs are stored which are unknown to the O, and
additionally are likely to ba useful in providing evidence
shﬁming whexre druge and drug proceseds are located abk particular
instances, about which the C©I's knowledge is necesggarily limited.
Interceﬁtﬁﬂ calia ars additionally likely to bea ugeful in
corroborating information provided by the cI.

78. Additionally, since I and okther 1éw enforcement
officare learned that the CI had engagsed in unauthorizsd,
narcoticsnyalated communicationg with FOOTE that were intercepted
over TARGET CELLPHONE 2, pursuant to the August 4 Order, we have
maréinalized tha role of the €T in this invegtigaticm.

7%, Basged cn my kﬂﬂwledge ¢f this investigation and my
gxpericnye as n harccticﬁ invesatigatey, I believe that the
intercepbion of tho commmloationa of bthe TARGET. CBLLPHONES is
egaential to reveal the Idenbtities of co-conmplrators and the
sbrucinre and operation of the Foote Organization, wWithout the
é¥id§nce obtained from courkb-authorized intexceptionsg, I am

confident that the chjectives of this investigation cennot be
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iillegal drugs are tranaspoxted, stored, amd distributed apd the
methods of payment [or such drage.

4, I pubmit thie affidavit lit suppork of an
application for an order pursuant to Section 2518 of Title 18,
United gtates Code, authorizing {1} the renewed intercepticm and
recoxding of wire communicabicns and the original interception
and recording of electronic commmications {i.e., text messages)
over TARGET (ELLPHOME 1, (2} the continmved interception and
recording of wire communications over TﬁRéET CELLPIONE 2 and
TARGET CELLPHONE 3, and (32} the origimal interception and
recording of wirve and electroric communications over TARGET
CELLPHONE 4, concerning offenses enusmerated in Seckion 2516 of
Title 18, United States Code -- that is, offenssg involving the
distyibubion of, and possessicn with Iintent to distribube,
controllied gubstancez, thes ugse of wire facilitias to.facilitate
the same, conspiracy to do the same and attempts Lo do the msame,
in vigiation _D_f 23 .54, &8 E‘ﬂi{a} {3), 843(b}, and 8346, and 18

U.5.C. §8 195% and 15957 {the “TARGET OFFENSE3Y) .}

¥ Xithough not & predicate offense under 18 U.3.8. E 2316,
there is probable cause to belleve thabt the TARGET SUBJRECTS {as
subseguently defimed herein} have aided and abetted and are
alding and abetting these substantive offenses, in vicolakion of
18 .2.C. 8 2. Ino addition, bassd on communications of brhe
TARGET SUBJE({TS intercepted pursuant to the August 4 and
September 3 Orders (as subeeguentiv defined herein}, there iz =@
reasonable bagis to believe that some of the TARGET SUSJECTS have.
committed offenses involving bringing in or harboring certain
aliens, in violation of 8 U.8.C. § 1324,

3
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dizscuss the distribution of marcobics through voice and text
communlications. I believws that FOOTE will continue to uze these
TARGHT CELLFHONES for thege purposes in Tthe future,

II. ALTERNATIVE INVESTICATIVE PROCEDURES HAVE BEEN TRIED OR

APPEAR UNLIKELY TO SUCCEED IF TRIER; TRERE IS A NEED FOR THE
ANTERCEPTICH (F WIRE COMMUNICATIONS OVER THE TARSET

CELLPHONEE

8. 'The principal goals of this investigation are to

identify, locate, and arrest persens regponsible for the
distyibution of marijuana and coraine in and around Spring
Valley, and Lo gather evidence againgst those respongibkle for
running the organization and to identify and locate the sourges
that supply Lbw Poote Organlzation with large guantities of
narcotics, We are investigabing nob only the currentiy
identified TARGET SUBJECTS, bub aleo all of the narcobins
Bupplieys, obher cwstomers, distrlbubors that work in the Foote
Organizaticn, and associates, as well ag the locaticnp at which
the TARGHI SUBJECTS stoxe narcotics and the methods by which they
operate thelxr narcebics-trafficking business and how they dispose
of Ehe proceads of that narcetics trafficking.

79. The intercepiion of wire communieations over
TARGET CELLPHCONE 1, TARGRT OE1I1.PHONE 2, and TARGET CRLLTHONE 3
pursdant to the huquel 4 and SeplLewmber 3 Onders has provided
valuable evidence agazinst the TARGET SUBJECTES. Renewed
intercdepbion of wire communications and original intergeption of

slectronlie communications over TARGET CULLPHONE 1; continued
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intexception of wire communications over TARGET CELLPHONE 2 and
TARGET CRLLPUONE 3; and original interception of wire and
glectronic communications over TARSRY CELLPHONE 4 gare reguired,
however, because the interceprion of wire cowmmunications to date
have not fully revealed the nature and scaope of the TARGET
SUBJEBCTS narcotics trafficiing activity.

80. The interceptions to date have not identified, for
example, the ldantitiss of all the members of the Footo
Drganizatian. DUNSTON FOOTE, a/k/a *¥illa,” and FEU LHU,Iafk/a
*Fraikie,” and others make delivaries inside and near buildings
whore physical surveillance is éhallangiug, While the
intexceptions of wire commumications over TARCET CELLPHONK i,
TARGET CELLPHONE 2, and TARGET CELLPHONE 3 have provided walusble
Information aboub the other wembers of bthe ¥oote Organization,
additional intexception is needed to conflrm the identify of
thoge individuais., The investigation has alse not vet identified
the guppliexs for the Foobte Organization, khe locations of all
the organization®s stash houses, the gources of financing for the
organization, -and the locations and dispogition of the proceeds
from the organiuation’s nazeotlen trafficking activibies. while
bhe wire communleation interceptions and physical surveillance,
in ¢ombination, have provided valuable information about possible
atazah liouzes used by Lhe Foote Drganizatian, Further inbercepticn

is needad bo confirm thab the lowations are stash housss and to

1
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idonkify other possible stash houses,

81. Intercepling wire and clectronic communicatleons
over the TARGET CELLPHONES will azpelst law enforcement ofFicers
in fully revealing the naéurc and sgepe of the TARGET SURJELTS
narcohics trafficking activities.- Specifically, intercepiions
over the TARGET CELLPHONES may reveal the source oy sowurges of
supply foir Lhe Foote Orgénization. Such interceptions will
enable the DEA and the eother law enforcement groups with which
the DBEA is workKing bo gather evidence that otherwise would not be
able to be gathered by wore bvaditional investigative techniques.

82, Other investigative technigues, doscribed herein
and 1n the August 4 and Ssptember 3 Affidavits, have heen tried,
inciuding the purchases of marijuana, physical survelilance, and
the use of a confldential informant. while those offorts have
besn fruitful, interception over the TARGEY CELLPHONES is
raguired becauge other investigative technigues cannot fully
reveal the nature and scopa of the TARGET QUBJECTS* nargctics
trafficking activity. It is anticipated that intexception over
bhe TARGET CELLPHONES will agsist Iin continuing to identify the
wmeans and wethods by which the Foote Organization obtains a
requiar supply of marijuana and cocalne and the individuals who
are involved in the provision of that supply.

83. rIt i8 further anticipated that the interceptioms

of wire communications will assist in continuning to identify the
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rocabicon of sbtash houses, the sovrce of financing for the
organization, and the igoariong and dispositions ol he proceedd
from thowse activities., In addition, i1t is anticipated that new
targets would he ildentified thxough intercepled communicatcions
ant thege intercvepted vommnications would provide valuable
evidence and intelligence about incoming narcobics shipments and
on-going narcotics trafficking.

84. BAs dipcussed below, several cother invesligative
technigues have been tried, or reasonahly appear likely to fail
1F trimd, or aro likely to jeopardize the investigaiion 1f fxied.
in the absence of the regquesied anthorization of wire
interceptions ogourring over the TARGET CELLPHONES, there axe no
means of determining the internal coperaticns of the Pooke
Crganization, including when, whare, and how the Foote
Organizabion obktains its suppiy of narcotles, the existence and
iccationg of recoxds relating to marcotics trafficking, the
location and dource of resources used to fisance the illegal
activitiss, and Che location and disposition of the proceeds From
those activities. It ip only through the combination of wire
gurveillance, visual survelllance, and other investigalbory boolg
thab the agents expect to identlfy fully the nature and scope of
the orgasizalion. Accordingly, there is a. compelling nead in
thig cage for wirs surveillance f the TARGRT CELLPHOWES. .

Phyaical Surveillance
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85, Law enforcement officers of the DRA, the %ask
Force, the Police Dopartments of Sprinmg Valley, Ramapo, Suflern,
Ciarkstown, and othexs have conducisd, and are contimuing to
conduct {when appropriate}, physical surveillance of members of
the Poobe Grganizaﬁimn. Ag dusoribed in the Auguat 4 and
September 4 Affldavite, pole cameras have been installed cutalde
of the Feorte Regidence and the Seabring Houae, where the Foote
Organization ie believed to xeceive, distributo, and store large
quantibies of drige. The peie camera survaillance has provided
uzaful information in the investigation, including evidence of
large packages of what appears Lo be narcotics bkeing transported
into and ovut of the suspected stash houses by FDOTE and others
and FOOTE's use of wmulbiple cellphones and multiple wehicles.

g86. For example, according o other law enforcement
officers wmonikoring the pols camerag, POUTH, “Irankie,” CLOVAL
YAYIOR, afkfz *Clove,” and other TARCKT SUUBJECTS have been soon
carrylng packages into and out of the Seabring House as recently
as on Qr about September 23; 2010 and September 27, 2010. 'FOOTE
has alse baon observad carrying packages from his Vehicle and
various rental careg into or next to the Foote Residence on
ruifiple ocganiong, including aa recently as Septamber 2%, 2010.
¥COUE has alpo been obgerved speaking om multiple celliphones, and
he has been ohoerved spaaking on a celiphone on some orcasions

whan no wire communications over TARGET CELLPHONE 1 and/or TARGET
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CELLPHONE 2 were being iutexcepted, which I beljeve shows that he
ngeg maltiple cel lphones.

87. Phyaical gurvelllance, coupled with the
informatiorn from the Y, has been productive and has led to the
identification of some individuals associated with the Foote
Organization, including DUNSTON FOOTE, a/k/a “Killa,? CLOVAL
TAYIOR, a/kia "Clove,* DWIGHD MORGAN, NATALIE BROWN, a/k/a
*Danisha,” RAYMOND DORBEY, a/fk/a "Ray,'" a/k/a *Smoke,” TROY
MONTGOMERY, RAYMOND JACKSONW, a/k/a “Migiva,” afk/fa "Diego,”
FPITEROY KELLY NORRIS, Jﬁ?ﬁHIE. JEPFREY GENTILES, SERGE DORIELY,
a/k/a “Bounty,* JOSBPH CARRACHIA, a/kfa “Cavach,” SOPHIR MOORE,
SOPHIA JONBY, u/kfa “Bridgette,” MATTHEW DIACHE, and DEBORAY
GRIFFITH. However, it Is only bhrouwgh the combination of wire
surveillanca, physical purveillance, and other investigatory
tools, however, thal the agenks expect bo ddentify fully the
nzture and scope of the organization.

BB. Fole= camera survelllance alone, however, would not
lLikely yield conclusive evidence of the scope of the distributicn
network of the Foote Organization, the roles of the co-
conspirators, or the participation of wembers who do nob go to
the Foote Residence. In addibiom, while survedllance has
revealed what appears Lo he narcotics-related actiwity at the
Foote Residence and Seabring Houde, it has not mevealed tha hyps

or guantity of druge being transported by khe Poote Organization
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For distribution, ang such guxveillance has nobt roevealsd whexs
packages brought to thowe locatione are being obtained. Physical
gurveillance has been usefiul to corroborate inforxmabion provided
hy the (I regarding the drug-related activities of the YARGET
SUBJECTS but doeg not provided Lhs contexbt or subatance of the
meebtings between co-vongpirators and does netk reveal the nDatuare
of their compunigsabions, and is Lherefors inpufflcoient to meaks
the goaly of the investlgation.

82, Tn additien, becawse of the locations of the
guaspectad stash and dlabribution lowationg, law enforcemsnt
officers are nok abis to follow FOOTE o any vehicles coming or
golng from the Foote Residence or the Seabring House without
alexbting FOUTR or other TARGET SUBJECTS to thalxy presence.
Moreover, hased on my experience and training, and my
partloipation in thieg investigation, ﬁarccties trafficvkers are
extremely survelllance-conscious. For example:

a. Ag deseribed above, on or aboub Saeptemnber 13,
2010, “frankie,” one of the TARGEY SUBTECTS, placed an oukbgolng
gall over TARCET CHELLPHONE 3 to TARGET CELLPUONE é and told FPOOTE
that “momebody called me and eaid two boys were following you.”
MoOOTE Egld “Franikie® “nohodﬁ is fullawing.anybody, man. ILIE'g
them they [the cops] are watching.”

b, On or about Saptember 16, 2010, "Frankie”

received & call over TARGET CELLPHONE 3 and apoke wikh an

&
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unidentifisg male (*IY} who told *Frankis® that there woro some
"boye” near you {Session 456). &z nbated abovs, bamed on uwy
Lraining and experience, I know that the term “boya? iz often
uged by indlviduris engaged ln illegal activity to xefer to law
enforcement, officers. |

Q. Cn or aboub Beprembar 12, 2010, “"Frankile®
received a call aover TARGET CELLBHOBE 3 from B45-536-4832 and
Bpoke with an individual identified as “Jophia® {Session £54) .
“Sophia” told “Frankie® that *that guy that just drivs by iag a
ﬁﬂliﬁﬂ," and *Frankie said “veah, I zee him . . . bacause I saw
hig light flash,” “Sophis* aldo told “Fragkie” that “he ha=s a
© camera on the door.”

5. Accorgingly, conpidering the 'WARGET BUBJECTS'
gengliivity to law enforcement pzﬁsangei increansed phynical
gurvelllance could alert the TARSET SUBJECTS to the existonce of
the investlgation, and cause thewm to relovakes or temporarily
ceage tholr illegal activities, thersby hindering the
investigation.

2L, fuxvelllance ip siso a limited investigative tool
because some of the TARGRT SUBAJECTS remain unidentified or are
only partially identified mnad thefe iz limited information about
the specific locations in which they oparate. In addition, many
of the meetings between the TARGET SUBJECYS hag occouryed in

guarages and indeooxrs, where physical surveillance has not been
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possiblie. Thus, coven if =saccessful, surveillance will provids
only limitcd corrcbhorvation of the i1licit narcokics activitiesn of
Che TARGET SUBJECTH.

8z, It ism expeuté& that information that osn bo
obtained from interceptions over the TﬂRGETICELLPHaﬂES will help
law enforcement agenks qgtermine the identitiesz of the subiects
involved and track their activities, thereby snhancing the
brosgacty for more fruoicful physicval surveillance of those
activities., In addition, with the knowledge provided beforehand
by wire and electronic gurveillance that a mesoting is to take
place at a given locatlon or & patkage 1s to be received on a
certalin date or &bt a cerbain place, ik may be possible to
aptablish physical surveillance at that locabion in advance, thu=m
minimizing the risks of discovery inherent in following subjects
or remaining at target locations for extended periods of time.
Wirs surveiilance would better enable law enforcemsnt to
cocrdinate physical and electronic surveillance of such drug
bransactions, potentially facilitating the zeizure of pavcvotios
and narcotics-related proceeds, and the arvest of TARGET
SURZECTS.

93. For the reasons deseribed above, surveillance
alonn ig insufficient ko meet tha gpals of the investigalion,
hAocordingly, there iz a compelling need in this cage For wire

purveilliance of tha “WARGET CELLPHONES,
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Arraats

a4, nttempting.to arrest the TARGET SUBJECTS now
would mean that sceveral of the ohjectlves of this lnvesrnigation
would ke unfulfillled. Members of the Foobe Qrganiualion have
been itdentified through the €I and other weans, Cextain mewybers
of the Foote Organization have been identified duaring the course
of thie investigation asd, epecifically, were identified aftexr
entry of tha September 3 Order, inninding CASHIEMA GREEN a/fik/a
*Cash,” G'NBIL WHITE, RICARDO MOWESTIME, afk/a “Mossy,” MARLON
MURFRY, afkfa “Murph,” RICARDC BEPOT, a/k/a “ﬁigga,” FIYZROY
HELLY MORRIS, JAVANIE JEFFREY CGENUILES, SBREE DORCELY, a/k/a
“Bounty, ¥ JOBEPH CARRACHIA, a/k/a “Carach,® DARREN MCMURRIN,
a/kfa "Fish,” SOPHIA MODEE, EDDIE PAYNE, SCPHIA JONEY, a/k/a
“Bridgetie,* MLFTHEW DYACKHE, JEAN DUFRESHE, and DEBDRAH GRIFFITI.
Arregting any of the TERGET SUBRJIRCTS, including those idankified
afrar entxy of theo September 3 Oxder, would almost certainly
cause other members of the Poobe Organization, inciuding the
pources of supply and unidentified coconspirators, to temporarily
ceade their illega® ackivitiea or Lo Chﬂ.ng‘&l the locations,
instrﬁmﬂntalities, and methods used Lo conduchk their illegal
agitivitcies, For e#ample, on oxr about Beptember %, 2810, FITZIROY
NORRTS KHLLY, one of the TARGRT SUBJEQTS, was arxested after
fesaving the Seabring House and was found fo have approximately

113 grams of mariiumna on nilp perscn. Based on lnterceptsd
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communiications bobtween FOOTE, *Frankie,* and ckhey TARGET
SURIEITE obtained pursiaant to the Scptember 3 Crxder, I kowow that
FOOTE and “Frankie” told other TARCGET SUBJECYS to *eiean out? Lho
Seabring House after learning about the arrest.? Shortly afher
that series of callg, individualsg, including other TARGET
BURBJECTS, were observed through the pole cvamera survelllance
leaving the Seabring House, and at laaﬁt.one individual wag
carrying a package. accordingly, I believe thai arresting some
ol the identified participants in this conspiracy now would le=ad
to the destructiomn of evidence, temporary movement of the
Organization’s stash and distribuiion locations, and cause other
membera ¢f the Foote Organization, including kthe zources of

supply and unidentified coconspirvators, to temporarily cease

thelir iileqgal agbivities or change the wmathods used to conduck

12 Specificeally, as descrihad above, on or about Septomber 9,
2010, at approximately 1:25 p.m., “Frankle" received an invcoming
dall over ITARGET CELLPHONE 2" From ghcnﬂ number 845-367-2548 and
ghoke with an Unidentified Male {“0M") (Semglon 169! . During
Lhat dall the UM told “Frankie" that the Enlice fust “picked up”
2 man a few blocks away Exrom “Frankie.” Frankie” paid *alright,
et me gﬂ c¢lean up the place then because this is where he is
coming from.” Based on my participatisn in this investigation
and . Information I learned from iocal law enforoemant, I Enow that
FITZROY NORRIS XBILY was arrested just after leaving the Seahring
house, T helieve that, in response fo learning abolGt the arrsct
during the above~referenced phone vall, “Frankle" intended to gel
rid of the dxruge in the hous=. At approximately 1133 p.m., FOLTE
placed an ocubgoling oall over TARGET CELLPHONE 27 to phohne number
845-598-9741 and ppoke with "Danisha® (Session 3052, During
that call, FOOTE told “Danisha” that he was hearing vibhes thatk he
didn’t like — gpecifilcally, that *Frankie” had eailed him and
told him that "a licGle gan just came and checked him , , . and
ggt a thing and he got a call that they jnst sucked off Eha

r1ttle wan.” FOOTE said “that’'s why I'm taelling you all to get
the place clean up.” I heliave thalt “sucked ofF” 1g slang for
arrested and thakt, in r&sgan&a Lo learming aboul the arrest,
“"Franpkie’ called YOOTE and FOOTE told “PFrankie” to get rid of the
drugs in the house.
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theilr iliegal activities

$5. Furtherawre, bamed on Ilnformatleon obtained during
tha investigation thus fay, T believe that DUNISTON FOOTE, a/k/a
*Killa,® and FRU L¥O, éfkfa *Frankie,” deal with tha
organization’s suppliers. Based on wy tyaining, experience, and
participation in the investligabtion, T helieve that although it is
possible that FOOTE or “Frankie"” would cooperats with law
onforcemsnt if arrested, il is by no means certain that thay
would do B0, It is therefore uncertain whether arrests would
lead to the identilficablon of the Foote Oxganization’s suppliers,
or Co evidence showing the participation of the suppliers in drug
distribution.

96. Arresting the identified TPARGET EGHJECfS and
attempting Lo obtain their cooperation in investigabing the
narcotins trafificking of their criminal as&aciatas ig an
investigagiva routae That, in wy Judgment angd the judgmant of
other law enforcement officers involved, ig nobt xeasonably likely
to resuit in law enforxcemont leayrning the identities of the
ocrganization’s suppliers, the dispoeiticn of ifs narcotics
progeeds, or the identities of the additiomal co-tonspirators.
bun to tha highly compartmenfalized nature of drug-trafficking
congspiracley, I believe it is umiikaely that lower-lewvel
distributors, or Ho-dalled *rumners,” wonld be able to provigs

information about the Foote Organizarion’s sources of suppiy and
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the icvalions or uwses of bhe proceeds of their illegal
ackivitisg,
Uge of Confidential Informants

97, This inveytigation has involved obtaining
information from and the active uge of a confidential informant
who previously worked as z drug dealsr in the Foote ﬂrganizatibn,
as described in Lhe August 2 and September 3 Affidavits.
Although the CI has provided valuable and corrohorabed
Information, abk thig time there iz no known confidential source
that can provide informalion about il of the Foote
Organization’s sourcep of gupply and their loostiocps (some of
which are believed to be in other atates or countriwes}, all of
the linka in the chain of supply {including copnections at
varioua wmalling services), and all of the Foote Organizatlon’s
workers and customers,

98, Naxcotlos organizations are.generally highly
compartmentalized, and AL 48 wnually impossibis for an informant
Lo gain access bo all agpecta of an organization’'s illegal
activities. Thus, the usarnf gonfldential informants alione ig
typiﬁally inadecquate to develop evidence about the TARGET
SUERRCTE! puppliers and customers,

8%, In addition, based on my experlencs as a narcobics
investigator, I believa that drug traffickers are unlikely to

digcuss the full extent of Lheirxr organization’s activities or
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mmbership with any individual, stubordivabe menbesr of bthe
organization. Basmed on my experience, I also know Chat narcotics
orgunizations ayxe often highly prokochive of their sourpea of
suppPly.

| 106. Intercepting calis and, where reguested, text
meggages over the TARGET CELLEHOHES is fikely to provide
information and evidence that the CI camnot alone provida.
Intercepbed ¢alls and texba are likaely to Pa useful in
identifying co-consplratoxs whe are unknown to the Cf, prowiding
information aboul the raceipt or distributiecn of drugs to which
the £ iz not privy, and to provide svidenoe against the members
of the Foote Orxganization. Intercepted valls are likely to be
ugoful in identifying locabions where drugs are stored which are
unknown to the CI, and additionally are likely to ba useful in
providing evidanca showing where druge and drog progoeds are
located at particular inﬁtancEﬁ,.abcut which the CI’s knowledsga
is cecesgsarily iimited, Intercepted calls are additionally

likely to be useful in corrchoratlng informatich provided by the

TE.
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102. Based omn my knowledge of this invesbtigation and my
experience ag a narcotics invedlbigabtor, I believe thak the
intervepltion of the communications of the "PARCET CELLPHONES iz
agpential to reveal the identities of co-conepiratore and the
structure and operatlon of the Fooke Oxganlzation. ®Kithout the
evidence obtained fxom court-authorized interceptions, I am
gonfident that the obijectives of the investigation cannot be met,

tge of Underoover Agents

103, There lg currently nmo expectation that an
undercover officey would be able to determine the full scope of
the TARGET SUBJEQCTE’ operabions, meet and identify =211 of the
other TARGET SUMJECTS and thelr c¢o-conspirators, aor identify the
TARGET SUBJECTS' narcobics suppliere and theiy confederates. I
do not belisve that an undercover nfficer coula infiltxate the
Foobe Organizalion.

104, Bs detailed in the August 4 and September 3
Affidavita, while the CI was able to make purchages of druge from
DUNSTON FOOTE, a/k/a “Killa,” due Lo the compartmentalized pature
of the Feote Organization, thers iz no sxpectation that any
undercover agent will be able bo deal directly with FROTE's
aources oFf supply ko purﬁhaﬁe drug or infirltrats the inner
workings of the Foote Organization, TFurthermore, the roles of
the TARGET SUBJECYTS in the conspiracy are also not clearly

defined at this time and an undercover agent is likely bo only he
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permiltted access te the lower-level dealers, as oppoRed to bhe
larger Eigures in charge of the aources of supply and
distribubion.
Telephone Toll Regords

105, Taelephone toll regords have besn and will be used
in this invaskigation, but will provide ouly limited Ilnformation.
I nave chitained and reviewed telephaha Enll recorde for the
TARRGET CELLPHONRES and other cell phones believed Lo be usad by
wmembers of the Foote Organization. Fhone records, however, do
not. enable law enforcement officers to identify with certainty
the pergons involved in the conversations or the significance of
the communicabions in the contaxt of ongolng snarcotics
trafficking. Among other problems, a telsphone number appearing
in the records may not be liasted or subscribed in the name{zs} or
address{es) of the personis] actuaily using the telephons.
Furtharmore, the use of calling cards and telephona access
nunbers often hides the uitimate numbers called, theraby
preventing law enforcement from learning the participants
invoelved in any particular communication. Tn addition, the-
review of telephono rogcords will net, in itself, reveal the
structure of the Foote Organization or its sources of supply,

Faederal Grand Jury
106. The issuance of grand ‘jury subpodnas is likely to

be inadeguate Lo obtain critical information aboubt the timing and
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locaticn of narcotics transactions. Witnesses who might provide
additional relevant evidence to a grand -jury have ncht bean
identified or would themealves ba participante in the narcotics
trafficking. Derause such individuals would face proascutlon
themselves, it is unlikely that any of them would testify
voluntariliy. Hor would it be desirable at thils time bo sask
immunity for suth individualg and to compel thely testimomy.
Immwniiming them couid thwart the public policy thabt they bhe held
accountable for their orimes. Purthermore, the issuance of grand
jury subpoenas to other individuals would risk alerting the
TARGET SUBJECTS ko the ongoing investigation before theilr asources
of oupply ave identifingd and lodated. Morecover, notb all of the
TARGET SUBJRCTE have bheen ldentified and, in the abgence of
further evidende identifying co-consplraters and their respective
inveivenent in the Foote Organization, it 1a dlEfloult to
determine whom Lo éuh?oena to the drand Jury.
Witnesas Interviews

16%. X believe that intexviews of the 'TARGET SURJEOTS
or thelr known associates would prndués ingufficient information
as ko the identities of all of the persons involved with the
TARGET SUBJECTS in narcotice trafficking, the sources and
locations of the drugs, the sources of financing, the locations
of records and proceeds from the distribution of drugs, and other

portinent informetion regarding the TARGET OFFENSES. T slso
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believe that any responrses to the lnterviews, particulariy
interviews of thonge who are higher up in bhe srganizakion, could
contain a pignificant mmber of untxuths, diverting Lha
investigation with false leads or otherwise frustrating the
investigation. T believe ithat guestioning any of the remaining
co-conspirators would alext the other co-conwpiraktors, angd gause
a change in theilr methodd of operation and the concealmeant or
desruction of evidence lLefore all of tha.aauconspiratorﬁ are
identified, theraby compromising the investigstion and resulting
in the posgible loss of valpable evidence, aund the possibility of
harm to the €I, whogse ldentiby may become known or whoge
axistencs may otherwise be compromised.
Bearch Warrants

108, The investigation had revezled information bthat
would likaly onable the DEA to obtaln and execube sedrch warrants
for the Foote Resldence and Sesbring Hauﬁe,.ﬁescribed above, In
additicn, the investigation hay revealed information that would
likely erpabie the DEA Lo obtain and execute mearch warrants for &
residence on Clinkon Streeb {the *Ciinkeon Houpe") and & social
alub on Forth Main Street {the "Social Club"} in Spring Valley,
How York that are believed to ke used by membexs of the Foote
Crganization to store and distribute narcotics. KWhile axeouting
searcix warranhs ab those locations may regsuit in the seizure of

pertinent evidence, 1t would zlse alark the TARGET SUBJECTS to
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the existence of the investigation without the likelihood of
determining the full scope of the organization’s operabions,
particularly the organization’s sources of supply, the identities
of 311 of the co-eonzplrators, or othexr lecarions where narcotics
are stashed.

102, T believe that the execution of =sarch warzrants
would be premature at this stage of the investigation because
further iunformation is nooded to ideatify the means and methods
by which the Foote Oxganization cbtaine a pupply of narcotica,
and other locabions where the druge and drug-distribution
proceeds ave transported and atored. The excoution of search
warrants at the Foote Residence, the Seabring Housa, the Clinton
House, andfor the Social Club is not likely to lead to the
ldentification of other locations used by the Foote Onganivation.
Nor iz ik likely to lead to the identification of co-conapiratoxrs
who participabte in shtaining or selling the Foote Grganization's
supply of drugs.

18, The locaticns where the TARGET SUBJIECPS currently

ragelve, hide, and distribute their narcotids and naroorics
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proceada have not been fully identified. JMoreowver, withcmt.wire
gurveillance, law enforcement will oot know when £he locations
contain marcotica, narcobics procesds, and obher evidence of the
TARGET CFFENSES. I believe that wire surveillance will assist
law enforcement in conbinuing to identify locationag where
narcetigs and narcotics proceeds are currently stored, and
determine when such conbraband is at spuch locations, so that
aarch warranis for such logationy ﬁay ho obtained while
conbrabard is still present at the locations,

11i. Acecordingly, and because the shove-dascribad
investigablve teclmlgues are Iimited in their appiicationg, hava
Deen unsucesssful, or ars uniikely to be successful,
authorization to intergept wire and cleckronic communilcalions
over Lhe TARGEY CELLPRHONES is necespary to identify and develap
evidence against the TARGHT SUBIECTS.

M o

ild. Al monitoring of wirve amnd aiectronic
communications over the TARGET UELLPHONES will be miunimized in
accordance with Chapter 119 of Title 18, Unlted States Code.

1313. The “investigative or law enfioygemsnt officers of
tho United States” and txanslators, if necessary, who are to
éarry out the reguested interception of wire communications, will
- be inastructed conicerning the ateps they should take o avoid

infringing upon any attorney-ciiant privilege or other regognlzed
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menbesrskip with any individoal, subordinabe member of the
organiratlon., Based on my experience, I ailso know that narcotics
organizations are often highly protective o©f their sources of
supply.
- 106. Intercephing calils and, where reguested, text
messages over the TARGE? CRLLPHONES is likely to provide
information and evidence that the €I canhet alone provide.
Interceptod calls and texts are likely ko be useful in
identifying co-comsplratoxs who are unkanown Lo the I, providing
information about the raceipt or distribution of drugs to which
the T is not privy, and to provide evidence againgt the members
of the Foobte Organization, Intercepted callis are likaly 0 bhe
ggeful in identifying locations where drugs are stored which aro
unknewn to the €I, and additionally are likely to be uﬁeful in
providing evidence showing where drugs and drug proceeds are
located at particular instances, about which the CI’s knowledgo
is mecegsanlly limited. Intercepted calla are additicnally
likely to be ussful in corroborating information provided by the
CL.

igi, Additionally, since I and other law enforcement
afficers learned that the CFf had engaged in unamuthorized,
narcotica-related communications with FOOTE that weyxe intercepted
cver TARGET CELLPHOMES 1 sud 2, pursuant ko the Augush 4. Order,

we have marginaliszed the role of the CI in this investigatilon,
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drugs.

2. I submit this affidavit in gupport of an
application for an order pursuant to Sootion 2818 of Title 18,
United States Code, authnriéing (L} the continued interception
and recording of wire and elastronig gommunicatrions (1l.e., text
messages; over TARGET CRELLPHCONE 1 and TARGET CELLPHONE 4; (3} the
continued interception and wecording of wire communications over
TARGET CELLPHONE 2; and {3} the continued intérceptinn and
regording of wire communications over TARGET CELLPHONE 3,
concerning offensges eanumerated in Bection 2818 of Title 18,
United States Code -- that 1ls, offenses invelving the
digtribution of, and posgessicn with intent to distribute,
controlied substances, the use of wire Pacilities to Ffacilitate
the sams, conspiraoy to do Che same and attenpis to do the game,
in vieolation of 21 Y¥.8.C. §F 84X{a) (1}, #43{b}, and 846; the
digtribution of fireatiy, pospession of firearms by convicted
feiong and aliens, and uge of firearms In furtherance of 3
narcotics-trafficking crime, in vielatlon of 18 ﬁ.s.c.

22 (a} (2} {n), 922(g) (L}, %22(g) {8){A), and 324(c); engaging in
monetary transactione involving the procesds of Lllegal aghtlvity
and money laundering, in vislation of 18 U.8.C., §§ 1956 and 1957;
and obtaining and transgferring fraudulent passports or other
identificablon/dmmigration documents, bringing in or harboring

¢ertaln alisns, congpiracy to do the game and attempts to do the
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game, in violation of 18 U.8.C0. § 1028 and 8 U.8.C. § 1324 {the
"TARGRT QFFENSES*).? - '

3. For the reascns set out in this affidavit, I
believe that there is probzble cause to belisve tha: the TARIET
OFFZNIES have bhean committed, ars being committed, and will
continue to be committed by one or more of the follcwing-
individuals: DUNSTON FOOTE, a/k/a “HKilla,” afk/a “Steve EBennett,”
CLOVAL TAYLOR, ajfk/a “Clove,* DWIGHT MORGAN, FNU LNU, afk/a
“Frankie,” FNU L¥U. ajkfa “Steve,” PRU LNU, a/kfa “Dirty,” BENU
L¥WYU, ajk/a *Chrig,” ALLEND ZAMOR, TOREY EANER, alk/a "Mello,”
a/k/a "Mellow, CONROY BROWN, KENMAR CHAMBERE, NATALTE SROWN,
afk/a “Danigha,” RAYMOND DORSEY, afk/a "Ray,” ajfk/a "Smoke,” TROY
MONTQUMERY, a/k/a “Scrapie," DROMYNEAK MONTGOMERY, a/k/fa
*Bramyy, ” RAYMOND JACKSON, akfa “Migiva,” GAQHIEMA GREEN, a/k/a
"Cash,” C'NEIL WHITE, RICARDC MONESTIME, a/k/a “Mossy,* MARLON
MURPEY, afk/a *Muxph,” RICARDC BEFOT, a/k/a "Bigga,” FITZROY
KELLY NORRIS, a/kfa “Ants,” JEVANIE JEFFREY GENTILES, SERGE
DORCELY, a/k/a "Bounty,” JOBEPH CARRACHIA, a/k/a “Carach,” DaéREN
MCMURRIN, a/k/a "“Fish,” SOPHIA MOORE, EDDIE PAYNE, SOPHIA JONES,
a/k/a “Bridgette,¥ MATTHEW DIACNE, JEAN DUFRESNE, DEBQRAH

GRIFFITH, FNV LNU, a/k/a *Ruffy,” ¥WU LNU, a/k/a *Mackerel,®

1 Altheugh not & predicate offense under 18 U,8.C. § 2516,
there ig probable cause to believe that the TAREET SUBIECYS (as
subsequently defined herein} have aidsd and sbhattad and are
aiding and abetting these zubstantive offanpes, in viclation of
ig U.B.C. B 2.
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DUNSTON POOTE, afk/a *Killa.* a/kfa “Steve Bemiatt,” and other
TARGET SUBJECTS to facilitate and discuss the TARGET OFFENSHES
through electrenic communications and will continue. to uga TARQRET
CELLPHACNE Z in such a manner for these purposses in the fubure.

II. LTERH&TIVE INVESTIGATIVE FROCEDIIRES

124, The princlpal geoals of this investigation are &g

identify, 15Ea£e,rand arregt persons responsible for the
digtribution of marijuana and cocaine in and axound Spring
Valley, to gather evidence against those responsible for running
the organization, to identify and locabe the sources that supply
the Foote Organization with large quantities of narcetics, to
identify the proceads of the Poote Grganizatiqn‘s'illégal
activitles and the meand by whioh such proceeds are being
distributed or laundered, $o arrest individuals unlawfﬁlly
possessing or uglng fireaxms and to seize thope firearms, and to
ldentify the individuals involved in the hransfer of fraudulent
ldentification documents and/or harboring of 1llegal aliensz. We
are Anvegtigabing not only the currently identlfleld TARGET
SUBJECTS, bub also &ll of the narcotics supplisrs, otherx
customers, distxibutors that work in the Fooﬁe Crganizabtion, and
associates, ap well ad the locetions at which the TARZBET SUBJEQTS
store narcotics and the methods by which they operate their

narcetice-trafficking businesg and how they disgpose of the
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proceeds of that narcotics fxafficking.

125, The interception of communicaticons over tha TARGRET
CELLPHONES pursuant to the August 4, HSeptember 3, and Octobar 2
Orders has provided valuable evidence againgt the TARGET
SUBIRCTY, Conblnusd interception of wire and élactronie
commynications over TARGET CEhLPHDNﬁ 1 and TARGET CELLPHONE 4;
continued interceptlon of wire communicatiouns ovexr TARUET
CELLPHONE 2 and TARGET CELLPHONE 3; and original interception of
elaotronic communications over TRRGET {ELLPHONE 2 are regulred,
however, bacauss the interdeption of communications to date have
ot fully revealed the nature and scope of the TARGRET SUBJECTE’
narcotics trafficking and okher illagai activities.

126. The dintergeptions Lo date bave not identifisd, for
example, the identitiss of all the mawbery of the Foote
Crganlzacion. DUNSTON FOOTE, a/k/a “Killa,* a/k/a “Steve
Bannatt, ¥ FNT ILNU, afkfé “FfankiE," and others make deliveries
inside and near buildinge where physical survaiilance is
challenging and uge rental cars to evade surveillance by law
enforcement. Whils the interceptions of communlcetiens sver he
TARGET CELLPHONES has providéd waluable information about the
other mewbers of the Foote Organization, additional interception
is neaded to confirm the identify of those individuals, The
invesfigation has alsc not yet jdemtified the suppliers for thé

Focte Organlzation, the locations of a1l the grganization’s stash
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hougas, the spourgeg of financing for the organization, and the
locationg and disposition of the procesds from the organization’s
narcotice trafficking activities, W#While the wire communicatlon
interceptions and physical survelllance, in cowbinatleon, have
provided valuable information about possible stash houses used by
the Foote Organization, further interoeption is needed to confism
that ecartain locatione are stssh houses and to ldenbify othar
posgible stash houses,

227. Intercepting wire and elgctronic comnunications
over the TARGET CELLPHONES will assist law enforcement officers
in fully vevealing the nature and scope of the TARGET SURBJECTS’
nareoctics trafficking and uﬁhar illegal activities. Epeciﬁically,
intercsptions over the TARGET CELLPHONES may reveal the source or
sources of supply for the Ppote Organization, Such interceptions
will enable the DEAR and the other law enforcsment groups with
which the DEA is working to gather evidence thar otherwize would
not be able to be gathered by more fraditlonsl investigative
tachnigues,

128, Other investigative techniguesn, desoribed herein
and in the Awgust 4, September 3, and October 1 AfEiduvies, have
been tried, including physical surveillance, purchages of drugs
by an undercover officer, and the use of a confidentizl
informant. While thoss efforts have baan fruitful, interception

over the TARUET CELLPHONES is required kecauge other
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investiéative techniques cannct fully reveal the nature and scope
of the TARGET SUBJECTS’ nawcotice trafticking activity. It is
antlclpated thu£ intargeption over the TARGET CELLPHONES will
asgist in contimiing to identify the means and wmethods by which
the Foots Drganization obtains a regular supply of marijuana and
. coraine and the individuals who are invelwved in the provigion of
that supply.

129, It de further anticipated that the interceptions
of wlre and eisctronle commundcatlons will aesist in continuing
to identify the locatlcon of stash houses, the sourde of financing
for the organization, amd the lecations and dispoeitions of the
proceeds from those activities. In addition, it im anticipated
that new targets would be identified through intercepted
compunications and these intervspted communications would provide
valuable evidenge and iuntslligence about incoming narcotics
shipments and on-going narcotles trafficking.

130. As digcussed below, aeveral other lnvestigative
techniques have been txried, or remsonably appear likely to fail
if tried, or are likely to jeopardize the investigation if tried.
*n the azbsence of the regquestsd authoriszatlion of wire
intergeptions cccurring over the TARGET UELLPHONES, thers are no
means Of datermining the internsl opsrations of the Foote
Crganizarion, incliuding when, where, and how the Foote

Organization obtains iftep pupply ¢f narcotics, the sxistence and
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locations of records relating to narcetics trafficking, the
location and source of yesources used to finance the illegal
activitles, and the location and disposition of the proceeds from
thosa activities. It ie only throuyh the combilnation of wire
gurvelllance, visual surveillance, and other investigabory tools
that the agents expect to identify fully the nature and soope of
the organization. &Accordingly, there ig a compelling need in
this case for wire and slectromic surveillance of the TARGET
CELLPHONES. |
Phyeical Suzveillsnce

133, Law enforaement officers of the DOEA, the Task
Force. the Polica Departmente of Spyrimg Valley, Ramape, Suffern,
Clarkstown, and cothere have gonductaed, and are continuing to
conduct {(when apprepriate), physicael surveliliance of members of
Ehe Fﬁ&te Crgamization. As desoribed in the August 4, September
2, and Quiobher 1 Affidavits, pols cameras have beéen installed
outeide of the Foote Rasidence and the Seabring House, where the
Foote Qrganlzation dp helieved to receive, digtribute, and skora
large quantities of drugs, Sinvs the October 1 Order was issued,
4 pole camera has alsc been Anstalled outside of the residence of
CLOVAL TAYLOR, a&/kfs “Qlove,” one of the TARGET SUBJECTS (the
*Taylor Residence”}. The pole ¢camera surveillance has provjided
ugeful information in the investigation, including evidence of

large packages of what appears to be narcotios baing transported
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Inte and out of the suspected stash houses by FOUTE and others
and FOOTE's uge of multlple cellpheonas and rental wvehicles.

132. PFor example, according to other iaw enforcesment
cfficers monitoring the pole camsrss, from on or about Octcber 1,
2014 through on or about October 20, 2010, z number oFf TARCGET
SUBJSECTS have. besn observed arriving at ths Seabring House,
staylng Loy a short period of time, and leaving with a package or
bag, including, FITZROY KELLY NORRIB, &/k/a “Ants,* a/k/a
*anteman,” SERGCE DORCELY, and SOPHIA MOORE, among uthers.' On or
about Qgtober 12, 2010, FOOTE, “Frankis,” and DEBORAH SRIFFITH
wore chserved transporting or assisting with the transpdrting of
a laxgs duifls bag fyom the FOOTE Residence to the Ssabring House
on or about October 12, 2018, In additiecn, on or about Octoker
22, 2010, FOOTE wag chperved revarging a veliicls into the
driveway of the Foote Residence, mo that the car was very closge
to the remidence, and removing an ltem from the trunk of th.e car,
which ine appeared to piage 1n a garbage can in or ﬁear the
garage. Communications intercepted pver ths TARGET JELLPHONES on
ohe same day and the Ffollowing day indiceted thut BOOTE had
ghtained a largs qu;ntity of marijusna £rom anobher TARGET
SUBJECT, FNU LU, a/k/a vJaheim Hill,* a/k/a “Struggo”.,

133, Physical surveillance, coupled with the
information from other sources, has been productive and has isgd

Lo the identification of soms wembers of the Foote Organization.

Bi
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Since the entxy of the Ootober 1 Ordax, new menbers have besn
identified, including ROBERT SAVAGE, a/k/a “Robert,” HAROLD LIBA,
PAUL FERRON, DAMION SMITH, JASON ALLEN, a/kfa “Papa,” DERICK F.
SEVAGE, STREVEN BARTHOLE, and ZOLANY WORRELL. However, it iz only
through the combination of wire gurveillange, physical
gsurveillance, and other lnvestigatory tools, howsver, that the
agents expect to identify fully the nature and scope of the
organization.

134. ¥Pols camara survelllance azlone, however, would not
likely yield concluasive evidanoe of the scope of the distribvution
network of ihe Foote Organization, the roles of the go-
cﬂﬁspiratﬂxs, or the participaticn of members who So neot go to
the Foota Residence., In addition, while surveillance has
revealed what appears to bs narcotics-relabted activity at the
Poste Regsldence and Seabring House, it has not revealsd the ype |
or quantity of drugs being transported by the Fcofe Organization
Lor distribution, and such surveillance has not revealed whers
packages Lyouwght to thome lodatlons are being obtained, Physical
surveillance hag been useful to corroborate information provided
by the CI or obtained from galls intaﬁcapteﬁ pursuant to ths
varicus Orders regarding the drug-related motivities of the
TARGRY SUBJECTS but does not providéﬁ thé context or substance of
the meetings betwesn co-conspirators and does not reveal tha

nature of their communilcations, and is therefore insufficient to
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maat the goals of the investigation. For example,

135, Inladditiﬂn. becauge of the locstions of the
sugpected stash and distribution locationsz; law enforcemsnt
officers are not able be follow FOUTE orx any vehlcles coming ox
going from tha Foote Residence ox the Seabrying House without
alerting POCTE ox othary TARGET BUBJECTS to thelr pressnce.
Moreover, baged 53 my experience and training, and @y
participation in this iﬁﬂestigation, narcoties traffickers are
Extreme}y_Eux¥ei11anCE-ccn$ciouE. For exampls, as noted in the
pertinent calls describagd above:

B, Un or about October 3, 2010, FOOTE fold a UM
that he didn’t meet him a9 planmned becausse “I coms by thers man,
I ses gll of that cop around your area man, I dow’t want to coma
oyexr that area . . . too wmuch dops arcund.” FOOTE told the UM,
*check me by wour boy at S8eabring.” {TARGET CELLPHONE 2 Session
5325) ., |

b. On or about Scbober 6, 2010, “Frankis® £5l4 a
woman that “Javonle* gave the police “Frankie's” address when
“Javonie” wag arvested and that “Frankie* cannot go £o the polics
station because he might be identified. (TARGET CELLFHONE 3
Sessiom 2086).

c. On or about Gehohey 6, 2410, “Danisha® callsd
FOOTH und told him that “I am driving” and asked if it “is too

openr” to “park at the palisade.” FOOTE responded that “it‘g not
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bos opan.” A stated above, based on my sxperience and
participstion in this investigation, I believe that POOTE and
*Danisha" were digcussing meeting for the purpoas of engaging in
a drug transaction and wanted to be hidden from debsvbion from
law anforoement. (TARGQET CRLLPHONE 2 Bession B733;,

Q. On px about Ockober 18, 2010, FOOTE spoks to
'-‘IF'i_"au'ﬂ{iE’“r znd ‘“YFrankie” told FOOTE “one boy ig on the block” and
that “one black . . . pull somebody.” BRs stated above, bassd on
my experience and participation in this investigation, I believe
that Yhoy? refers ko a police officer and “pull somebkody” means
o arrest someone, and that “Frankie® was warning FOOTE that
goneoye was arreBEted nsarby. (TARGET CELLPHOHE 2 Ssssion Z807).

Q, On or shout Qotober 1%, 2010, “Frankis~
¢alled FOCTE and teld FOOTE that “some boye came up top thers .
. the same man that you went to c¢heck . ., . he gald the othex
poye that had come up there the last time with Buddha, the
millitary boys . . . they full up thers, szo ha just osme Lo ¢gheck
1f yvou wexe dgocd.¥ FOOTE responded, “ok, up there?® “Frankie”
s=id, “ves, 80 dan'tlgo back that way . . . Just leave up there.®
As stated above, baged on wmy experience and participation in this
investigation, I belisve that “military boys" refers to police
and that *Frankie? was warnlng FOOTE to stay away Lzrom =
particular area because the police were around. (TARGET

CELLPHONE 2 Session 1554) .,

B4




Case 7:11-cr-00016-CS Document 224-6 Filed 11/30/11 Page 13 of 25

136. Aqpordingly, congidering the TARGET SUBJECTS’
pensltivity to law enforcement prasence, increased physical
surveillance could alext the TARGET SUBJECTS to the.existence of
the investigation, and cause them to relocabs or temporarily
ceage theiltr i1llegal activities, thereby hindering the
investigation,

137, Swyvelllance ls also a iimited investigative tool
because scme of the TARGET SUBJECTE remain unigentlfled or are
only partially identifisd and thexe is limited information aﬁout
the speciflc leocations in which they operabte. In addition, many
of the meetings betwesn the TARGET SUBJECTS has occurred in
garages and indoors, where phyelcal surveillancse has nob been
possible. Thus, evan if guccsssful, surveillance will provide
oenly limited corrcboration nfltﬁﬂ 1i1lioit narcotics activities of
the TARGET SUBJECTSH.

138. It ia expected that informabion thah cun be
obtained from interceptions over the TARGEY CELLPHONES will hslp
laﬁ enforcement agsnte determine the identities of the subiects
invelved and frack thelxr sutlvities, thereby enhancing kthe
prospeckte for mores frultful physical surveillance of those
avbivities. TIn addition, with the knowledgs provided beforehand
by wirs and electronic survaeillande that a meeting is to take
plade at & given leocation ox a packaga is to be received on a

certaln dakte or at a certain place, it may ba powsibis to
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estébliah phyalcal Bufvaillance at that lecation in adwvance, thus
minimizing the risks of discovery inherent in following subjects
oy remaining at targst locations for extended pericds of time.
Wire surveillance would betbter enable law enforzement to
cnardinatg physical and electronic surveillance of such drug
trangactions, potentially facilitating the seizure of narcetics
and narcotice-relnted procesds, and the arrest of TARGET
SUBJECTE. |

139. For the reasons descrlbed sbove, purveillance
.alone is insufficient to mest the goals of the investlgatlon.

Rocordingly, there is a compelling need in this gase for wire

Arregty

140, Attamphing to srrest the TARGET SUBJECTS now
would mean that several of the objectivas of this investigation
would be unfulfilied, Ag nﬂtﬁd above, since the entry of tha
October 1 Order, additional members of the Foote Organization
have haen identified through surveillancs.snd other means.
Arresting any of the TRRG&T SUBJECTE would almost certainly cause
other members of the Foote Organization, Including the sources of
supply and unidentlfled coconspirators, to temporarlly ceass
their iliegal activities or to cﬁange the lecatiaons,
inatrumentaiities, and methode used to conduct their illegal

activities. For example, on or about Octocber 22, 2010, an
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individunl wae nrrested for crimes related to thefts from
automobiles (the “Arrested WMan']} and conssnted to a seardh of hisg
apartment, which was located on the firxghb £loor of & duplex on
Iafavetts Streab. FITZROY ﬁELLY NORRIB, one of the TARGET
SUBIBUTE, resides in the second Ifleoor apmriment of thae asme
building, During communications intercepted over TARGEY
CELLPHONE 2, FOOTE told *Danisha® that fzhe “hovs* had been
outsige and he thought there was golng to be s rald Ly the police
(Sessicn 6847}. FOOTE said that he ran inside and took the ohip
cuib of the phone and threw downl the phons in case the officers
ware doning ingide. FOOTE said the police went “downstairs®
imstesd, but that he weas trerpped inside for a long time. FOOTE
told “Panisha” that only his *645% phone was working then,

141. Accordingly, I heileve that arresting some of the
identified participants in this conspiracy now would lead to the
destruction of evidence, temporary movement of Lhe Qrganlzation's
stash and distribution locaktions, and cauge gther members of ths
Poobéa COrganization, including the scurces of supply and
unidentified coconspirators, to tewporarily ceasge thelr illegal
activitles or changs the methods used to conduct thair 11lagal
activities

142. Furthermore, based oh information obtained during
the investigation thus far, I believe thnt DUNSTON FOOTE. a/k/fa

“EKilla,” ajk/a *Steve Bennett,” and FNU LNV, a/k/& “Frankie,”

a7
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denl with the organization’s suppliers. Based on my training,
experignce, and participation in the investigatbion, I believe
that although it is peossible that FOOTE or “Frankie” would
cdooperate with law enforcement if arrested, it ie by no wmeandg.
gertain that they would do s, Ib ie therefore uncertain whethen
arrests would Zead to tha ldentification of the Foote
Qrganization’s Euppliars, oxr to evidence ghowlny the
participation of the supplilers ln drug distribution,

| i%3, Arresting the ildentified TARGZET SUBJECTS and
attempting to obtain thelr cooperaticn in invegtlgebilng the
narcotics trafficking of their sriminal asscoiates iz an
lovestigatlve route that, in my judgment and the Judgment of
cther law enforcement officers involved, is not reasonably likely
to result in law enforcement learning the ildentities of the
brganization’s suppliers, the dispositieon of its narcotics
proveeds, or the identities of thes sddltional co-conspirators.
Due to the highly compartmentalized nature of drug-trafficking:
congpiraclies, I believe it iz unlikely that lowar-lavel
ﬂistrihﬁtorﬂ, or so-called *runners,” would be able to provide
information about the Foote Organization’s gources of supply and
the Iocations or uses of the procesds of their 1llegal

activities.
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Uga of Confldential Informants

; 144. This investigation has involved obtaining
information from and the acktive use Ef a confidentia®l informant
who previcusly worked as a drug dealer in the Foote Organizaticn,
as desorided 1in the Adgust 4, September 3, and Octocber 1
Affidavits. Although the T has provided wvaiuablse and
corroborated information, at thir time there ls no known
confidential seurcs that can_prcvide information aboui all of the
Foote Drganization’s sources of supply and their logatlons (rome
of which are believed to ke in cother states or countxiem), all of
the links in the chain of supply {including commections at
vaxrious mailing services}. and all of the Focte Organilzatlon’s
workars and customars.

145, Narooticse organixatiogs are generally highly
compartmentaliized, and 1t 18 uwaualiy lumposeible for an informant
k¢ gain access to all aspecis of an organization's illsgal
achivities. Thue, the use of confidential informants alone is
typically insdequate to develop svidencs about the TARGET
SUBJECTS' aupplisre and customexzs.

148, In additlon, based on my experiende 38 a narcotics
investigator, I bhelleve that drug traffickers ars unlikely to
discuss the full extent of their organization’s actlvitias or
mambership with any individual, subordinate member of the

crgandzation. Based on my experienge, I alpo know that narcotics
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organizations are often highly Qrotective of thelr sources of
supely.

147. Intercepting calls and, where reguested, text
nepgsagar over the TARGET CELLPHONES is likely to provide
information angd evidence that the I ¢annot alone provida.
Intercepted ¢alls and fexts are likely to bes upeful in
identifying co-conspirators who are unknown to the CT, providing
information abouk the receipt oxr distribution of drugs to which
the QX is not privy, and to provide evidence againgt the members
of the Foote Orgenizatlon. Interceptsd calls ars Iikely to bs
useful in identifying lopabione where drugs ars astored which arae
unknown to the CI, and additionally are llkely to ba upeful in
providing evidence showing whexe drugs and dyug proceeds are
located at particular instances, about which the CI‘s knowledge
i# necessarily limited. Intercepted calls are additionally
iikely to be ussful in corrohorating information provided by the

&x.

142, Bas=2d on my Xnowladge of this investigation and my

axperience ag a narcobticse investigator, I believe that the

30
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intercaption of the sommunications of the TARGET CELLPHONES is
essentinl o reveal the identitles of co-comspirators and the -
structurs and operation of the Féete Qrganization, Without the
evidence obtained Irom court-asthorized interceptions, I am
confident thaf the objectives of the investigation cannot be metl.
Use pf Tndsrcover Agents
158, Since the entry of the October I Oxder, an

undercover officer with the 8pring Valley Police Department (the
*Uc*) purchased quantitiesd of marijuana £rom JASON ALLEN, a/k/fa
“Papa,” and ZOLANT WORRELL,, two TARGET SUBJECTS. Bpacifiﬂﬁlly;
hasad on my review of reports and information obtainsd from other
iaw enforcement officers, I Enow that:

- Dh or about Ockober 18, 2818, the UC called
845-659-3555, and spoke with an individual previously identifisg
as JASON ALLEN, a/k/fa *Papa.”’ The UC had previcusly purchassg
marijuana from ALLEN in abh unrelsted investigation. Ths UQ and
ALLEN agresed fo mest in order for the UC to purchass marijuéna,
Tha UC and ALLEN later met &b a pre-srranged location, and the UC
purchased approximately 1%.1 grams of marijuana from ALLEN.
During that meeting ALLEN indicated that he vould obtain cocaine
for the T,

o 8 On or asbhout Octoker 19, 2818, the UC callad

1 Beforse ALLEN was identified ag & TARSET SUBJECT of this

invegtigation, the UC had alsc purchasged druge from ALLEX in oy
abownt August and September 2010 ag part ¢f a separate
inveatigarion.
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845-659-6915 and spoke with an unldentifisd male {(“UM*). 3As part
of a ruse, the UL refarred to the UM by the alias used by the
previous user of Ehat phone number, from whom the UC had alsc
purchassd drugs. The UC asked to purchase marijuana fxom the TM,
and they agreed to mest latser that say. The UC and the UM met at
& pra-arranged location and the UC purchased approximately 30.4
grame of marijuana from the UM, During that meeting the UM
indicated that he could obtain cocairns for the UC. The UM was
later identifiéﬁ & ZOLANI WORRELL, = kﬁDWn drug dealsar,

151, Based on my conversabtlone with SVED Sergeant 1 and
my review of intercepted communicationsg, T bhelleve that ALLEN and
WORRELL obtain marijuana frowm “Frankie,” FDOTE, and/or other
members of tha Foote Organization and rsssll it.

152, Aithough the UC wag akle to purchace drugs from
gtrzet-level dealsrs assoclnted with the Foote Crganization, due
to the cumpartm&ntaligad nature of the Foote Organization, there
is no expectation that any undercover agent will be able to deal
dirsctly with FOOTE's sources of Bupply to purchsse drugs or
inflltrate the inner workings of tha Poote Organizatiocs.
Furtharmors, the roles of the TARBET SURJHCTS in the conspiracy
are 2iso not clearly defined at this time and an undercover ageant
ig Iikely to only bhe pafmitted aceess to the lovar-level dealers,
&g opposed to the larger Eigures in charge of the sources of

supply and distribution.
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153, There is currently 0o exXpectation that an
undercover officer would be able to determine the full scope of
the TARGRT SUBIECTS’ operations, meet angd identify all of the
other TARGET SUBIRITS end their oo-consplrators, or identify the
TARGET SUBJELTS' naractice supplierg and their confadarstes, I
do not believe that an undercover officer oould Infilltrata the
Foota Crganization,

Talephons Toll Records

154. Taelephene toll records have been and will be used
in this investigation, but will provide only iimited information.
I have cbtained and reviewsd telephone toll racords for ths
TARGET CELLPHONES aﬁd other ¢ell phonap believed to be used by
members of the Foote Organization., Phone redords, however, do
not anable law enforcement officers to identify with certainty
the pergond involved in ths conversations ﬁr the gilgnificance of
the cammuninatiﬁns in the dontext of ongeing narcotleos
trafficking. Among other problems, a telephone numbsy appearilig
in the records wmay nct be ligted or subscoribed in the name(s!l or
addrage (es) of the personi{s} actually using the telephone.
Furthermore, the use of célling cards and telephone access
numberd ¢iten hides the ultimate numbers called, thereby
preventing law enforcement frow learning the participants
involwved in any particular communication, In adgéition, the

review of telephone recourds will nob, in itsslf, raveal the
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structure of the Foote Organization oy its 50urcaﬁ'cf~supply_
Fedezal drand Jury

15%. The isguancde of grand jury subpoenas is likely to
be inadeguate to obtailn critical information about the timing and
lowation of narcotics transactione. Witnesses whio might provide
additional relevaﬁt evidence to a grand jury have not been
igentitfled or would themeelves be participants in the narcotics
erafficking. Bacaugs such indlviduals would face prosacubion
themselves, it is unlikely that any of them would bestify
volunbtarily. Nor would it be desirable at this time $£o meek
immunicy for such individuals and to compel their testimony,
Immunizing them could thwart the publig peligy that bthey be held
aggountable for their crimes. Furtﬁermsre, the lapuance of grand
jury subpoansas to other individuals would risk alertinq the
TARGET SUBJECTH to the ongoing investigation befoxe thair pources
of supply are identlfied and located., Moreover, not a1l of the
TARGET SUBJECTS have bean ldentifiled and, in the abssnce of
further evidence identifying co-consplrators and their respective
involvemnent in the Foote Gﬁgaqization, it is diffgﬂult to
determing whow te subpoena to the OGrand Jury.

Witness Interviews

158, I belleve that intervisws of the TARGET SUB&EETS

or their known agseclabes would producs insufficient information

as Lo the idemtities of all of the persons invelved with the
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TARGET SUBJECES in narcotics trafficking, the sources and
locatione of the drugs, ths sources of fimancing, the Llocabions
of records and procseds from the distribution of drugs, and othar
partinent information regarding the TARGET COFFENSES. I also
baiisve that any responses to the interviews, particularly
interviews of thoss who mre higher up in the organization, counld
contain a significant pumbay of unbruths, diverbing the
investigaticn with false leads or othexwise frustrating the
inveptigation. I belisve that gnestioning any of the remaining
co-conggivators would alert the other co-consplrators. and cause
& change in thair methode of operation and the concealment or
destruction of evidence hafore all of the co-zenspirators are
identified, thereby compromising the investigation and resulting
in the possible loss of valuable evidencs, and the possibility of
harm to the CI, whose identity wRy beuome known or whose
exipbeance may otherwise be compromlsed.
| Search Warrants

157, The investigation has revealsd informatlon that
would likely enable the DEAR Co oktain and execute gearch warrapts
for the Foote Resldence and the Seabring House, descyihed abova.
In addition, the invastigatiaﬁ has revealed infcrmation thab
vould likely enable the DEA o obtsin and exscute search warrants
for KELLY'e Residence on Lafavette Btreet, and social ciubs on .

North Main 8ireet and FHorth Madison Street in Spring Vallev, XNew
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York that arse kelleved te be uged by membexs of the Fooke
Organization ko stoye and distribute narzotics, While executing
gearch warrants at those lecéticns may result in the seizurs of
partinsnt evidence, it would also alert the TARGET SUBJECIS to
the exlptence of the investigation without the likelihood of
getermining the full scope of the organization’s operations,
particularly the crganization’s sources of supply, the identities
of &11 of the co-conspiratorg, or othaer locations where narcotics
ars stashed.

 158. I believe that the execution of search warrants
would ba premature at this stage of the investigation becausse
further information is needed to identify the wmeans and methods
by which the Foote Organizatlon cobtains a supply of narcotics,
and other locations wheye the drugs ané drug-distribution
proveeds ars transported ang atorsd. The execution of search
warrants at the locations described above is not likely to lead |
to the identification of cther locations used by the Foote
Organization. Hor is it likely to laad to the identification of
cn—cﬂnapir&ﬁorﬁ who participate in cbtalning or selling the Foote
Organizaticon’'s supply of drugs.

159, The locations where the TRRGRET SUBJECTS currently

recelve, hide, znd distrxibute their narcotics and nargoties
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procseds have not been fully identified. Morveovar, without wire
gurveillance, law snforcement will not know when the iomatilons
contain marxgotics, narcotics proceeds, and other evidence of the
TARGET D%FEHEEE. I haliiave that wire surveillance will asgist
law enforcement 1n contlnulng te identify locations where
narcotice and narcotios progeeds are currently stored, and
determine when such contraband i at such locations, so that
sgaroh warrants for suach locations may be obtained while
contraband iz still present at the locatlons.

1EGT Acdordingly, and because the above-dogcribed
investigative techniques are limited in thelx agﬁliﬁatians, have
besn unsuccessful, or are unlikely to be succsssful,
authorization to intercept wire and electromic gommunications
over the TARGET CELLPHONES 1 necessary to identify and develup
evidence againet the TARGET ZUBJECTS.

MINIMIZATION

isi. all monitoring of wive and electronic
communications over the TARGET CELLPHONES wlll be minimized in
acgordance with Chapter 119 of Title 18, United States Code.

162. The “invastigative or law enforcement officers of
the Unlted States” and tranelaturs, if necegsary, who are to
carxy out the reguested interception of wire communications, will
he instrueted concerning the steps they should take to avoid

infringing upecn any attorney-client privilage or other recognlzad
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organizations are often highly probechbive of their scurces of
supbly.

ia7, Intarﬂept;ng calls and, where requested, text
meHsages over the TARGET CELLPHONES is likely to provide
inforpation and gvildance that the CI dannoi alone provide.
Intercepted calle and bexts are llkely to be useful in
identifying co-conspirators who are unknown to the €I, providing
inforpation about the receipt or distribution of JSrugs to which
the CI is net privy, and to provide evidence against the members
of the Fﬂﬂée Qrganization. Intercepted calle zre likely to be'
ugsful in idsntifving locations where drugs srs stored which are
unknown to the I, and additiomally are likely te be ussful in
providing evidence showing whers drugs and drug proceeds ara
located at particular instances, about which the CI'p knowledge
is necess&rily limited. Intercepted callis are additionally
likely to be useful in corrohorating informstion provided by the
CE.

148. Additionally, since I and other law enforcement
cEficers learned that the CI had engaged in unauthorized,
nachtiﬁs-ralﬁted comsunicationd with FOOTE that were interceptad
over TARGHT CELLPHONES 1 and 2, pursuant to the August ¢ Order,
we have marginalized the role of the CI in thia- investigation. .

143, Baded on ny knowledge of this investigation and my |

experlience ap a narcotler investigator, I belisve that the
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have had sither direct or hearsay knowledge of that statement) to
whem I or other law enforcement cfficérﬂ have spoken or whose
reports I have read and reviewed. BSuch statementa are reported
in substance and in pﬁrt, unlegs otherwize indicated. Likewlse,
information resulting from survelllance sets forth either my
peregonal observations or information prnviﬁed directly or
indirectly through other law enforcement officers who econducted
such surveillanﬁe.

6. Bacause this affidavit 1g being submitted for the
limited purpose of eecuring an order authorizing the interception
of wira communications, I have not inciuded detalls of every
aspect of this investlgation to date. Facte not set foxth herein
are not being relied on in reaching my conclualion that ordexs
should be issued. HNox de I request Chat this Court rely con any
facts not set forth herein in reviewing thig application for an
order authorizing the interception of wive communications.

THE DESIGNATED TRILEFHONE

7. There i= probable cauge to believe that ROUDNEY
.MUEHINGTDH, a/k/a *Taheim Hill,” a/k/a "Diego,” a/k/a *Struggo,”
a/k/a "Mark Brown,” ig using, and will in the future use, in
order to accomplish, to discuss and te ccmﬁit the TARGET
OFFEMSES, the cellular telephone agsigned call number {914) 552-
8426 and ESN number 268435456413922745, subscribed to Jaheim Hill

at 326 Scuth & Avenue, Mount Vernon, WNew York 10550, with serxrvice
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provided by Virgin Mobile and network sexvice provided by Sprinkt-
Nextel {“TARGET CELLFHCNE 57} .

8. in particulay, there ls probable cause to belleve
that RODNEY ﬂﬁSﬁINGTDR, a/k/a “Jaheim Hill,” a/k/a “Diego,” a/k/fa
“Strugge,* afk/a "Mark Brown,” is using TARGET CELLPHONE 5 to
make wire communications in furthefanae of, in connection with,
to facilitate, to accomplish, and to commit the TARGET OFFENSES.

o It i3 redquested that with regard to TARGET
‘ﬁELLPHDﬂE 5, interception be permitted over the target telephone
number, and any telephone numbers subsequently agsiguned to or
acceened by or thrcﬁgh the same ESN number as TARGET CELLPHONE 5,
or asslgned to the instrument bearing the éame E3N numbers as |
TARGET CELLDHCONE 5. In addition, it ip requested that background
conversationg, 1n the vicinity of TARGET CELLPHONE 5 while it is
off the hook or otherwige in use, alsé.be permitted to ha
intercepted. |

10. I have been informed by other law enforcement
porsonnel whoe are familiar with the appliicable telephons
technology that a “portable cellular telephone” {Df a “mobile
telephone”} can be used both within a wehicle and outaide a
vehicle through the use of a portable battery pack. The cellulax
telephone aystem divides metropolitan areas into many small
coverage areaa,_which are called “cells." As a vehicle in which

a2 portable cellular telephone is locatedl or the cellular
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continued interception and recording of wire and electronic
communications (i.e., taxt.measages} over TARGET CELLPHONE 1 arnd
TAﬁGET CELLPHONE 4;. {2} the continued interception and recording
of wire communications and the original interception and
recording of electronic compmunications coveyr TARGET CELLPHONE 2;
and (3} the continued interception anﬁ recording of wire |
communications over TARGET CELLPHONE 3 {the “October 2% Order”}.
Interception of wire and electronic communications pursuant o
the October 29, 2010 Order began on October 2%, 2010 and will
expire on November 27, 2010. All interceptions are ongoing.

I. 'THERE IS PROBABLE CAUSE TC BELIEVE THAT THE TARGET SUBJRCTS

WILL USE TARGET CELLPHONE 5 I} FURTHERANCE OF THE TARGET
OFFENSES :

A. Background of Inwvestigation

16. Ae detalled below and degcribed in the Rffidavits

of Task Force Qffice Walter Alciver submitted on Auguast 4, 2010
in support of the spplication to intercept wire communications
pursuant to the Auéust 4 Order {the “August ¢ Affidavit,”
attached hereto asg Exhibit C}; September 3, 2010 in support of
the application to intercept 3nd continue to intercepht wire
communications purauant to the September 3 Order (the "“September
3 Affidavit,” éﬁtaﬂhed hkereto ad Exhkibibk D); October 1, Z0L0 in
support of the application to intercept and continue to intercept
wire and electronic communications pursuant to the October 1

order (the *Qctober 1 Affidavit,” attached hereto ag BExhibit E};
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and the affidavit of DEA Special Agent Mark Kadan submitted om
October 29, 2010 in support of the application to intercept and
contimie to intercept wire and electrenic communications pursuant
o the October 29 Orxder (the “October 23 Affidavit,” attacﬁed
hereto as Exhiblt F} there is probable cauvse to believe that the
TARGET SUBJECTS are ?nvolved in the TARGET OFFENSES and are
members of a warijuana and cocaine traffieking organization (the
*Foote CQrganization”) based in and %rcund Spring Valley, New -
York,

17. A8 describad in the Augusi 4, September 3, Gptober
1, and Cctober 29 Affidavits, DUNSTON FCOTE, a/kfa "Killa,” a/k/a
“gteve Bennett;” FNU LWJ, a/k/a “Frankie;” and other TARGET
SUBJFECTS use cellphones to coordinate the Foote Organization’s
drug deaiing activity gnd transfer of the illegal proceeds
thereof, in and arcund Spring Valley, Hew York., FOOTE and
“Frankie” recaive narcotics from suppliers and distribute
narcotics to a nuﬁber of customers and co-conspirators in and
arcund Spring Valley, who then sell the narcotics to other
customerg. Physaical surveillance and interception of wire
camﬁunications have revealed thabt FOCOTE and “Frankie”’ receive and
gdeliver drugs from/to customers and.cm-ﬁnnspiratcrs at pre-
arrvanged times and places. They alsc receive shipmente of
narcotice and send money via the malls, wires, and other co-

gonspirators. The deliveries and receipt of drugs and wire

14 -
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trangfers of money are coordinated through phone calls and text
messages between FOOTE, “Frankie,” and thelr co-conspirators over
TARGET CELLPHONE 1, TERGET CELLFHONE 2, TARGET CELLPHONE 3,
TARGET CELLPHONE 4 (collectively, the “TARGET CELLPFHONESY) and
TARGET CELLPHONE 5. FPOOTE, “Frankie,” and their co-conspirators
algo discuss bringing in and harboring aliems, transferring
fraudulent immigration documents, and the unlawfnl popsepsion and
uge of fireaxrme hy the TARGET SURBJECTS over the TARGET
CRLLPHONES.

18, A= detailed herein, and more fully described in
the. August 4, Septembar 3, October 1, and October 29 Affidavits,
there ig probable cause to balisve that the TARGET SUBJIECTS are
involved in the TARGET OFFENSES. Purzuant to the Auvgust 4 Oxder,
authorization was received to intercept wire communications over
TARGET CELLPHONE 1 and TARGET CELLPHCNE 2. Intercepticns over
thope 30 days confirmed that TARGEY CELLPHONE 1 and TﬁRGET-
CELLPHONE 2 are being uged by the TARGET SUBJECTE and cthers to
engage in narcotics trafficking activities. Pursuant to the
September 3 Orxder, auvthorization was received te continue to
lntercapt wire communications over TARGET CBLLPHONE 2 and to
begin to intercept wire communications over TARGET CELLPHONE 3.
Purguant toe the October 1 Order, authorization was received to
renew the interception of wire communications and to begin to

intercept electronic communications over TARGET CELLPHONE 1; to
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continue to intercept wire communications over TARGET CELLPHORE 2
and TARGET CELLPHOWE 3; and to begin to intercapt wire and
electronic communications over TARGET CBLLPHONE 4. Pursuant to
tﬁ; Ootoher 29 Order, authorizatlon was recelved to contimue to
intercept wire and elactronic communicatilons over TARGET
CELLPHONE 1 and TARGET CELLPHORE 4; to continue to intercept wixe
communications and to begin to inktercept electronilce
communications over TARGET CELLPHONE 2; and to comtinue to
intercept wire communications over TARGET CELLPHONE 3. Those
interceptions are ongoing and have confirmed thal the TARGET
CELLPHONES are being used by the TARGET SUBJHECTS and others to
Iengage in narxcobics txafficking, unlawful poszsession and use of
firea:ms, money laundering, and immigration fraud. However, all
of the goala of the Prior Ccﬁrt Orders have not yet bsen
achieved. Thugz, this application seeks an Order authorizlng the
original interception of wire communicatlons over TRRGﬁT
CELLPHORE 5.

c. Drug-Related Activity Uping TARGET CELLPHONE 5

is, Baped on wy review of calls intercepted pursvant
to the Ootober 1 Order, I believe that TARGET CELLPHONE 5 wasz
used 1ln the followlng drug-related transactions or discussions:

20. On or about October 20, 2010, at approximately
7:146 p.m., FOOTE placed an outgoing call ovexr TARGET CELLPHONE 2

to TARGET CELLPHONE 5 and sﬁoke to a man identified on other-
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intercepted calls as “Struggo” (Seseion 6658} . During the call,

ngtrugge” said, “the thing tomorrow . . . hé was saying he has
one five little boy on one of them . . . from a brother in
Brocklyn . . . but it is not warked, so I guess you are going to
have to chop it.® Based on my experience and wy participation in

this investigation, T bglieve that “five iittle.hoy” refers to a
quantity of nareotics and that “chop” means to process and
package narcotics, I further bslieve that "Struggo” was telling
FOOTE about a quantity of narcotics he was gupplying to FOOTE.

‘ 21, At approximately B:3% p.m., on the sawe day, FOOUTE
placed an cutgoing call over TARGET CELLPHONE 2 tq TARGET
CELLPHONE 5 and spcke to “Struggo” (Session 6672). buring the
call, ®Strugge’ said, “when you touch that tomorrow, there will
ba two more there. My uncle’s guy pushed two, but I didn’t know
about it until tonight.” Later in the conversation, “Struggo”
said, “thoge gquyse might just have two things for Reohan too,
bacause I went over thexre this worning for Homeboy . . . the
Homeboys got a two things this morning and they wers teiling me
that Rohan and his guys goﬁ some things . . . 2o I know they will
get thingm, because him and his girl got things, 8o I know more
than Iikely they will have more things tomorrow.” Finally,
"dtruggo” sald, “the way he deals with it iz the right way,
anyway, von know . . ., it shows that it’'s coming from different

places.” Baged on my experience and my participation in this

17



Case 7:11-cr-00016-CS Document 224-8 Filed 11/30/11 Page 9 of 39

investigation, I believe that “two” and “things” refer to a
quantity of narcotics., When "Struggo” sald “it's cominé from
differeﬁt places” I believe he meant that nawcotics were being
shipped Erom different locations or addresses and that packages
of narcotics were not always shipped directly to the fimal
racipient.

a2 . O October 21, 2010, at approximately 9:35 a.m.,
FOOTH placed an outgoing call over TARGET CELLPHONE 2 to TARGET
CELLPHONE S-and apoke bto *Strugge’ {(Session £635)., During the
call, “Struggo” asked, “What’s going on? Dld you guys go
already?” FOOTE repponded, “no, I“m just heading out now, on the
highway, the 87.” “Struggs” said, “I was going to have you pay
him Ffor those other two until I come see you, but . . .” Based on
my experience and my participation in this inﬁestig&ticn, I
helieve that "Struggo” was agking whethex FGOTE had already
picked wp a quantity of narcoticse. “Strugge” also indicated that
he had intended to have FOOTE pay a third individual for “the
other two,” which I belleve to be a guantity of narcotics.

a. From my éonversatimna with a Sergeant of the Spring
valley Police Department {(“SVPD Serxrgeant 1"}, I learned that
later that same day, other law enforcvement officers participating
in this investigation uged cell site information to 1ocatelTRRGET
CELLPHONE 2 and found that it was located in an industrial area

in New Jersey. A law enforcement officer conducting survelllance

is
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in the vicinity later observed FCOTE driving a car om the
Palisades Parkway and followed FOOTE back to his house at 9B
Blakeslee Place, Hillhurn; ﬂew York {the *Feote Resgidence}. A
pole camera in the vieinity of the Foote Residence captured FOOTE
backing up inte the driveway so that the trunk of the car was
vary close to the garage. FOOTE then agpeared to unload
gomething from hieg btrunk and put it into a garbage can in or near
the garage.

23, That same day, at approximztely 8:0% p.m., FOOTE
received an incoming call over TARGET CELLPHONE 2 from TARGET
CELLFPHCONE 5 and spoka to “gtrugge” {Seseion 6714). During the

call, ®*Strugge’ sald, "I will have to come and pick up them two

things tomorrow.” FOOTE said, “he ‘say lts 25 in it.” ‘“Btruggo”
said,=“him gay a 25 in each one.” FOOTE regponded, “yeh man, them
feel heavy wman.” “Strugge® sald, *he says totally its 44

plus‘tha 5 . . . would make it 49.% Baped on my experience and my

partici?atimn in thies investigation, I believe that 25, 44, 5, and
49 refer to pounds of marijuana and that FCOTE picked up
approximately 49 pounds of marijuana in New Jersey earlier that
day. I alzo helileve that."Strugge” was arranging to maet FOOTE to
pick up drugs and/or money,

| 24, ©On or about October 23, 2010, at approximately
" 5:;10 p.w., POOTE received an incoming call.over TARGET CRELLPHCHE

2 from TARGET CELLPHONE 5 and spoke to “Btruggo® (Session 6866}.
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buring the call, “Struggo” told FOUTE that he wae coming through
but was waiting on “Homeboy” who was comipg on “925.%  “Bhruggo”
said that “Homeboy® had already “crossed the bridge.” Basged on
mﬁ experience and my participation in thie investigation, I
believe that "Struggo” was saying that “Homeboy” wag coming up
»1-95% a major highway which runs, among otherlplacas, Exom
Maryland to New York.

25. From wmy conversatlons with 3VPD Sergeant 1, T
iearned that pole camera surveillance of the Foote Rﬂéiﬂence'
ahﬁwed the following:

a. Later on October 23, 2010, at approximately
5:00 p.m., two cars were observed backing into the driveway of
the Foote Residence: a 2009 silvex MarcadeE.Benz with Maryland
license plate GEY J31 registéred to Ryan Orebte Hill, 885 MNalley
Road, Myattsville, Maryl%nd and a Kiz bearing New York license
plate VGE 857, which, according te SVED Sergeant 1, matched the
licenge plate and descriptioﬁ of a car rented from a rental car
company kuown as Enterprise in Wayne, New Jersey {(the “Kia”}.

b, While the cars were 1ln the driveway of the
Foote Regidence, cell site information for TARGET CELLPHONE 5
indipated that TARGET CELLPHONE 5 was in the vicinity of the
Foote Regldenca.

o. The driver of the Mercedes was a woman {the

wMercedes Woman”), and the passenger in the Mercedes was a black
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male (the "Mercedes Man”}. The driver of the Xia was a tall
black male wearing a hat {the "Kia Man"), The Kia Man got out of
the car and walked toward the rear of the Foote Residence.
Shortly thereafter, the Kia Man veturned to the driveway with
FOOTE. The trumk of the Mercedes was opened and the Mercedes
Woman appeared to take a bag out of the Mercedes and put it on
top of the trunk of the Mercedes. The Mercedes Woman then put
the bag back in the Mercedes, and walked towérd the rear of the
woote Regidence. A short while later, the Mercedes Woman walked
back toward the driveway, carrylnmg another bag, which she put
.intc the Mercedass. The original cccugants of the Kia and
Marcedes then drove away in thelr respective carﬁ.

26. From my convarsation with a Special Agent with the -
DEA {“DEA Agent 171 learneé the following:

a., On or about Qgtober 28, 2010, DEA Agent 1,
along with other law enforcement officers, used cell site
information to locate TARGET CELLPHONE 5 in the vicinity of 2489
Thomas MeoGovern Drive, an address in the same industrial area of
New-Jersey in which TERGET CE#LPHONE 2 was lméated on Qotober 21,
2020. DEA Agent 1 and cther law enforcemant officers conducted
Eurvéillance of 249 'Thomas MeGovern Drive and observed a black
male believed tp be RODNEY MUSHINGTON, a/k/fa “Jaheim Hill,” a/k/a
“Diego,” afk/fa “Strugge,” afk/a “Mark E;owﬁ," maating with

ancther unidentified black male.
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. In the last two weeks of October, the Unlkted
Parcel Service of America [*URSY) deliversd numercus boxnes ko 249
Thomas McGovern Drive. Each of the boxes weighed between 38 and
3% pounds and was shipped from an addrese in either Arvizona ox
California. Based on my experience and my participation in his
invyestigation, I baliewve that the packages contained.shipmenta of
marijuan, |
27. On or about November 2, 2010, at approximately
12:08 p.m., FOOTE placed an outgoing call over T&RGETPCELLPHGNE 1
to TARGET CELLPHONE 5 and gpoke to “Struggo” (Sessicn 1060 .
Buring the call, FOOTE gaid that “the-thing iz not too
wonderful.” “Struggo” paid that “it’s a lot of little dark up
thing.* FOOTE respohﬂed that, “1t‘e a lot of ccmplaints I am
_getting. T don’t buret the next one yet to tell you how much
number a blood claut.” “Strugge’ asked, “how much did you get
oit of the first one?” POOTE said “3 of Ehe gmall unit lees 21.7
“Strugge” sald he “was told it'g 44.% “Strugge” said, “what he
says, it’'s 44, gc¢ I don’t know.” FOGTE said, “the.things are bad
dog, I am telling yeu star, I didn’'t know that's how it’a bad,
. you can’'t pay that kind of money for that kind of something.”
Baced on my experience and my participatiion in thiam
investigﬁtion, I balisve that “thing,* %37 Y217 and *44" a1l
refer to quantities of marijuana. FOOTHE and "Struggo” were

digcugging the peoor quality of a shipment of approximately 44
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pounds of marijuana. I further believe that sghraggo” asked how
much usable marijuana FOOTE had gotten from the first box.

28, Based on the surveillance and intercepted calls
described above, and haped on my experience and participation in
thig investigation, I believe that “Struggo” and FOOTE are
engaged in narcotice transactions and that the interactions
dezcribed above are instances in which FOOTE and “Struggo,” or
others working at their direction, met for the purpose of
exchanéing narcotics and money.

F. Analysis of Telephone Recoxrds for TARGET CELLPHONI 5

35, T have reviewed telephone toll records for TARGET
CELLPHONE. 5 for the time periocd September 25, 2010 through
October 24, 2010, (the “Time Period”}. There were approximately
525 incoming and outgoing calis over TARGET CELLPHONE 5 during
that 30-day Time Period, to or from approximately 63 different
telephone numbers. ©f those &3 phone numbers, at least 22 are
sellnlar telephone numbers with New York arxea codes, 4 are
telephone numbers with California area codes, 9 are telephone
numberé with Florida area codes, 1 1is a telephone with & Maryland
area code, 1 is a telephone number with an Arizona axrea code, 1
is a telephone nunber with a Worth Carolina area code, and 5 are
telephnpé numbars with a Jamaican area coode. The teleplione
records For TARGET CELLPHORE 5 show calls to and from, among

other numbers, the following numbers:
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Hill,* a/k/a *Diego,” afk/fa “Qtruggo," a/k/a “Mark Brown,* to
dlzscuss, facilitate, and engage in the distrxibution of narectics.
I believe that RODNEY MUSHINGTON, a/k/a “Jaheim Hill,” a/k/a
“piego,? a/k/a “8truggo,” a/k/a “Mark Brown,” will continue to

uge TARGET CELLPHONE 5 for these rurposes in the future,

I1. ALTERWNATIVE INVESTIGATTVE PROCEDURES HAVE BEEN TRIFD OR
AFPPEAR UNLIKELY TO SUCCERD I¥F TRIED; YHERE I8 A NRED FOR THE

INTERCEPTION QF WIRE COMMUNICATIONS OVER TARGET CRLLPHONE 5

33, The principal goals of this investigation are to

igentify, locate, and arrest peksond responaihle for the
distribution of marijuana and cocaine in and around Spring
Valley, to gather evidence agalnst those responsible for runnipg
the organization, to idemtify and locate the scuﬁcea that supply
the Foote Drganizatioﬁ.with large quantities of narcotics.

34. We are investlgating not only the currently
- identified TARGET SUBJECTS, but also all of the narcotice
suppliers, other wcustomers, distributors that work in the Poots
Organization, and associates, as well as the locabtions at which
| the TARGET SUBJECTS store narcotics and the methods by which they
opsrate-their narcotica-trafficking business and how they dilspose
of the proceeds of that narcotics trafficking.

35. The interception of communications over the TARGET
CELLPHONES pursuant te the August 4, September 3, October 1, and
Dotober 29 Orders has provided valuabie evidénce against the

TARCGET EUBJECTS; Interception of wlre commmunicatione over TARGET
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CELLPHONE 5 is required, however, because the interception of
communications to date have pot fully revealed the natoure and
scopa of the TARGET SUBJECTS’ naxcotics trafficking and other
illegal activities.

36. The intercephtions to date have not identified,.far
axample, the identitiez of all the members of the Foote
Organization. DUNSTON FOOTE, a/k/a “Killa,”-afkfa “Steve
Bennett,* FNY INU, a/k/a *Frapnkie,” and others make delive;ies
inside and near buildings where physical survelllance is
challenging and use rental cars to evade surveillance by law
enforcament. #Wwhile the interceptions of communicatlons over the
TARGET CELLPHONES had provided valuable information about the
other members of the Foote Organizatiom, additional interception
izg needed to confirm the identify of those individuals. The
investigation has alsc not yet identlfied all of the puppliers
for the Foote Oxganization, the locations of all the
organization's stash houzea, the gources of financing for the
organization, and the locatlons and disposition of the proceeds
from the organization’s narcotics trafficking activities. ®hile
the wire and electronic communication interceptions and physical
purvelllance, in combination, have provided valuable information
about pogsible staéh houges used by the Foote Grgénizaticn,
Further interception is needed Lo confirm that certain locations

are stash housgss and to identify other pozsible stash houses.
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17, ZIntercepting wire communications over TARGET

CELLPEONE 5 will assist law enforcement officers in fully |
révéaling the nature apnd scope of the TARGET SUBJECTS' narcotics
rrafflcking and other illegal activities. Specifically,
Iin£Ercegtiona over TARGET CERLLPHONE 5 may reveal the sgource oxr
éourcea of supply for the Foote Crxganization, thedr method of
traneporting narcotics, and the locations at which they store
narcotics. Such interceptions wili enable the DEA and the other
law enforcement grauﬁs with which the DEA is working to gather
evidgnce that otherwise would not be akle to be gathered by more
traditional iqvestigative technigues. -

| 38, Other investigatilve technlgues, described herein
and 1n the August 4, September 3, October 1, and Oetober 29
Affidavité, have been tried, inciuding physical surveillance,
purchases of drugs by an undercover officer, and the use of a
confidential informant. While those efforts have been fruitful,
interception over TARGET CELLPHOKE 5 1s required because. othex
inveatigative techniques cannot fully reveal the nature and zcope
of the TARGET SUBJECTY’ narcotics trafflcking activity. It is
anticipated that interception over TARGET CELLPHONE 5 will assist
in econtinuing to identify the means and methods by which the
Fooke Organizatbion obtains a xegular supply of marijuana and
cocaine and the ipdividuals who are invelved in the provipion of

that supply.
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39. It is further anticipated that the interception of
wire communlcations over TARGET CELLPHONE 5 wlll assist in
continuing to identify the location of stash housed, the source
of financing for the organization, and the locations and
dispomitions of the proceeds from those activities. In addition,
it is anticipaited that néw ta?gets would be identified through
intercepted communications and theme intercepted communications
would provide valuable evidence and intelllgence about inecoming
narcotice shipments and on-going narcotics trafficking.

40. Ar digcussed helow, several other investigative
technigques have been tried, or reasomably appear likely to fail
tf tried, or are likely to jeopardize the investigation 1if tried.
In the absence of the reqguasted authorization of wire
interceptions- oocourring ovey TARGET CELLPHONE 3, there are no
means of determining the identities of the suppliers to the Foote
Organization, thelr location, their source Dﬁ narcotlics, theirx
methods of receiving, transporting and paying for narcotlcs, or
the location of their narcotics supply. £ is only through the
combination of wire purveillance, visual gurvelliance, and other
invenstigatory toolsg that the agents expect to identify fully the
nature and scope of the organization. BAccordingly, there is a
compelling need in this case for wire interceptions of TARGRT
CELELPHONE 5.

Physical Survelllance
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41, Law enfnrceﬁent officers of the DEA, the Task
Force, the Police Departments of ‘Spring Valley, Ramapo, Suffern,
Olarkstown, and others have conducted, and are continu#ng to
conduct {when appropriate}, physical survelllance of mawbers of
the Foote Organization. Am described in the hugust 4, September
3, October 1, and October 2% Affidavits, pole cameras have been
installed outside of the Foote Realdence, “Frankie’s” residence
{(the *Seabring House”}, and CLOVAL TAYLOR’S Repldence, where the
Foote Organization ig believed to receive, distribute, and store
large quantities of . druge. The pole cawera gurvelllance hasg
provided useful information in the_inveatigaticn, ineluding
evidence of large packages of what appearse to be narcotiaa.being
transported into and out of suspected stagh houses by FOOTE and
others and FOOTE’S use of multiple cellphones and rental
vehicled. |

42, Foﬁ example, accordiné to other law enforcement
officers monitoring the pole cameras, fxom on oY about October 1,
2010 through on or about October 20, 2010, a number of TARGET
SUBJECTZ have been observed arriving at the Seabring Houme,
staying for a short period of time, and leaving with a package or
bag, including, FITZROY KELLY NORRIS, a/fk/a *‘Ants;'f a/k/a
“Antsman,” SERGE DORCELY, and SOPHIA MOORE, among others. On ox
about October 12, 2018, POOTE, “Frankle,” and DEBORAH GRIFFITH, a

voman who resides with FOOTE, were observed trangporting or
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assisting with the transporting of a large duffle bag from the
FCOTE Reaidénae to the Seaﬁring Houge on or about October 12,
2010, In addition, and ap described in further detail above, on
or about CQctober 22, 2010, FOOTE wad observed reversing a vehicle
inte the driveway of the Foote Residence, =o that tﬁe car was
very cloge to the residence, and removing an item from the trunk
of the-car, which he appeared to place in a garbage can in or
near the garage. Comnunications intercepted over the TARGET
CELLPHONES on the game day and the following day indicated that
FOOTE had obtained a large quantity of narcotics from ancther
TARGET SUBJECT, RODNEY MUSHINGTCON, a/k/a “Jahein Hill," a/k/a
“Diege,” a/kfa *Struggo,* a/k/a “Mark Brown.” Finally, on
Novembexr 2, 2010, FOOTE wae ohserved removing a blue bag, omnly.
partially full, from the trumk of a car and br;nging it into the
Foote Regldenca. Less thaﬁ an hour later, FOOTE was obsexrved
exiting the Foote Renidence with the same blue bag. The bag
appeared to be more full. FOOTE placed the blue bag into the
Etrunk of the car.

43. Physical surveillance, ceupled with the
information from cother sources, has been productive and haz led
to the identification of some members of the Foote Organization.
- Bince the entry of the October 29 Qrdex, new memberg have been
ldentified, including CHESTER WISSEH—ﬁEYHI FNU LU, a/k/a

“Jugtin.” However, it is only through the combination of wire
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T see all of that cop around your area man, I don’t want to coue
orer that area . . . too much cops around.” FOOTE told the Y,
vcheck wme by vour hoy at Seabring.” (TARGET CELLPHONE 2, Session
5325} .

b. On or about October 6, 2010, “Frankie” told a
woman that “Javonie” gave the police “Frankie’s” address when
“Javonle” was arregted and that “Frankie” cannot go te the police
atation becausae he might be identified. (TARGET CELLPHONE 3,
Sezgion 208).

e, On or about October 8, 2010, “Danisha called
FOOTE and told him that *I am drivipg? and asked if it *“is too
open” to “pafk at the palisade.” FOOTE remponded that “it's nob
too open.” A stated above, hased on my experience and
participation in thie investigation, I believe that FOUTE and
“Daniaha? were discussing meeting for the purpose of engaging in
a drug transaction and wanted to be hidden from detection from
law enforcement., (TARGET CELLPHONE 2, Seggion 5733).

d. On or about Ockober 10, 2010, FOOTE spoke to
“Frankie* and “Frankie” told FOOTE “one hoy i on the block” and
that “one black . . . pull somebody.” Asg stated above, hazed on
my experlence and participaticn in thie inveatigation,.I beliave
that “hoy" refers to a pelice officer and “pull somebody” wmeans
to arrest someone, and that “Frankie’ wag warning FOOTE that

pemecne was arrested nearby. {TARGET CELLPHONE 2, Session 5307).

35




Case 7:11-cr-00016-CS Document 224-8 Filed 11/30/11 Page 22 of 39

= on or about October 185, 2010, “Frankie®
called FOOTE and told FOOTE that “some boys came up top there
the same man that you went to check . . . he gaid the other

boys that had come up there the last time with Buddha, the

military boys . . . they full up there, so he just came to check
1f you were good.” FOOTE responded, “ok, up there?” *Frankia”
said, “yes, so don’t go back that way . . . just leave up thexe.”

Ae etated above, based on my experience and participation in this
investigation, T believe that “military boys” refers to police
and that “Frankie” Qas warning FOOTE to stay away from a
partleular area because the police were around. (TARGET
CELLPHONE 3, Sesziomn 1554}.

£_. On or about October 27, 2010, at approximately
1;0? p.m., "Frankie” received an incoming call on TARGET
CELLPHONE 3 from 201-362-0218 and spoke to an unidentified male
(2UpM¥) {Session 1779). During the call, the UM eaid, “a man just
called me and told me that a couple of the sheriff bhoys are right
by my hallway dooxr, buk I'm not there.” *Prankisa’ asked, "are
they knocking on your dooxr?* The UM said, 4nn, looks like they
are aboutb to gn.up in my hallway.” “Frénkie" said, “it don't have
to be you.? The UM said, *I'm glad I am not there.” At
approximately 2:27 p.m., “Frankie® glaéed a call over TARGEY
CELLPHONE 3 to the same number {231~3£é—0218} and apoke to the

same UM {Zession 1788). During the eall, the UM gaid,
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“everyfhing ig good so far, seems like the boye went upstairs
above we.” “Frankie® gaid, “you're not waking any trouble.” The
UM gaid, “foxr real man, as you sﬁid, I'm not put there like
that,¥ "Frankia® sgaid, “someone would have to d&finiﬁely glve you
away.” ﬁaged on wy experience and my participation in tﬁis
lmvestigation, I believe that “boys’ refers bto pollee, and that
“Frankie® and the UM were discussing the prezence of police in
the UM's building.

46, Agcordingly, congsidering the TARGET SUBJECTSY
gensitivity to law enforcement pregence, increased physical
survelllance couid alert the TARGET SUBJECTS to the existence of
the'invéstigatioq, %nd ﬁaﬁae them to relocate ox temporarilyl
ceage their illegal activities, thereby hindering the
investigation.

47. SBurveillance is also a iimited investigative tool
because some of the TARGET SUBJECTS remain unidentified or are
only partially identified and there is liwmited information about
the gpecific leccationsg in which they operate. In addition, meoy
of the mestings between the TARGET SURJECTS have occurred in
garages and indoors, where physical surveillance has not been
poaeible. Thus, even 1f sucecessful, survelllance will provide
only limited corrcboration of the illicit narcotics activities of

the TARGET SUBJECTS.

48. It ls expected that informatlon that can be
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obtained From interceptions over TARGET CELLPHONE 5 will help law
enforcement agents determine the identities of the subjects
invelved and track tﬁeir activities, thereby enhancing the
prospects for mere fruitfnl physical gurveillance of those
gotivities. TIn addition, with the knowledge provided heforehand
by wire surveillance that a meeting is to take place at a glven
location or a package is to be received on a certain date or at 2
certain place, it may be possible to establish physical
surveillance at that locatlon in advance, thus minimizing the
risks of dlpoovery inherent in following subjects or remaining at
target locations for extended periods of time. Wire surveillance
would better enable law enforcement to coordinate physical and
electronic surveillance of such drug transactions, potentially
facilitating the seizure of narcotics and'narcctics~related'
proceeds, and the arrest of TA#GET SUBJECTR.

49, TPor the reagons described ahove, surveillance
alone is insufficlent to meet the goals of the investigation.
Accordingly, there is a compelling need in this case for wire
interceptions over TARGET CELLPHONE 5.

Arrests

T Attempting to arrest the TARGET SUBJECTS now
would mean that several of Ehe objectives of this investigation
would be unfulfilled. Az noted abnv;, since the entry of the

October 2% Ovder, additional members of the Foote Crganization.
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have been identified through surveillance and other means.
Arresting any of the TARGET SUBJECTS would almost certainly cause
other meambers of the Foote Organization, including the sources of
supply and unidsentified coconsplrators, to temporarily cease
their illegal activities or to change the 1oeationa.
instrumentalitiez, and methods used to conduct their illegal
activitiep.

51, For example, based on my conversation with SVED -
gergeant 1 and my review of communications intercepted pursuant
to the September 3 Order and October 1 Oxder, I learned that:

a. On or about Septembar 2, 2510, FITZRUY NORRIS
KELLY, one of the TARGET SUBJECTS, was aﬁreated after leaving Ehe
Seabring House and was found to have approximately 113 grams of
marijuana.nn his person, Shortly after the arrest, “Frankile”
r&ﬁeived an incoming call over TARGET CELLPHDHE 3 f£rom phone
number 845-367-2548 and spoke with an Unidentified Male (IR~}
{Bezpion 16%). During that call the UM told “Frankie” that the
pelice just “picked up” a man a few blocks away from “Frankie,*
“Frankie” gald “alright, let me go clean up the place than
because this 1s where he is coming from.” Based on my
participation in thié investigation and information I learned
from local law enforcement, I know that FITZROY NORRIS KELLY was
arrested just after leaving the Seabring house. I believe that,

in responde to learning about the arreat during the above-
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referenced phohe call, “Frankie” intended to get xrid of the drugs
in the house. At approximateiy 1:33 p.m., FCOTE placed an
outgoing call over T&RGET_CELLPHD&E 2 to phone number B845-598-
9741 and spoke with “Danisha® {Session 3059). During that call,
FOOTE told “Danisgha* that he was hearing vibes that he didn't
1ike - specifically, that “Frankie” had called him and told him
that “a little man juét came and chacked him . . . and got a
thing and he got a call that they just sucked off the little
mai.” FOOTE said “that's why I'm telling you all to get the
place1¢1ean up.” I heliave that “sucked off’ im slang for
arrested and that, in response to learning about the arrxest,
wFrankie” called FOOTE and FOOTE told “"Frankie” to get rid of the
drugs in the house. |

h. On or about Qotober 22, 2010, an individual was
arregted for crimes related to thafté from auntomobiles
{(*Individual-i) and consented Lo a search of ﬁia apartment, which
was located on the First floor of a duplex on Lafayette Streekt.
FITEZROY KELLY NORRIB, ope of the TARGET SUBJECTS, resides in the
gacond flc&i apartment of the same building. During
-cammunicationa intercepted over TARGET CELLPHONE 2, FOOTE tald
"panisha” that the “hoys” had been cutside and he thought there
wag going to be a raid by the police {Sesglon 6847). FOOTE gald
that he rvan inside and took the ¢hip out of the phone and threw

down the phone in case the cofficers were goming inside. FOOTE
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gald the police went “douwnstailrs® ipstead, but that he was
trapped inside for a long time. FOOTE told *Danigha” that only
hia *546" phone was working then.

o. On or about October 24, 2010, TOREY EANES EANES,
a/k/a “Melle,” a/k/a “Mellow,* was arrested by local law
enfarcement,§during a stop that was not related to this

inveatigation, and was arreated for possesaion of a firearm and

maxrijuana.

52. Accordingly, I balieve that arresting some of the
'identified participants in this conspiracy now would lead to the
deatruction of evidence, temporary movement of the Organization’s
ctash and distribution locations, and cauge other wembers of the
Foote Organization, including the gources of supply and
unidentified coconepirators, to temporarily cease theilr illegal
activities or change the methods used to conduct thelr illegal
activitien

531, Furthermore, based on information obktalned during
the investigation thus far, I believe that DUNSTON FOOTE, a/k/a
wKilla,* a/k/a “Steve Rennett,” and FNU LWU, a/k/a “Frankie,K”
deal with the organization’s supplierm, including RODNEY
MUSHINGTON, a/k/a “Jaheim Hill,* a/k/a *Piego,” a/k/a “Struggo.”
a/k/a “Mark Brown.” Based on my experience énd my participation
in the investigation, I believe that although it im possible that

FOOTE or “Frankie’ would cooperate with law enforcement 1f
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arrested, and would identify the other suppliers of the Foote
Organization, it is by no means certain that they would do so.
Similarly, although it is posgible that RODNEY MUSHINGTON, a/k/a
“Jaheim Hill,” a/k/a “Diego,” a/k/a “Strﬁggo,” a/k/a “Mark
Brown, " would cooperate with law enforcement iE arregted, it is
by no means cartain that he would do so, or that ke hae |
information about the Foote 6rganization‘s other suppliers. it
iz therefore wuncertain whether arrests would lead to the
identification of the Foote Organization’s suppllers, or Lo
evidence ghowing the participation of the suppliers in drug
distrikution.

54, Arresting the identifled TARGET BUBJECTS and
attempting to obtain their cooperatlon in investigating the
narcotice trafficking eof thelr criminal associates is an
investigative route that, in my judgment and the Jjudgment of
other law enforcement officers involved, is not reasonabkly likely
to result in law enforcement leafning the identitieé of the
organization’s suppliers, the disposition of its narcotics
proceeds, or the ldentities of the additional co-conspirators.
Due to the highly compartwentalized nature of drug-trafiicking
conspiracies, I believe 1t is unlikely that lower-level
digtributors, or so-called “runners,” ﬁculd be able to provide
information ahout the Foote Organizationfs mRourcdes of supply and

the locaticne or uses of the proveads of their illegal
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activities.

Use of Confidential Informants

55, 'This investigation has involved obfaiuing
Information from and the activa uge of a confidential infoxmant
{the “CI”)? who previously worked as a drug dealer in the Foote
Organdzation, as described. in detail in the August 4, Beptember
3, October 1, and October 2% Affidavits. Although the CI has
provided valuable and corroborated information, at this time
rhere is no known confidential source that can provide
information about all of the Foote Organizatlon’s sources of
aupply and their locations (some of which awe belleved to be in
other gtates or countrier}, all of the links in the chain of
supply {including connections at various pailing services), and
all of the Foote Crgaunization’s workers and customexs.

56. Narcotice organizations are generally highly
compartmentalized, and 1t is uéually imposaible for an informant
to gain access to all aspects nﬁ an organigation's illegal -
activitier. Thus, the usge of confidential informanta alone is

typicalily inadequate to develop evidence about the TARGET
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SUBJECTS’ supplisrs and customers.

87, In addition, based oﬁ my experisnce as a narcoticd
imrestigator, I belleve that drug traffickers are unlikely to
digeuss the full extent of their crganization’s activities ox
memberahip with any in&ividual, subordinate membexr of the
organization. Based on my experience, I alsorknow that narcotics
organizations are oftenm highly protective of their ﬂaurﬁes of
guapply.

| 58, Intercepting calls over TARGET CEFLFHDHE 5 is
likely to provide information and evidence that a confidential
informant cannot alone provide. - Intercepted calle are 1ikely to
Eé useful in identifying co-conspiratore who are unknown to any
gingle 'TARGET SUBJECT. Intercepted calls are also likely to be

useful in -providing information about the receipt or distribution

. of drugs, the locations where drugs are stored, and evidence

showing where drugs and drug proceeds are leocated at particular
instanced, ipfcrmation to which individuals who are gubordinate
to FOOTE, *Frankie,” and others are not privy, and to provide
evidence againet ﬁhe members of the Foote Organization.
Intercepted calls are additionally likely to he useful in
corroborating information pﬁeviously provided by the CI.

59. Baged on my knowledgs of this investigation and my
experience as a narcotice investigator, I believe that thé-

interception of the communications of TARGET CELLPHONE 5 is
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epgential to reveal the identities of co-comepirators, suppliers,
and the structure and operatiocn of the Foote Grﬁanization.
Without the evidence obtained from court-authorized
interceptions, I am confident that the objectives of the
investigation cannot be met.
Uge of Uadercaver Agents
50, Since the entryy of the Octobexr 1 Drder,‘an

undercover officer with the Spring Valley Police Department {the
"uer} purchased guantities of marijuana from JASON ALLEN, a/k/a
“Papa,” and ZOLANI WORRELL, twe TARGET SUBJECTS. Specifically,
gased on my review of reports and information ohtaiﬁed from other
law enforcement officers,.l know that:

a. on or about October 18, 2010, the UC called
845-659-3595, and spoke with an individual previcusly ldentified
as JASOK ALLEN, a/k/a “Papa.”® The UC had previously purchased
mariiuana from ALLEN in an ﬁnrelated investigation. The UC and
ALLEN agreed to meet in oxder for the UC to purchase marijuana.
FThe UC apd ALLEN laker met at a pre-arxranged location, and the UC
purchased approximately 19.1 grams of marijuana Erom ALLEN.
During that meeting ALLEN indicated that he could obtain cocaine

for the TC.

b, On or aboul Ootober 19, 2010, the UC salled

4 Before ALLEN was identifised ag a TARGET SUBJECT of thie

investigation, the UC had alsc purchased drugs from ADLEN in or
about August and Septembar 2010 aa part of a separale
invegtigation.
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surveillance, physilcal surveillance, and other investigatory
tools, however, that the agents expect to identify fully the
nature and scope cf,ﬁhe organization.

44, PBole camefa survelllance alone, however, would not
i1ikely vield conclusive evidence of the scope of the distribution
network of the Foote Organization, the roles of the co-
congpilrators, or the participation of members, including
suppliers, who do not go to the Foote Regidence. In addition,
while surveillance has revealed what appears to be narcotics-
related activity at the Foote Residence and Seabring House, it
has not revealed the type or guantity of drugs being transported
. by the Foote organization for disgtribution, and such surveillanos
has not revealed where packages brought to those locationa are
being cbtained. Physlcal survelllance has been useful to
gorroborate infnrmation provided by the CI and infoxrmation
obtained from calls intercepted pursuant to the Orders regarding
the drugurelate&_activiti&s of the TARGET SUBJECTS but doss not
provide the comtext or subataﬁce of the meetlings between co-
consplrateors and does not reveal the nature of.their
communications, and iz therefors insufficient to meet the goals
of the in?estigaticn. For axample:

&, According to SVPD Sergeant 1, on October 27,
2010, SVPD Sergeant 1 and other law enforcement cfficers

attempted to locate the uger of TARGET CELLPHONE 5. TARGET
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" CELLPHONE 5 was tracked to a residence in the vicinity of South
g8 Aveanue in Mount Vernon, New Yoxk {the "Mount Vernon House”}.
Law enforcement officers cbserved a black male beliesved bto be
RODNEY MUSHINGTON, a/k/a “Jaheim Hill,” a/k/a “Diego,” a/k/a
"Ztruggo,* afk/a "Mark Brown,” leave the Mount Vernon House in a
rantal vehicle {the “Rental Car?) accompanied by another bilack
male. The officers were unable to maintain uninterrupted
gurveillance of the Rental Car due to the urban envi:cnmeﬁt.
After relocating to the Rental Car, officers paw that the black
male believed to be RODNEY MUE#INGTDE, a/k/a “Jaheim Hill,* a/k/a
“Diaéo," a/k/a "Struggo,? a/k/a "Mark Brown,” was driving alone.

45, In addition, because of the locations of the
guspacted stash and distribution locationg, law enforcament
officers are nobt able to consistently survell and follow TARGET
SUBJHECTS or their vehicles coming or going from the F&cte
Residencé, the Seabring House, the Taylor Residence, or the Mount
VYernon Houge without alexting the TARGET SUBJECTE to their
presence. Moreover, based on my experience and wmy participaticn
in this investigatilon, I know that narcotics traffickers are
extremely surveilllance-conscicus. For example, based on my
review of communicationg intercepted pursuant teo the Octoher 1
Ordeay, T know that:

a. On or about Ociober 3, 2010, FOOTE told a UM

that he didn't meet him as planned because “I coms by there man,
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845-659-6915 and spoke with an unidentified male ("UM"). As part
cf a ruse, the UC referred to the UM by the alias umed by the
previous user of that phone number, from whom the UC had also
pﬁrchased drugs. The UC asked to purchase marilijuana £rom the WM,
and they agreed to meet later that day. The UC and the UM met at
a pre-arranged location and the UC purchased approximately 30.4
gramg of marijuana Lfrom the WM. Durlng that meeting the W
indicated that he could obtain cocaine for the UC., The UM was
later identified aes ZOLANI WORRELL, = known drug dealer,

1. Based on my conversations with 2VPD Sergeant 1 and
wy réview of intercepted communications, I belleve that ALLEN and
WORRELL obtain marijuana from *Frankie,” FOOTE, %nd}mr other
membere of the Foote brganization and resell it,

62. Although the UC was able to purchase drugs from
street-level dealers agsgociated with the Foote Organization, due
ko the compartmentalized nature of the Foote Organilzation, there
is no expectation that any undercover agent will be able Lo deal
directly with FOOTE’s sourcer of supply to purchase dxugs oY
infiltrate the inner workings of the Foote Organization.
Purthermore, the roles of the TARGET SUBJECTS in the conspiracy
are also not clearly defined at this time and an undercﬁv&r agent
iz likely to only be pérmitted accese to the lower-level dealers,
as opposed to the larger figures in charge of the scurces of

supply and diestribution.
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63. 'There is currently no expectatlion that an
undercover officer would he able to determine the full gcope of
the TARGET SUBJECTS’' operations, meet and identify all of the
other TARGET.SUBJEQTE and their cc-ccnapiratﬂra, or identify the
TARGET SUBJEETS*.narﬂctics suppliers and their confaderates. I
do hot belisve that an undercover officer could infiltrate the
Foote Organization.

Taiephone Toll Records

64, ‘'Falephone toll records have been and will be uped
in this investigation, but will provide only limited information.
I have obtained and reviewed telephone toll recordé for the
TARGET CELLPHONES, including TARGET CELLPHOME 5, and other cell
phones belleved to be used by mewbers of the Foote Organizatiom.
Phone recoxrds, howeyey, do not snable law enfeorgement offilcersa to
identify with certainty the persons involved in the conversations
or the significance of the communications 1n the context of
ongoling narcctics ErafEicking. ﬁmong other problems, a telephone
number appearing in the records wmay not be iisted ox subscribed
in the name (s} oxr address{es) of the person(s) actually using the
telephone. Furthermore, the usé of calling cards and telephone
access numbers often hides the ultimate numbers called, thereby
preventing law enforcement from learning the participants
involved in any particular communication. In additicn, the

review of telephone records will not, in itself, reveal the
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styucture of the Foote Organization or ita sourcaes cof supply.
Fede¥31 Srand Jury

§5. The issuance of grand jury subpoenas is likely to
be inadequate to obtain critical information about the timing and
logakion of nmarcotlcs transactions. Wiktnesses who wmight provids
additicnal gelevant evidence to a grand jury have not baen
identified or would themselves be participants in the narcotics
trafficking. Recause such individuals would face prosecution
themselves, it is unlikely that any of them would testify
voluntaéily. Nor would it be dempirable at this time to sesk
immunity for such individuals and to compel their.testimnny.
Immunizing them could thwart the public policy that they he held
accountable for their crimes., PFurthermore, the issuance of grand
jury subpoenas to other individualse would risk alerting the
TARGET SUBJBCTS to the ongoing investigation before their sources
of gupply are identifiad and located. Moreover, net all of the
TARGET SUBJECTS haVE_been-identified and, in the absence of
further evidence identifying co-conspirators and their respective
involvement in the Foolke Organization, it is difficult to
determine whom to subpoena to the Grand Jury.

Witneas Interviews

6. T belisve that interviews of the TARGET SUBJECTS

or their known agssociates would produce insufficient information

ag to the identities of all of the personsg Involved with the
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PARERET SURJECTE in narcotics trafficking, the sources and
leocations of the drugs, tﬁe gources of finmancing, the looations
of records and proceeds from the distributicn of drugs, and other
pertinent informatlon regarding the TARGET OFFENSES. I alse
helieve that any responses to the interviews, particularly
interviews of those who are higher up in the organization, could
contain a slgnificant mumber of untruths, diverting the
investigation with false leads or otherwise frustrating the
inveatigation. I believe that guestioning any of the remaining
co-congpirators wonld alert the other co-conspirators, and cause
a.changa.in their methods of operaticon and the concealment or .
destruction of evidence before all of the co-conspirators are
identified, thareby comprcmising the investigation and resulting
in the possible loms of valuable evidence, and the possibility of
harm to the ¢I, whose identity may become knowﬁ or whose
existence may otherwise be compromlsed.
Bsarch Warrants

67. The investigation hasg revealed information that
would likely enable the DEAR btoe obtain and éxecute gearch warrants
for the Foote Residence, the Seabring House, NORRIS'sS Residence
on Lafayvette Street, the Mount Vernon House, and acoial clubg on
North Main Street and Nortih Madlson Strxeet in Spring Valley, New
Yorlk, that are belisved to be uzed by mewbers of the Foote -

Organization to store and distribute narcotics. While executing
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search warrante at those locations may rvesult in the selzure of -
pertinent evidence, it would also alert the TARGET SUBJECTS to
the exlstence of the investigation without the likeliheood of
determining the full scope of the oxganization’'s opsrations,
particularly the organization’s sources of supply, the identities

of all of the co-consplrators, or other locations where narcotics

are stashed.

63, I believe that the executitn of search warrants
would be premature at this stage of the investigation because
further information 1 needed to idéntify the means and wmethods
by which the Foote Organlzation cbtains a supply of narcotics,
an& other locations where the drugs and drﬁg-diatribufinn
proceeda.are transported and storag. The execution of seaxrch
warrante at the locations gescribed above ia not likely to lead
to the ldentification of other locations used by the Foote
Organization. Nor is it likely to lead to the identification of
co-congplrators who participate in obtaining or selling the Foote
Organization’s supply of drugaland may reside in other lecatlons,
including other states or countries.

69. The locations where the TARGET SUBJECTS currently

rageive, hide, and digtribute their narcotice and parcotics
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proceeds have not been fully identified. Moxeover, without wire
survelllance, law enforcement will not know when the locations
cantain narcotica, narcotics proceedd, and other evidence of the
TARGET OFFENSES. I believe that wire surveillance will amsist
law enforcement in contimuing te identify locations whefe
narcotics and narcotles proceeds are currently stored, and
determine when such coptraband is at such locations, so that
search warrants for such locations may be obtaired while
contraband is still present at the locations.

76. Accordingly, and bécauaé the ahove-degoribed
investigative techniques are limited in their applications, have
been unsuocegsful, or are unlikely to ba sueccessiul,
authorization tﬁ intercept wire communications over TARGET
CELLYHONE 5 ls necessary to identify and develop avidente against
th% TARGET BUBJECTS,

| MINIMIZATION

71, ail ﬁﬂnitaring of wire communications over TARGET
CELLPHONE 5 will ﬁe minimized in accordance with Chapter 119 of
Title 18, United Btates Code,

72. The “investigative or law enforcement officers of
the United Statesg® and tranaslatory, if necesgsary, who are to
caryy out the reguested interception of wire communicatieons, will
pe ingtructed concerning the steps they shonld take to aveid

infringing upon any attorney-ciient privilege or cther recognized
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activities.

| Tee of Confidential Informants

55. This investlgation has invoelved ohﬁaining
informatlon from and the active use of a confidential informant
{the *CI*}? who previously worked as a drug dealer in the Foote
Organization, as degcribed. in detail in the August 4, September
3, Ochtober 1, and October 22 nffidavits. Although the CI has
provided valuable and corroborated infgrmation, at this time
there is no known confidential source that can provide
informakion about all of the Foote Organization's sources of
supply and thelr locations (wome of which are believed to be in
other states or countries}, all of the links in the chain of
supply {inqluding_ﬁognections at varicus wmailing services), and
211 of the Foote Organization’s workere and customers.

55. Narcotics orgapizatlons are gemexally highly
c&mpartmentalized, and it is usually impossible for an informant
to gain access to all aspects of an organizgation’s illegal .
activities, Thus, the use of confidential informants alone is

typically inadequate to develop evidence about the TARGET

Organizaticn to law
from FOOTE under the
ln_detail in the

3 a I provided informatiocn about the Foote
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wire and physical gurveillance, surveillance of undarcover
transactions, the introduction of undercover agents, the
exacuticon of search warrantg, debriefings of informants and
reviews of taped conversations and drug records. I have also
participated in invastigations that bave included the
interception of wire communications, and £ have reviewed taped
converaations and drug records relating to narcotilcs trafficking.
Througil Wy training, education and exﬁerience, I have become
Familiar with the manner in which 11legal drugs are transported,
stored, and distributed and the methods of payment for such
drugs.

2. ¢ gubmit thiz affidavit in support of an
application fcr an order pursuant to Section 2518 of Title 18,
United States Code, suthorizing the continued interception and
recording of wire commnications overy TARGET CELLPHONE 2,
concerning offenses enumerated in Section 2516 of Title 18,
United States Code -- that 1s, offenses involving the
diatribution of, and poseession with intert to distribute,
controliled sﬁbstances, the uze of wire facilities to facllitate
the same, conspiracy tc do the same and attempts to do the same,
in violation of 21 U.B.C. §B g41{a} (1), 843(b}, and 646; the
distribution of firearms, possession of firearms by convicted
feions and aliens, and use of firearms ip furtherance of a

narcotics-trafficking crime, in viclation of 18 U.S.C.
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a22{a) (1) (A}, 222{g) {1}, 922(g) {5} (A}, and 924{c); engaging in
monetary transacbionsg involving the proceeds of 1lllegal activity
and money laundering, in violatlion of 18 U.5.C. B 1956 and 185%;
and ochtaining and transferring fraudulent passports Or cther
identification/immigration documents, bringing in or harboring
certain allens, consplracy to do the same and attempts Lo de the
same, in violation of 18 U.8.C. § 1028 and 8 U7.8.C, § 1324 {the
“TARGET OFFENSES”).*

3. For the reasong set out in this affidavit, I
helieve that there ie probable cause to beliéve that the TRRGET
COFFBENSES have been ccmmitted, are being comnitted, and wiil
continue to be committed by one or more of the following
individuats: DUNSTOM FOOTE, a/fk/fa “Killa,” afk/a “Steve Bennett,”
CLOVAL TAYLOR, a/k/a “Clove,” DWIGHT MORGRN, FNU LN, a/fk/a
ZFrankie, ” FNU LNU, a/k/a “Steve,” FNU LNU, a/k/a *Dirty,” FNU
LMY, a/k/fa “cﬁris," ALLAND ZAMOR, TOREY EANES, a/k/a *Mello,”
a/k/a *Mellow,"” CONRCY BROWN, KENMAR CERMBERS, NATALIE BROWH,
a/k/a "Danisha,” RAYMOND DORSEY, a/k/a "Ray.” a/k/a “Sucke,” TROY
MONTGOMERY, a/k/a “Scraple,” DROMYNEAK MONTGOMERY, a/kfa
"Drammy, © RAYMOND JACKSON, a/k/a “Migiva," CASHIEMA GREEN, a/k/a

weash,* O/NEIL WHITE, RICARDO MONESTIME, a/k/a “Mossy,” MARLON

1 Although not a predicate offense under 18 U.s.C. § 2516,
rhere is probablie cause to believe that the TARGET SUBJECTS (a8
subgsequently defined herein) have aided and abetted and are
aiding and abetting these substantive offenses, in violation of
18 U.8.C. § 2.
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31, Intercepting wire communications over TARGET
CELLPHONE 2 will assist law enforcement officers in fully
revealing the nature and scope of the TARGET SUBJECTS’ narcotics
trafficking and other illegal activities. Specificaily,

interceptions over TARGET CELLPHONE 2 may reveal the mource or

sources of supply fox the Foolte organization., Such interceptions

will enable the DEA and the other law enforcement groups with
which the DEB is working to gather evidence that otherwise would
not be able to be gathered by more traditional investigatilve
tachnigques.

13, Other investigative techniques, degeribed hereiln
and in the August 4, September 3, gctobar 1, Octcber 29, and
November 12 Affidavits, have been tried, ineloding physical
aunrveillance, purchases of drugs by an undarcover officer, and
the use of a confidential informant. While those efforts have
paan Eruitful, continued interception over TARGET CELLFHORE 2 is
required because other investigative technigues cannot fully
reveal the nature and scope of thé TRRGET SUBSECTS' narcotics
trafficking activity. It is anticipated that interception over
TARCET CELLPHONE 2 will assist in continuing to identify the
means and methods by which the Foote Organigation chtalns a
reqular supply of marijuana and rocaipne snd the individuals who

are involwved in the provision of that supply.
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33, It is further anticipated that the interceptions
of wire communications will amsist in continuing to identify the
location of stash houses, the source of financing for the
organization, and the tocations and dlspositions of the proceeds
from those activitiem, In addition, it is antlcipated that new
rargets would be identified through intercepted communications
and these intercepted communications would provide valuable
avidence and intelligence about incoming marcetles shipments and
on-golng narcotics trafficking.

14 . Ag discussed below, several other investigative
techniques have been tried, oY reagonably appear likaly to fail
if tried, or are likely to jecpardize the investigation if Exied,
i rhe absence of the requested ;uthorization of continued wire
interceptions ocourring ovay TARGET CELLPHONE 2, there are no
means of determining the internal operations cf the Faote
organization, including when, where, angd how the Foote
Organization obtains its supply of narcotics, the existence and
logcationg of records relating to narcotios trafficking, the
jocation and source of resources uped to finance the illegal
activities, and the location and disposition of the proceeds £rom
these activities. T is. only through the combination of wire
surveillance, viswal surveillance, and other investlgatory tools
that the agents expect to identify fully the natuxe and gcope of

the organization. Accordingly, there is a compelling need in
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this case for continued wire survelilliance of TARGET CELLFHONE 2.
Phyaical Surveilliance

35, Law enforcement offlcers of the DEA, the Tzok
Foree, the Police Departments of Spring Valley, Ramapo, Suffern,
Clarketown, and others have conducted, and are contipuing to
conduct (when appropriate}, physical surveillance of members of
the Foote Organization. BAs described in the August 4, September
3, October 1, October 2%, and November 12 pifidavits, polke
cameras have been installed outside of some of the locatlens
where the Foote Organizatiom is belleved to recelive, distribute,
and store large guentities of drugs, including the Foote
Residence, the Seabring Houms, and Taylox Lesidence. The pole
camera surveillance has provided useful information in the
inveatigaﬁion, incivding evidence of large packages of what
appesrs to be narcotics being transported into and out of the
suspected stash houses by FOOTE and others, meetings between |
TARCET SUBJECTS, and FCOTE's use of multiple cellphones and
rental vehicles.

16. TFor example, according to other law enforcement
of ficers monitoring the pole cameras, from on ox about October
20, 2010 through on ox about November 16, 40L0:

a. a number of TARGET SUBJECTS have been
observed arriving at the Seabring House, skaying for a short

period of time, and leaving, often with a package ox bag,
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including, among gtherz, FITZROY ¥ELLY NORRTS, ROLANI WORRELL,
HERCLD LiMda, STEVEN BARTHOLE, DRERERICK QARY GARRWOOD, and ALLAND
ZAMOR ,

b. FOOPE and *Frankle" have been ahserved
trangporting bags and boxes into the Seabring House. FOY
example, on ox about November 1, 2010, FOOTE drove Lo the
geabring housge and reversed the vehicle into the driveway so that
the trunk was close to the garage. The garage door opened,
wFrankie” removed a biue bag f£rom the trunk of the car, and FOOTE
drove away.

¢.  FOOTIR has also been observed transporting
bags and boxes into and out of varions varg and the FCOTE
Reaidencé. vor example, on or about Hevembef 15, 2010, FOOTE
drove a rental wvehicle to the Foote rasidence, and reversed the
vehicle inpto the driveway. FOOTE retrieved a bilue bag with
contents from the Foote Residence and piaced it in the rental
car's Erunk; he then removed a different bag frowm the trunk, and
went ingide the Foote Resldence.

d. TAYLOR has also been cobserved engaging in what
appear to he hand-to-hand narcobilcs transactions in and around
fhe TAYLOR Residence. For example, on November 15, 2210, an
unknown black male was observed approaching the fence surrounding
the TAYLOR Residence. TAYLOR met the black male by the fence and

ppoke to him priefly. TAYLOR then went to hig car, reached into
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it, returned to the femce and appeared ﬁo hand what had been
retrieved from the car to the black male. The black male
appeared to hand something to TAYLOR., The black fale then walked
away.

37, Communications intercepted over the TARGET
CELLPHONEE at or near the tilme of the events observed on the pole
psameras described above indicated +hat FOOTE, “Frankle,” and
other TARGET SUBJECTS had either zecently obtained a guantity of
navcoblos or had arranged to meet faor a drug transaction.

38, Physical surveillanee, coupied with the
infoymation from other sources, has been produétive and has led
to the ldentification of some members of the Foote Organization.
gince the enktry of the Hovember 12 Oorder, new members have been
identified, including TERRANCE CHEVANNES. However, it is only
through the combination of wlre surveillance, physical
éurveillance, and opher investigatory tecls, however, that the
agents expect to identify fully the nature énd guope of the
arganization.

19. Pole camera surveillance alope, however, would not
likely yield conclusive evidence of the scope of the distribution
network of the Foote organization, the roles of the co-
congplrators, oKX the participation of members who do not go Lo
the suepected stash locations, In additicn, while surveiliance

hag revealed what appears to be narcotics-related actlvity at the
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Foote Residence, the Seabring House, aﬁﬁ the Taylor Residence,
among other places, it has not revealed the type oOF gquantity of
druge being trangported by the Foote Organization for
digtrimicion, and suech surveillance has not roavealed where
packages hrought to those 1ocations are being obtained. Physical
survelllance has been useful to corroborate informatlion obtained
through other sources or from calls intercepted pursuant Lo the
varicua Orders regarding the drug-related activities of the
TARGET SUBIECTS, but does nol provided the context or gubstance
of the meetings betweel cq—conspiratcrs and does not reveal the
nature of thelr comnmunications, and ig therefore ingufficlent to
mest the goals of the investigation.

4. In addition, because of the itocations of the
suspected gtash and distribution locations, law enforcement
officers'are not akle to follow FOOTE ot any wehicles coming oY
going from those 1ocaﬁions without alerting FOOTE or other TARGET
SURJRCTS to their presence. Moreover, based on my experience and
rraining, and my paxticipation in this investigatien, narcotics
traffickers are extremely gurveillsnce-conscious. For example:

a. on or about November 4, 2050, at
approximately 8:20 p.@., wgrankier received an incoming call over
TARGET CELLPHONE 3 from p45-406-5384 and spoke with a man
identified as “Paul® in other intexrcepted calls (Session 1598} .

wpaul® asked “Frankie® “you alright?? and “Frankie® said "What'=s
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going on?? wpgul” said “I see gome . - . Chrigtmas tree . . . I
sce gsome Chrigtmas trse On your lane, YoOu know?? “Frankie¥ said
+T am going to check 1T out.* “Prankie” then placed an putgoing

0all over TARGET CELLPHONE 2 Lo g45-517-5824 and spoke with a
woman ldentified as wpridgette” im other intercepted calls,
believed to be SCOFHIA JoNES (Session 2001) . wprankle" asked
athose boys on the road?” and told *Bridgette” to “lock cutside.”
varidgetbe then said “at the end of the road.” wgrankie” asked
wwhich side?” and “Bridgstte” paid Lo which part Jalme’s hus
stap ig.” “Bridgette” said *I do not know if 1t ia something
they pulled ovexr oF what.? “Frankle” then placed an outgoing
sall gver TBRGET CELLPHONE 3 to 845-406-5384 and spoke with
wpaui® {Sesslon 2562}. wprankie® sald *mhum . . . S8Y at the end
of the road® and “Paul” gaid “yeak, alright, it ip heads up I an
giving you, You know?" Based on my experienge and participation
in this investigation, I balieve that *Christmas traa” waa used
as & code for pollce, and vhat *Paul” warned “Frankie” that there
were police officers on hig street, which "Bridgette” confizmed.
by, on or about November 16, 20103, at
approximately 10:11 p.m., FCOTE placed an gutgoling cali over
TRRGET CELLFHONE 2 to 518-308-7203 and spoke to an unidentified
male (Session 89272}, buring that call, FOOTE asked “was it a
white boy?” and the UM said "yeh man.“ The UM ‘said "he is beside

you . . . LOOK him a look for some trouble man.” FOOTE said “yeh
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man, him gone aftex somebody on the exit here up at axit 14 the
last 14 here.” The UM gatd “yweh man, we good man, because home
boy license good man. not even worried about pothing., Alright
averything gort oub.? Baged onl oy experience and participation
in this investigation, I believe that FCOTE and the M were
discussing the presence of law enfoxcement abt 4 time when they
were imvolved in trangporting narcotics,

41. Accordingly, considering the TARGET AUBJECTES
gensitivity to law enforcement preHsence, increased physical
aurveillance could alert the TARGET SUBJECTS to the exiatence of
the investigaticon, and causs them to relogate OF temporarily
ceage their illegal activities, thereby nindering the
ipvestigation. -

£2. .Surveillanca is also a limited investigative tool
mecause some of the TARGET SUBJECTS remain unidentifisd or are
only partially identified and there is limited information about
tha gpeclfic iocations in which they operate. Il addition, many
of the meetings between the TARCET SUBJECTS has occurred in
garagass aﬁd indoors, where phyaical gurvelllance has not been
possible. Thus, even if_successful, surveillance will provide
only lLimited corroboration of the iilicit narcotics activities of
the TARGET SURJECTS.

23. It is expected that information that can be

obtained from interceptions over TARGET CELLPHONE 2 will help law
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enforvement agents determine the identities of the aubjects
ipvolved and track thelr activities, thereby enhancing the
prospecks foxr more fruitful physical gurveillance of thosze
activities, In addition, with the knowlédga provided beforehand
by wire surveillance that.a meeting ls to take place at a given
ipcation or a package im to be recaived on a certain date or at &
certain place, it may hé possible to eatabliish physical
guyveillance at that location in advance, thus mintmizing the
rigks of discovery inhexent in folliowing subjects OF remaining ab
rarget locations for exrended periods of time. wire surveillance
would better enable law enforcement to coordinate physical and
slectronic surxveillance of such drué rransactions, potentially
facilitating the seizure of natcotlcs and narcotics-related
proceeds, and the arrest of TARGET SUBIECTS.

i4. For the reasons described above, survelllance
alone 1=z inaufficienp +o meet the goals of the investigation.
Accordingly, there is a compaelling need in thisg case for
continued wire surveillance of TARGET CELLPHONE 2.

Arrests

45. Attempting to arxest the TARGET SUBJECTS now
would mean that several of the objectives of this investigation
would be unfulfilled. As noted above, since the entry of the
november 12 Order, additional members of the Foote crganization

have been identified through gurvelllance and other means.
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Arresting any of the TARGET SUBJECTS would almost tertainly cause
ather memberg of the Foote Qrganization, inciuding the sources of
supply and unidentlfied coconegplratoxs, to bemporarily cease
their illegal activities or Lo change the locations;
instrunentalities, and mathods used to conduct their illegal
aetivities.

46. Accordingly, I believe that arresting some of the
jdentified participants in this conapiragy mow would lead to the
destruction of evidence, Lemporary movement of the Organization’'s
gtash and distribution locations, and cause other members of the
roote Crganization, including the sourced of’ supply and
unidgntiﬁied coconapirators, to temnporarily céaae their illegal
activities or change the methods used to conduct their illegal
act%vities

47. Furthermere, based on information obtained during
thg invegtigation thga far, I believe that.DUNETGN FOOTE, a/k/a
wgilla,” a/k/a “Steve Bennett,” and ¥NU LNU, a/k/a “Frapkie,”
deal with the organizatlon’s asuppliexs. Based on my tralning,
experience, and participation in the investigation, I.believe
that although 1t is posseible that FOOTE ox “Frankie” would
cooperate with law anforcement if arrested, it is by no means
certain that they would do so. [IE is therefore uncertain whether
arrests would lead to the identification of the Foote

Organlzation’s suppiters, oxr to evidence showing the
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participation of the gsuppliers in drug distribution.

48. Arvesting the identified TARGET SUBJECTS and
attempting to obtain thelr cooperation in investigating the
marcotice trafficking of their criminal apsociates is an
investigative route that, in my judgment and the dudgment of
other 1aw_anfarcement officers involived, is not reasonably likely
ro result in Law enfor¢ament learning the identities of the
organization’s suppliers, the disposition of 1ts narcotics
proceeds, Or the identities of the additional co~coﬁspirator5.
Due to the highly compartmentalized natuxe of drug-trafficking
zonspiracies, I believe it 1g unlikely that lower-level
distributors, or so-called “ruunners,” would be able to provide
information about the Foote Organizabion’s sSOources of supply and
the locaticns or uses of the proceeds of their illegal
activities.

se of Confidential Informants

49. This investigation has involved obtaining
information from and the active use of a confidential informant
(*c1*} who previcusly worked ag a drug dealer in the Foota
organizatlon, as described ip the August 4, Septembey 3, october
1, Cctober 29, and November 12 Affigavite. Although the CIL
provided valuable and corrohorated information, at thls time
trheve is no known confidential scufce that can provide

informatien about all of the Foote Organization's sources of
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supply and thelr tocations (some of which axe believed to be in
other states ox countries), 211 of the iinks ip the chain of
supply (inciuding comnections at various mailing sexvices}, and
all of the Foote Organization’s workers and customers.®

5p. Narcotics organizations are generally highly
pompartmentalized, and it is uswally impossible for an informankt
to gain access to all agpects of an organizatioﬁ*é iilegal
acbivities. Thus, the use of confidential informants alone is
typically inadequate Lo develop evidence about the TARGET
SUBJECTS’ suppliers and cugstomers.

5i. In addition, based on my experience aB a narcotlics
ipvestigator, I believe that drug trafflickers are uniikely to
digouss the full extent of their organization’s activities or
membership with any individuel, gubordinate wmewber of the
organtzation. Eased on my experience, I also know that narcotics
prganizations are often highly protective of thelr sources of
supply.

52 . Intercepting calls over TARGET CELLPHONE 2 is
l1ikely to provide information and evidenee that a CI cannot alene

provide. Intercepted calls are Likely to be useful in

identifying co-conspirators who are unknown to the €I, providing
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information about the receipt or distribution of drugs te which
the ¢ is not privy, and to provide evidence agailnst the wembers
of the Foote Organization. Intercepted calls are likely to be
useful in identifying logations where drugs are stored which are
unknown toc the CI,.and additionally are likely to be useful in
providing evidence showing where drugs and drug proceeds are
located at partlcular instances, about which the CI's Xnowliedge
is necessarily limited, Intercepted calls are additionally
1ikeiy to be useful in corroborating information provided by a
CI. |

53. Basged on my knowledge of this iﬁvastigation and wy
experience as a narcotics inﬂeatigatmy, T believe that tha
interception of the communications of TARGET CELLFHORE 2 ig
essenfial ro reveal the identities of co-conspirators and the
strueture and operation of the Foote oOrganization. Withowt the
evidence cbtained from court-authorized intercepktions, I am
confident that the objectives of rhe investigatlon cannot be met.

Uze of Undercover Agents

4. As desoribed in detail in the October 28 Order, an
undercover officer with the Spring Valiey police Department {the
nge*} purchased guantities of marijuana from JRSON ALLEN, afk/a
“papa,” and ZOLANI WORRELL, bwo TARGET SUBJECTS. However, due to
the compartmentalized nature of the Foote Grganization, there is

po expectation that any undercover agent will be able to deal
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directly with FOOTE’'s sources of supply Lo purchase drugs or
infiltrate the inner workings of the Foote Organization.
Furthermore, the roles of the TARGET SUBJECTS in the congplracy
are alaso ndt clearl? defined at this time and an undercover agent
is likely to only be permitted access to the lower-level dealers,
as opposed to the larger figures in charge of the sources of
supply and distribution.

5. There ig currently no expectabtion that an
undercover officer would be able to determine the full scope of
the TARGET SUBJECTS' operations, meet and identify all of the
other TARGET SUBJECTS and their cc—conspirﬁtcrsr or identify the
PARGET SUSJECTS' narcotics suppliers and their confederates. I
do not believe that an undercover officer could infiltrate the
Foote Organization.

- Telephone Toll Racords

56, Telephone toll records have been and will be usad
in this investigation, but willl provide only limited information.
17 have obtained and reviewed telephone toll recorde for the
TARGET CELLPHONES and other cell phones helieved to bhe used by
members of the Foote Organization. Phone records, however, do
not enable law enforcement officers to identify with cexrtainty
the persons involved in the conversations or the significance of
the communicationg in the cﬁntext of ongoing narcotlas

trafficking. Among other problems, a telephone number appearing
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in the records wmay not be listed or gsubhacribed 1in the ﬁame{s} or
addressi{es) of the perscon{s) actually using the telephone.
Purthermore, the use of calling cards and telephone acceds
numbers often hides the ultiwate numbers called, thereby
preventing law enforcement from learning the participants
involved in any particular communication. In addition, the
review of telephone records will not, in itself, reveal the
atruetﬁre of the Foote Organization or its sources of supply.
Faderal Grand Juzy

57. The lssuance of grand jury sﬁbpoenas iz Likely to
be inadequate to obtain eritical information about the timing and
location of narcotics transactions. Witnesses who might provide
additional relevant evidence to a grand jury have not been
identified or would themselves be participants in the narcotics
trafficking. Becauge such individuals would face progecution
themselves, 1t is unlikely that any of them would testify
voluntarily. Nor would it be desirable at this time to seek
immunity for such individuals and to compel thelr testimony.
Trmunizing them could thwart the public policy that they he held
agcountable for their crimes. Furthermore, the issusnce of grand
{jury subpoenas to other individuals would risk alerting the
TARGET SUBJECTS to the ongoing investigation before their sources
of supply are ldentifisd and located. Moreovex, not all of the

TARGET SUBJECTS have been identified and, in the absence of
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Furthar evidence identifying co-conspirators and thelr respective
involvement in the Foote Organization, it is difficult to
determine whom to gubpoena to the Grand Jury.
Witness Intexrviews

58. T beliewve that interviews of the TARGET SUBJIECTS
or theilr known aggociates would pra&ﬁce inpufficlent information
as to the identities of all of the persons invelved with the
TAROET SURJECTS in narcotics trafficking, the sources and
locations of the drugs, the sources of financing, the iocakions
of records and proceeds from the distribution of drugs, and other
pertinent information regarding the TARGET OFFENSES. I al=o
heliefe that any responses bo the interviewsd, particﬁlarly
interviews of those who are higher up in the Drggnizatian, could
contain a gignificant nuwber of untruths, divexting the
invéstigation with false leads or otherwise frustrating the
investigation. I believe that gquestioning any of the remaining
- go-congpirators would alert the other co-conspirators, and cause
a changs in their methods of operation and the concealment or
destruction of evidence before all of the co-consplrators are
identified, thereby compromising the investigation and resulting
in the possible loss of valuable evidence, and the pessibility of
harm to the o7, whose identity may become known oy whose
exlstence may otherwise be compromised.

‘8earch Warrants
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59. The investigation has revealed information that
wouldllikely enable the DEA to obtain and execute aearch warrants
for the Foote Residence, the Seabring House, and the Taylor
Regidance, whare pole cameras ara instalied, as described above.
in addition, tﬁe investigation has revealed information that
would likely enable the DER to obtain and execute gearch warrénts
for KELLY's Residence oIl Lafayetté street, social clubs on North
Main Street and North Madison Street in Spring Valley, New York
that are believed to be used by members of the Foote Organizatilon
to store and distribute narcotica, as well as a tocation at an
jndustiial park in New Jersey where FOOTE has heen chaarved
picking up boxes beiieved to contain narcmticsi While executing
seareh warrants at those locations may result in the galizure of
pertinent evidence, it would also alert the TARGET SUBJECTS to
the axistence of the investigation witkhout the likelihood of
determining the full scope of the organization’'s operatlions,
particularly the organization's sources of supply, the identities
of all of the co-conspirators, or other locations where narcotics
are stashed,

0. T believe that the executlon of search warrants at
the suspected stash house lozations would be premature at tkis
stage of the investilgation because furthex information is needed
to identify the means and methods by which the Foote Organization

ochtains a supply of narcoties, and other locatlons where the
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drugs and drug-distribution proceeds are transported and stored,
The execution of search warrants at the locations described above
1p not likely to lead to the ldentification of other logations
used by the Foote Organization. MNor is it likely to iead to the
identification of co-conspirators who participate in obtaiming or
selling the Foote Organization‘'s supply of drugs.

61. The imcations where the TARGET SUBJECTS currently
recelve, hide, and distribute their narcctics and narcotics
proceeds have not been fully ldentified. Moxeover, without wire
surveillance, law enforcement will not know when the locatlons
contaln narcotics, narcotics proceeds, and other evidence of the
TARGET OFFENSES. I believe that wive surveillance will assist
layw enforcement in continuing to identify locatlone where
narcotics and narcotics proceeds are currently stored, and
determine wher such contraband is at such locatioms, s8¢ that
gearch warrants for such locations may Ee ocbtained while
contraband is still present at the locationg.

§2. Search warrants were executed on or about November
17, 2010, November 1%, 2018, Hovember 23, 2010, and Novembar 23,
2030, Each search warrant was executed for a package or packages
shipped via P8 from California or Arizona to an address in an
industrial area of New Jersey {the “Package” and the “NJ
Business”) where, according to cell site location informatilom,

surveillance by other law enforcement officers, and intercepted
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calls, I believe POOTE had previously traveled in late Cotober to
obtain a large guantity of narcotics.! In addition, based on
cell site lecation information and surveillance by other law
enforcement officers, I also believa that RCDNEY MUSHINGTON,
ancther TARGET SUBJECT, kraveled to the Y Busineass in late
October to encage in narcetics-trafflcking activity. Each of the
packages (of aevéral gimllar packages sent f£rom the same address
to the NJ Business) appeared simllar to packages that officers
have aseen FOOTE carrying inte and out of the Foote Residence and
the Seabring House. Upan.opaning the packages pursuant to a
warrant, each package was found to contaln approximately 34-41
pounde of mariiuana.

3. Calls intercepted pursuant to the November 12
Drder revealed ﬁhat MIFSHINGTON and FOOTE were concerned about a
missing package on or about November 17 and MNovembar 1%, Thus,
wire surveillance has assisgted and will continue to zosist law
Enforcément in identifying the sources of the narcotics obtained

by the Foote Organizatlon and the participants in the chain of

supply.

& From my convermations with UPS employee and octhar law

enforcement officers, I learned that in the last two weeks of
Getobex, UPS deliversd numerous baxes Lo the NI Business, each
wglghing approxlmatel¥ 40 poundg and shipped from an address in
either Arizona or Callfornia. I have learned that UPS 1s
conducting an investigation of packages gent to the NJ Buminess
basged upon, amoag other things, information that: {1} Lictitious
addresses arzs he n% uged to zend some of the boxez; and (2} the
delivery of mome of the packages are not acknowledged b{ a
signature even though they are being delivered to a huslness.
Baped on my experiefice and my participation in hig investigation,
T palieve that the packages contained shipments of marijuana.
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4. Aocordingly, and because the above-described
investigative techniques ave limited in their applications, have
been unsuccessful, or are unlikely to be auccessiul,
zuthorization to continue to intercept wire communications over
TARGET CELLPHORE 2 ig necesgary to ldentify and de?elsp evidence
agalnst the TARGET SUBJECTS.

MINIMIZATION

65. All manitcrimg of wire communicationg over TARGET
CELLPHONE 2 will ba minimized in accordance with Chapter 112 of
Title 18, tnited States Cods.

66. The “investigative or law enforcement officers of
the United States” and tramslators, if necessary, who are to
carry cubt the reqguested interception of wire communications, will
be instructed concerning the steps they should take to aveid
infringing ﬁpon any attorney-client privilege or other racognized
privileger., In addition, all communications intercepted will be
conducted in such a way a8 to minimize the interception of
communigations not otherwise criminal in nature or subject to
interception under Chaptex 118, Title 18, United Statéa Code,

211 monitoring will cease when it is determined that the
monitored conwversation is not criminal in nature. Intercéyticn
will be suspendad immediately when it is.determined through voice
identlfication, phyzical sufveillance, or otherwige, that TARGET

SUBJECTS or any of theilr confederates, when identified, are not

A
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supply and thelr tocations (some of which are heiieved to bhe in
other staies oY countriest, all of the 1inks in the chaia of i
supply (including connections at various meiling services), and

all of the Foote Crganization’s workers snd customers.?

5o, Narcotics organizations are generally highly
compartmentalized, and it is usually imposgible for an informant
to gain access ta all agpects of an organizaticﬁ’é iliegal ;
sotivities. Thus, the use of cenfidential informants aione is
typically inadeqguate to develop evidence about rthe TARGET
SUBJRECYS' suppllers and cusLomers.

51, In additioﬁ, baged cn my ex;e;ience as a narcctlcs
investigator, I believe that drug traffickers are unlikely Ee
Aiscuss the full extent of their organization's activitlies or
qerbership with any individual, subordinste member of the=
arganization. Pased on my experilence, I also know that narcctics
organigations are often highly protective of their sources of
BURPPLY.

52, Inrercepting calls over TARGET CELLPHONE 2 1B
likely to provide information and evidence that a CT cannob alone
provide. Infercepted calls are iikely to be useful in

identifying co-conspirators who are unknown to the UI, providing

: As noted in the previous Affidavita, since I and other law
enforcement officers learned that the CI had engaged in
unauvthorized, narcotivs-related communications with FOOTE that
were intercepted over TARCET CELLPHONES 1 ang 2., nursuant Lo the
ragust 4 ordexr, we have marginalized the rale of the €T in this
investigation. )

38
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2516 of Title 1%, Unitsd States Code -- that is, offensas
invelving the distribution of, and possespion with intent to
disbribube, controlled substances, the wee of wire facilitiss to
facilitate the sawe, congpiracy to do the same and attempts ta do
the same, in violation of 23 U.£.C. 5§ 8ei{a) {1}. 843 (), and 346
and the distribution of fireayms, possession of firearms by
sonviched felons and aliens, and uge of firearew in furtherance
of a narcoticg-tralficking griwe, ln violation of 128 G.8.C.
ceaa{aY 1) (), ®azig) (1), s22(¢) (8){A}, and 22¢{c) and eungaging in
monetary trangactlons invelving the proceeds of illagal activity
and money laundering, in violation of 18 ¥.8.¢. §§ 1958 and 1557
{the “TARGET OFFENSES~”).?

3. For the veasons get cut in this agfidavit, I
balieve that there is probable cause Lo beliave thall the TARGET
OFFENSES have been commltted, are being commivted, and will
continue to be committed by ond or wmore of the [ollowing
individuals: DUNSTON FOOTR, a/k/e “Killa,® a/kia “Steve Bennety,”
CLOVAL TAYLOR, a/sk/a "Clove,” DWIGHT MORGAN, FNU INU, a/k/a
“Frankie,” FNU I8, afkia “Stav&.;" &) LU, ak/a “Rirrvy,” FIE
LU, a/kfa “Chris,” BRLLAND BAMOR, TOREY SANES, a/k/a *Mello,”

s/kfa “Mellow,” CONROY BROWN, KENMAR CHAMPBERS, NATALIE BROWN,

* Alehough net a predicate offense under 18 1.8.0, § 2816,
there is nprobabls ¢gause o belisve thart the TARGET SUMIECTS {as
subseqguently defined hevein! have aided and abetted and are
aiding and abetbting thoge pubstantive offenses, in viclation of
L8 U.8.C, § 2.
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a/kfa “Danisha,? RAYMOND DORSRY, a/k/a “Ray.” a/k/a *Smoke,” TROY
MONTGOMERY, &/k/s “Scrapie,” DROMYNBRE MONTGOMERY. z/k/a
sprasmy, © RAYMOND JACKSON, a/k/a “Migiva,” CRSHIBMA GREEN, a/k/a
“Cash, " DHEBIL WHITE, RICRRDO MORESTIME, a/k/a “Hossy,” MARLON
MURPHY, a&fk/a “"Murph,” RICARDO BRPOT, a/k/a “Bigga,” FITIRQOY
NORRIS XELLY, a/k/a “Ants,” JAVANIE JEFFREY GENTILES, SERGE
DORCELY, a/k/a “Bounby,¢ JOSERH CARRARCHIA, a/k/a “"Cavach,* DARREN
MCMURRIN, a/k/a “Fish,” SOPHIR NMOORE, EDDIE PRYNE, FOFHIA JONES,
a/kia *Bridgetta,” MATTHEW DIAGHE, JERN DUFRESHE, DEBORAH
GRIFFITH, FNU L9, afk/a “Ruffy,” FOU INU, a/k/a “Mackerel,”
a/lkfa “Bavia.” &/k/a “Mangsr,’ a/kfa “Hainjan,” DERRICK GARY
FARWOOD, a/kfa “Binghy,” FNY LWV, a/k/a “CGaza,” BNU LU, afk/a
“Gaoryle,” FNU LNU, a/k/fa “Kirk,” 89U LHH,.afkfa “Colin, ™ FNU
Y, a/k/a “Pops, ANGELD FORBES, afkfa “hngela,® a/kfa *Sue,”
a/k/a *HMaxin Bennet,” a/k/a “"Naxin MoMuryay," FHU LWU, a/k/a
"Monica, " ROBERT SKVAGE, HAROLY LUMA, FNU LNY, a/k/a *Indlan,”
PAUE: ¥RARON, DAMION SMITH, JASON ALLEHN, a/k/a “Papa.v” FNU LN,
afk/r “Skippy, FED LNU, afk/a “Dariton,” FNU LEU, a/k/a "B
rradn,” DERICR T. SAVAGE, REGINALD MHOEL, afkfa “Reg,” a/k/a
“"Reggie,* ¥RU LWU, a/kfa *Bree,” FNU LNU, afkiz "Teggay,” STEVER
BARTROLE, ZOLANI WORRELL, FNU LNE, a/k/a “Tara,” FNU 139, a/k/a
“hrienne,” RODNBY MUSHINGTON, afk/a “Jaheim HILL, Y afk/a
“Diege.” a/kfa "Struageoe,” a/k/s "Mark Brown,” GILBERT CYRUS.

afkfa *Junkie,” FNU LNU, a/%/ /s "Blaine,® FNU LRY, afkfa "Dana,”
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FNU LB a/k/a “Cornell,” FNG LNU, a/k/a “Pablo,” FIU IWU, a/k/a
“Bugs,” FNU LNU, a/k/a "Deego,” FNU LNU, a/k/a “Rohan,* FNU LNU,
éfkfa “owaboy, © CHESTER WISSEH-WEYH, FRO 13U, a/kfa “Justin, ?
MICHAELANGELD BAMOR, a/kfa “Micky.” TERR&&&E CHEVANNES, PNU LNG,
afk/a “Mogiva,® FNQ INU, a/k/a “Black.” a/k/a “RBlackie,” STEVEN
RICHARD, a/k/sa *Troy,” FRY WU, afkfa “Cat,” FNU LNU, afk/a
sQuarter,” ENU LEU, afk/a "Sam,” FRU LNU, afk/a “Baglil,® PRU LU,
a/kfa *Clalve,¥ PNU LN, a/kfa “Skiller,* angd others as yel
unkonown {the “TARGET SUBJECTSY), and thab pariioular
compunications concexning the TARGET OFFEHBES will be obtained
through interception of TARG#T CELLPHONE 35, TARGET (ELLPHONE &,
and TARGET CELLFRORE 7 {dafined in paragyaph 7 below}.
Buthorization is sought hevein Lo continue to intercept wixe
gomounications of the TARGET SUBJECTES, to énd fyom TARGET
CHELLPHONE 8, which is currently wsed by RODNEY MUSHINGTON, a/k/a
wIaheim Hill,” a/k/a *Diego,” a/k/a “Strugge.? a/kfa “Mark
Brown,” ang to hegin $¢ intexgept wire conmunications of the
TARGET SUBJECTE to and from TARGET CELLFHONE 6, which is alsec
currently used by MISHINGTON, and TARGET CRELLPHONE 7, which is
currently used by an individual identified as ATEVEN RICHARD,
a/k/a “troy.*

4. The requestaed Order is sought for a periocd of time
until the intergeption fully raveals the manner in which the

TARGET SUBJECTS participate in the TARGET OFFENSES, or for s
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1%; BAs detailed below and desceribed in the Aflidavits
of Task Force Office Walter Algiver submittad on Augast 4, 2010
in support of the application o intercept wire commmications
pursuant to tha hugust 4 Order {the “August 4 Affidavit,”
attached hereto gs Extuibit O ; Septewber 3, 20LO in gupport of
the application to inkzreept and contimue to intexrcepl ﬁire
gommunications pursuant to the fsptember 3 Ordey {Lhe “Sapﬁﬁmbﬁr
31 Affidavit,” sttached hereto ag Exhibit DY Qctober L, 2010 in
support of the application Lo intefdapt and conbimue to interdept
wire and electryoniy communications puvsuant o the Detober 1
order {the “Ootokar 2 Affidavit,” attached hereto ag Exhibit B} ;
and the affidavits of DEA Special Agent Mark Xadan submitted on
Cobober 29, 2010 in suppoxt of the application to intercept and
conbinue to intercept wire and elestronic communications pursuant
o the October 2% Owder {the “Octobhexr 29 Hffiﬁévitr“ abtached
hHereto as Sxhibit F); NHovember 12, 2010 in support cof the
application to intercept wire comwunications pursuant to the
Novamber 12 Order {the “Novewber 12 affidavit,” attached heregic
aa Bxhibit G); and November 24, 2010 in support of the
application to lateyxcept wire communications pursuant to ine
Hovesber 24 Order (the “Noveamber 24 Affidavit.” attached hereto
as Exhibirt ¥}, there is probable ¢ause Lo beligve that the TARGEY

BUATRCTE arée involved in the TARGEY OFFENESES and are wembers of &

16
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nargotics trafficking srganization {the “Foote Orvgenizatlon’;
pased in and around Spring Valley, New York.

156. A&s described in the hugust 4, Sephember 3, CGotober
1, October 28, November 12 and Novembhaw 24 Affidavits, DUNSTON
FOOTE, a/k/a "Xills,* a/k/a *Bteve Bennett;” FRU 140, a/lk/a
»Prankie; RODNEY MUSHINGTON, a/k/z “Jahedm Hill,” a/k/a “Diego,”
a/k/a “Styuggo,.” &/k/a “Hark Brown;"” and obher TARRGET SURBJECIS
use geliphones to coordinate the Foole Organization’'s drug
dealing activity and transfer of the illsgal proceeds thereof, in
and avound Spring Valley, New York., FOOTE and “Frankie” recelive
narcotics frowm suppliers and distribute narcotids to a number of
cugtonern and cowcongpivators in mnﬂ‘araﬁnﬁ Spring Valley, who
then sal} the narcetios to other customexys. Physical
suwyveillance and intercepbion of wire communicabions have
revealed that FOOTE and “Frankie® receive and deliver drugs
from/to customers and co-conspirators abt pre-avrranged times and
places. They also recelve shipmanﬁﬁ of parectics and send woney
¥ia the wails, wires, and othey cﬂ~cen$pirat¢xs. MUSHINGTON
avrranges through, among other gourcas, RICHARD, for shipments of
narcatics e be sent ¢ia the United Parcel Bervice and Federal
Express (o lgeations in ond around the tri-stabte avea, including
New Jersey. Some of thepe shipments ave received and distributed
by FOUTE and by MUSHENGTON. Phyaical survelllance and

interception of wike communications have revealad thalt MUSHINGTON

A7
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travels to New Jersey bto retrieve packages of nawgotics and that
he pays for the narcotics by, amony other things, wiring ov
sransferring money o hiz suppliery’ accounts, The deliveries
and receipt of dyugs and wire or other transfers ol money ave
coordinated through phone calls snd text wnessages betwaen FOOTE,
MUSKINGTOR, RICHARD, and their co-conspirators over the TARGEYT
CELLPAONES and other cellphones that have been the subject of the
Prioy Qourt Oxdary described harein.

17. As detailasd hereln, and mors fully deacriﬁe& in
the Augugt 4, Septewbsyr 3, October 1, October 29, Wovember 12,
and November 24 Affidavits, there is probabls cawere Lo ballave
thal the TARGET SUBJECTS are involved in the TARGET OFFENSES.
Purzuant o the Auvgust 4 Oxder, authoyization was received o
intexcept wire communidations over TARGET CELLPRCONE 1 and TARGET
CELLFPHONE 2. Intarcagtioya over thope 30 days confirmed that
TARGET CELLPHONE 1 and TARGET CELLPHONE 2 awé being used by the
TARGET SUBJECTE and others to éngaga in narcotics Lrafficking
activities. Pursuant to the September I Order, aubhorizabion wag
received bo continue to intexrcept wire communiﬁatgons ovey TARGET
CRLALPHONE 2 and to begin fo intergept wive comsunications over
TARGET CHLLPHONE 3, Pursuant o the October 1 Oxderw,
authorization was recelved to renew the interception of wiwve
communications and o keqin to intercept electronic

communications over TARGBET CELLPHONE ) bo conkinus to inhercedh

18
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wire coawmunicabions over TARGET CRLLPHONE 2 and TARGET CELLPHONE
3: and to begin to intercept wire and electroniv communications
over TARGEY CELLPHONE 4. Pursuant Lo the Ockobexr 2% Ordex,
suthorization wag received to continue to intercept wire and
slectronic commnications over TARGET CELLFHONE 1 and TARGET
CELLPHONE 4; to confinus 0 intercept wire communicabionz and Lo
hegin te intergept electyonic communicavions over TARGET
CRLLPHONE 2; and bto continue to intersspt wive commupications
over TARGET CELLPHONE 3. Pursuant to the Hovembex 17 Ordey,
authorizaticn was received ro begin to intercept wire
communications over TARGET CELLPHONE 5. Pursuant (o Che Novemboex
24 Order. authorization was recelved to gonthinuve to intergept
wire comsupicationz ovex TARGET CEDLLPUOHE 2.

is. intexrcepiions over TARGET CELLPHONE 2 and TARGET
CELLPHONE 5 arve ongoing and have confirmed that the TARGET
CELAPHONEE are being used by the TRRGET BUBJECTE and othexrs Lo
engage in naycotics trafficking, wilawiul possession and use of
Firesyes, woney laundering, and ismmigration fraud. However, all
of the goals of Lhe Prior Court Orders have not yet heen
achieved., Thug, this application seeks an Order avthorizing the
continued interveption of wire communications over TARGET
CELLPHONE 5 and the ordiginal interception of communicabices over

TARGET CELLPREONE ¢ and TARGET CHMLLEBOWHE 7.

c. Pertinent Communications Involving the TARGET
OELLPUONES

i2
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i2. gelk forth balow are summaries of some of the
pertinent conversations invelving the TARGET CELLFHONES
intercepted pursuant to the Prior Court Ordexrs. Spedifically,
the punwaries below centain: (1) pertinent communidations
intereapted ovey TARGET CELLPHONE b pufsuvant to the November 12
order; {2} pertinent communicaiions involving TARGET CRLLPHONE 7,
intercepted over TARRGET CELLEHONE § pursuant Lo the MNovembaxr 132
Order; and {3} pertinent commupications involving TARGET
CRLLPHONE 6, intsrcepted over TARCET CELLPHONE 2 pursuant to tha
Ootobar 29 and Novewmber 24 Orders. The summaries listed bajow,
howaver, do not constitule i c&mplate list of the pextinsnt
intercepted conversations jnvolving the TARGET CELLPHONES. Thess
gummaries contain a sample of the intavQepted calle that
demonstrate thab TARGET CELLFHONES have been used by the TARGET
BUBJECTS to commit the TARGET OFFENSES., The follﬂwing
desoriptions are based upon my veview of the loys and preliminpary
summaries completed by the monitoring agenbs, Baged on my
rraining and exparience and my dgizcussions with other law
enforcenent officers involved in thisg investigation, I have
included interprerations of csrtaln conversations.

{1} Pertizent Communicaticons Intercépted Over TARGET
CELLPHONE & Purguant to the November 12 Order:

20. On or about Novewber 14, 2010, at approximately

8:05 p.m., MUSHINGTON placed an outgoing call over TARGET

20
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CELLDHORE § to 347-476-3341 and spoke Lo an individual identified
on previous intercepted calls as “Megiva® (Sesglon 92). During
Lhe call, “Mogiva* mald, *% 4&id twelve, wou hear . . . 1 did
bwaive of them.” MWISHINGTON asked, “today is whab? ¥Wednesday?™
“Megiva® said, “today is Tuesday . . . BC Homeboy is supposed fo
be getbting shrough today.” Based om wy gxperiencse and
participation in ¢his investigation, I believe that “McGiva"
works with MUSHINGTON to ayrange for marijuana £o be Ehipped from
ealifornia and Arvigona to the Bask Coast. T alae belisve that
“twelveY lg a zeferenge to a guantity of naxcotics.

21, ©n or sbout November 17. 2010, ab approximately
10713 a.m., MUESHTMNSTOW recelved an ingomlng ¢all ovey TARGET
'CELLPHONE 5 from 347-476-3341 and spoke to an individual
jdentified on proaviobs intercepted calls as "Hogiva® (Session
186) . Puring the call, MISHINGION asked, "did Homeboy get
chroughi last night?”  ®Megive”? aaid, “Yeah wan, Howeboy gob the
things and alyveady left . , . give my boy the thingz awhile now.”
MUSHINGTON said, *boy, the ihing they’'ve been getting from the
other day, they aren't so womdexrful at all . . . they can work
still, Eut they are not wenderful . ., . it is the time still,
because I Baw some men with seme things, and it were tho sdane
thing,” “Mogivae” suid, “"we are going to need something nide you
know . . . because of the people he's going through . . - it'8

ot one oY twoe boy he deals with.” DPesad on my experience and

21
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participation in this investigation, I keliave thal WUSRINGICH
aud *Mogivar were discuseing a narcotics tyangaction and the poor
guality of the narcotice Chey had previously reveived,

23, On or about November 17, 2010, at approximately
3:3?.p.m-, MUSHINGTON received an incoming c¢alli overy TARGET
CELLDHORE 5 frow 247-476-3341 and gpoke bto an individual
identilied on othey calls aw “Megivaed {(Session 234). During Lhe
call, *Megivar said, “lHome Boy say to ask your hoy if his thing
i5 over hecause his thing is shorxt.” MUSHINGTON said, “ok,
hecause spoke to him a while ago, he said that he has not iooked
at it, bubk I am going to cail him back now,.* Bazed on wny
experience ané-garticipaticn iﬁ this investigatbion, I belleve
rhat “Megiva® and MUSHINGTON were discussing “Homeboy” having
rovelved a shipment &f narcotics shaller than what he had
axpacted,

23, On oy gbout Novembher 18, 2010, av approximately
9:84% p.m,, MUSHINGTON receivad an inuowming ¢all over TARGET
CELLPHONE 5 from 247-476-3341 and éycke to an indgividoal
identified on othey intercepted cally as "Moglva' {Session 35?}.
Puring the call, “Mogiva? said, “I hit off the sanme eight bten
today, you hear?' MUSHINGTOW said, “you can’t 40 thab man,
remenbar, thab the place iz locked up next week . . . néxt wask
iz a holiday man, Thursday- the place is locked, Wednesday ig the

lagt day the man iz working B.% M“Moglva® maid. “yeah.”

22
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MUSHINGTON said, "we are still goming back still, you know, bHub
you shouldn’t hit it for it to sit im the place.” ‘Heglval sald,
“Bo Lt 48 Just golng to hold this week and the whole of next
waokend.” MUSHINGTON asked, “how much 4id you say he beat QRL7F
"Mogiva®? said, “it is the same, eight one.” Baged on mf
experience and participation im thig investigation. I belisve
that MUSHINGTON and “Megiva” were gisoussing a shipment of
narcoties o a speaific business location, and that MUSRINGTON
told "Mogiva® that the logabion would be cloged over
Thanksgiving., T also ksligve that “eight one” is a reference Lo
a quantity of narcotics, that “beat off” means “send out’ and
that “Megiva® beold MUSHINGTON the quantity of narcotics which was
being shipped tc the location,

24. On o about Novewber 20, 2010, abt approximately
12105 p.m,, MUSHINGTON regelved an incoming call over TARGET
CELLPRONE B From 240-481-8657 and spoke to an individual

identified on the call as "Sam” (Ssessgion 362). During the call,

MUSHINGTON sald, *he want to gend in & next girl.” ‘“Bam” asked,
*he'g not sending back that one?” WMUSHINGSTON said, "no . . . she
just ¢ome the other day still you khow . . . he have them

travellng regular.¥ Laber in the convergation, "Sam” said, "7
heve gome cheesge herve for hiw and he don’'t cell me, and I have
heen ¢ailing him,” WNUSHINGTON #2aid, "the little boys, you did

get rid of them already? The Eirst ligtle boys?”  “Sanm’ gaid.

23
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v, T ohad Bo mix them . ., the thing why T wix it . . . it'se
Hrown, " MUSHINGTOW said. "it's ilike 2 sowe yard something.
That’s the way it goes. T wouldn't mingd he gsi mé hecauge tha
sometliing that Homeboy get boy he says boy it’s wrenk and nice.”
Based on my experience and participatios inm this investigaiion, I
believe thal MUSHRINGTON and the UM wers discussing a thixd
parxty’s use of woman Lo Lransport narcotles ox othesr contradband.
T algo helisve that “chesse” and *little hoys® are gode for &
gquantity of narcotics, that “wrank’ means styong, and thab
MUBHINGTON and “Sam” were complaining about the guality of
neractics they had received.

25. On oF aboub November 23, 2010, &t approximately
10:47 p.m., MUSHINOTON received an invoming ¢all over TARGET
' CELLPHONE 5 from £17-G00-1898 and spoka Lo an unidentified mals
{*M7) (Beggion 3188}, During the ¢all, MUSHINGTON aaked, “it is
in the moyning youy thing is lapding, righk?¥ The UM sald, -
“vaah,? MUBHINGTON said, *I will contact you in the moxhing,”
pazed on oy exparience and'participatien in this investigation; I
palisve Chal HUSRHINGTON and the UM wers discussing ghipmenbts of
narootice mohaduled (o arrive on Hovember 22, 2010

26. On or about 